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1.

Performance Report

1.1

Welcome and Introduction

Welcome to the 2019/20 NHS Liverpool CCG Annual Report.
Towards the end of 2019/20, the CCG, along with all NHS organisations, faced the
unprecedented challenge of the Coronavirus pandemic. Our emergency
preparedness and resilience plans were mobilised and we became part of a national,
regional and local response, preparing for a surge of COVID-19 cases in the city. At
the time of writing, the NHS is responding to this surge, which has challenged the
NHS in a way never experienced before. In Liverpool, the strong partnerships that
have been forged in recent years across the health and care system have supported
an integrated response, with organisations working across boundaries to create
capacity, offer mutual aid and acting as one to care for patients. Alongside the
COVID-19 response we have continued to maintain the CCG’s essential duties and
responsibilities, and we will take the learning from our experiences to inform future
plans.
The need to respond to the Coronavirus means that the implementation of the city’s
strategic plan has been temporarily paused, but will recommence as soon as
possible. The 2019/20 annual report sets out our journey over the last year in
developing our whole-system plan.
Although the city has excellent health and care services, we need to broaden our
scope, coming together to prevent poor health and wellbeing and involving and
empowering people to aspire to a better quality of life.
The Liverpool Integrated Care Partnership Group, bringing together the CCG,
Liverpool City Council and all the city’s providers, undertook to enhance system
capacity and capability and inclusively develop a refreshed health and care strategy
for the city. The One Liverpool strategy sets out how the local health and care
system will tackle the long term health inequalities that leave the most vulnerable in
our city with poorer access to care, fewer years of healthy life and earlier death. One
Liverpool provides a system blueprint for the next 5 years, which will inform our joint
priorities, plans and delivery; bringing NHS and care partners out of our silos to do
the right things for our population. The strategy will also be a chapter of a new
Liverpool City Plan, which addresses how, as a connected city, we will come
together to act on all determinants of health and wellbeing.
In 2019/20, the CCG completed a programme of organisational change to support
our intention to commission strategically for population health. New CCG leadership
and strategic commissioning functions were established, focused on strategy and
planning, commissioning and contracting models for health outcomes, holding the
local system to account for performance and involving the population. This clarity of
commissioning responsibilities has enabled our providers to focus on delivery of the
One Liverpool strategy, coming together through the Liverpool Provider Alliance.
Health and care systems are always evolving and this year was no different.
Liverpool’s eleven Primary Care Networks (PCNs), new groupings of GP practices
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collaborating to shape services in the city’s neighbourhoods, have developed at pace
and are starting to exert a positive influence, working with community and voluntary
sector partners. The CCG has supported their journey and will continue to do so.
In October 2019 a new single adult trust, Liverpool University Hospitals, was
established, bringing together the Royal Liverpool and Aintree University hospitals.
The merger provides a platform to create integrated services and teams, leading to
improved quality and outcomes, as well as creating greater opportunities for
research and innovation. The first phase of integration was implemented in 2019 with
the commissioning of a new integrated model for trauma and orthopaedics, which
will improve people’s experience of these services and bring improved outcomes.
In 2019/20 the CCG reviewed how best to improve collaborative commissioning
across the North Mersey footprint, with options informed by the NHS Long Term
Plan, which calls for commissioning over larger geographical areas. Liverpool CCG,
Knowsley, South Sefton and Southport and Formby CCGs have made the case for a
North Mersey CCG, which we consider to be the optimum footprint to improve
population health, to better manage our resources and patient flows, particularly for
acute and community services. In 2019, collaborative arrangements were
strengthened with the CCG’s Chief Finance Officer, Mark Bakewell, taking
responsibility for finance and contracting for Knowsley CCG, and Jane Lunt, our
Chief Nurse, taking on this role for the two Sefton CCGs. The four CCG Governing
Bodies have endorsed a preferred option to establish a new North Mersey CCG,
which paves the way for an application to NHS England, although the NHS England
merger programme has been temporarily paused during the pandemic.
The CCG and Liverpool City Council continue to strengthen Joint Commissioning
arrangements, across prevention, children’s and adult community health and care
services, with the creation of joint posts and plans for further integration to ensure
strong place-based commissioning and local accountability.
Greater collaboration and trust has enabled commissioners and providers to develop
shared responsibilities to ensure that services in Liverpool are safe and of good
quality. This year we have done more to encourage an environment of openness,
transparency and learning when patient care is not as it should be.
The CCG remains financially stable, able to meet all our financial duties, despite
increasing demand and cost pressures and the pressures of the pandemic. An in
year surplus position has been supported by a continuation of ‘Acting as One’
contracts with our main providers and a focus on significant efficiency savings in
areas such as prescribing, service change and running costs.
In 2019/20, we said goodbye to and welcomed New Governing Body members. Dr
Ian Pawson resigned in order to take up a role as Clinical Director of one of
Liverpool’s Primary Care Networks. Dr Stephen Sutcliffe also relinquished his role. I
thank them for their valuable contributions during their time with the CCG. Welcome
to Carol Rogers, MBE, who is the CCG’s new lay member for patient and public
involvement. Carol’s experience will be a great asset for the CCG in the work we are
doing to strengthen patient and public involvement.

Page | 6

Finally, I want to thank all CCG staff and the GP membership for their ongoing
commitment and resilience, particularly as they respond to the pandemic, coordinating and in support of frontline services.
I would welcome your comments on this year’s annual report and your views on the
strategic plans and priorities for the CCG and our partners as we go out to engage
and involve people on the One Liverpool and the City Plan during 2020/21.

Jan Ledward
Chief Officer
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1.2

Member Practices Introduction

The CCG’s success in pursuing its vision and aims is dependent upon
comprehensive involvement and consistent support from the GP membership.
The CCG recognises the challenges that GPs face in discharging their
commissioning responsibilities, in addition to their role in providing the best care for
patients. This challenge of balancing commissioning and provision has been brought
more into focus with the establishment of Primary Care Networks that have greater
delegated responsibility for shaping services within the city’s neighbourhoods. We
are fortunate to have strong GP representative leadership and good commitment
from member practices across the city.
There has been sustained and consistent membership engagement in 2019/20 with
quarterly membership meetings designed to share information, to network and to
involve members in influencing the key issues and priorities for the CCG. There has
been more concerted effort to understand the views of the membership and to reflect
this in the CCG’s future plans, including membership engagement in the proposal for
a North Mersey CCG. We would like to thank members for their involvement with
this work.
In 2019/20 we saw significant developments in general practice, with the creation of
Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and the Liverpool Network Alliance (LNA). We would
like to thank the Clinical Directors of the PCNs for their vision and leadership in
developing effective networks and shaping the LNA to be a strong voice for general
practice.
The PCNs have been progressive in their response to the national specifications and
implementing the One Liverpool Plan through the coming together of general
practice with community provider teams to form integrated care teams across the
city.
Thank you also to the CCG membership and the Local Medical Committee (LMC) for
their work in developing the CCG’s new constitution. The LMC plays a central role in
representing General Practice in the development of system integration and
transformation of services. The LMC Secretary is a valued attender at the Governing
Body and is also a member of the Liverpool Integrated Care Partnership Group and
the Liverpool Provider Alliance.
As we ended the year, general practice has responded effectively to the Coronavirus
pandemic, with practices planning, collaborating and sharing resources across
networks and in city-wide approaches to build resilience and to ensure the best
access and care for patients during this extremely challenging time for the health and
care system.

Dr Rob Barnett Secretary, Liverpool Medical Committee
Dr Fiona Lemmens, GP/Liverpool CCG Governing Body Chair
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1.3

Introduction to NHS Liverpool CCG

1.3.1

Introduction

Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group became operational as an NHS Body on 1st
April 2013 and as at 31st March 2020 includes 85 GP Member Practices and is coterminus with the boundaries of Liverpool City Council. The CCG serves a growing
registered population of 551,362 and had a resource allocation of £963.3m for the
2019/20 financial year.
In July 2019, Liverpool CCG was rated good through the NHS England Integrated
Assurance Framework, which assesses CCGs in areas such as leadership capability
and financial management, as well as performance against national standards and
the health and wellbeing of local people. The rating reflected improvements to
governance, including strengthening our Governing Body with the appointment of
additional lay members. It also reflects the work taking place across the wider health
and care system to tackle the issues we face as a city and provide the highest
quality care for local people.
The accounts in this report have been prepared in accordance with the Department
of Health Group Accounting Manual for 2019/20 and associated guidance. The CCG
vision, values and strategic objectives are:
Our Vision
Liverpool CCG has adopted a shared vision, alongside all other health and care
partners in the city, for a healthier, happier and fairer city.
Our primary ambition is halve the life expectancy gap between Liverpool and
England by 2024. This will be achieved with a focus on reducing health inequalities
between the most affluent and deprived communities in the city.
Our Values
In 2019, the Governing Body and all staff were involved in refreshing the CCG’s
values, to reflect what is important to us and to recognise the changing role of the
CCG as a strategic commissioner and key partner in health and care integration.
Strategic Objectives
The CCG’s strategic objectives reflect the organisation’s core purpose and statutory
responsibilities:
Commissioning for better health outcomes
•

Ensure commissioning of high quality, safe and responsive health services
Reduced health inequalities
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Ensure maximum value from available resources
Decisions that are evidence based
Maintain the CCGs reputation and safeguard public confidence

The delivery of these strategic objectives shape and direct the commissioning
strategies and business of the organisation. We are a clinically led body, which
works in partnership with other commissioners and with providers to determine
commissioning and investment strategies to achieve our enduring objectives.
Our Values
Compassionate: supporting, trusting, listening and showing kindness

Inclusive: recognising, respecting and celebrating differences, ensuring
fairness and consistency
Progressive: passion for improvement and innovation, doing the right thing and
continuously learning
Together: working across boundaries in co-production, recognising and valuing
everyone’s contribution and taking responsibility

1.3.2

Governing Body Members and Staffing

For the year 2019/20 the office of Chair of the CCG was held by Dr Fiona Lemmens.
The role of Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) has been held by Jan Ledward.
The membership of the Governing Body up to the signing of the Annual Report and
Accounts has been as follows:
Governing Body Members:
Dr Fiona Lemmens
Jan Ledward
Mark Bakewell
Jane Lunt
Helen Dearden
Gerry Gray
Sally Houghton
Carol Rodgers
Cathy Maddaford

GP/Chair
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)
Chief Finance & Contracting Officer
Director of Quality, Outcomes and Improvement
Lay Member Governance / Non-Clinical Vice Chair
Lay Member Financial Management and Oversight
Lay Member / Audit Chair
Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement (from
01/10/2019)
Non-Executive Nurse (from 01/04/2019)
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Dr Peter Kirkbride
Dr Janet Bliss
Dr Monica Khuraijam
Dr Paula Finnerty
Dr Fiona Ogden-Forde
Dr Shamim Rose
Dr Maurice Smith
Dr David O’Hagan
Dr Stephen Sutcliffe
Dr Ian Pawson

Secondary Care Clinician (from 01/04/2019)
GP/Clinical Vice Chair
GP
GP
GP
GP
GP
GP (from 01/11/2019)
GP (until 29/02/2020)
GP (until 31/07/2019)

Co-opted Members (non-voting):
Dr Rob Barnett
Cllr Paul Brant
Sandra Davies

Secretary, Liverpool LMC
Cabinet Member Health and Social Care, Liverpool City
Council Representative
Director of Public Health, Liverpool City Council (until
December 2019)

The table on page 76 provides details of the membership of CCG Committees.
The Governing Body is not aware of any relevant audit information that has been
withheld from the Clinical Commissioning Group’s external auditors, and members of
the Governing Body take all reasonable steps to make themselves aware of relevant
information and to ensure that this is passed to the external auditors where
appropriate.
The Governing Body (Voting/full members) in post at 31st March 2020 comprises 5
male members and 11 female members.
The CCG directly employs a total of 171 staff, comprising 40 male and 131 female.
This number excludes staff seconded from external organisations, agency staff and
contractors. For 2019/20 the CCG employed a total of four Very Senior
Management (VSM) posts; two of which were male (includes one Governing Body
member) and two female (includes two Governing Body members).

1.3.3

CCG Profile

The CCG comprises 85 GP Member Practices, co-terminus with the boundaries of
Liverpool City Council. The CCG serves a growing registered population of 551,362
and had a budget of £963.3m in 2019/20. Over the next ten years the largest
population increase is predicted in the over 65s (27.1%) and the number of under
15s in the city set to increase by 6.8%.
At 78.2 years, Liverpool has the second lowest life expectancy of the English Core
Cities, and the gap with England has widened from 2.9 years in 2010 to 3.2 years in
2017. There are wide and growing inequalities in Liverpool, with an unacceptable
life expectancy gap between people in the most affluent and most deprived
communities. To achieve our overarching life expectancy aspiration the CCG is
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directing greater attention on those parts of our city and cohorts of the population
that have the worst health outcomes.
The main factors that determine good health are healthy lifestyle, wider determinants
of health such as education, housing and thriving communities. In 2019/20, the CCG
joined up both with health and care partners and wider strategic partners to make
long-term commitments to act on all determinants of health and wellbeing.
The diagram below sets out the incidence of poor health and wellbeing in Liverpool:

•
.__.,
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..

5-16 y
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have a
MH disorder
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liv in g w i t h a lo n g
t e r m c o n d it io n

80

22
Ar e smokers

Is t he average
age t h a t w o m e n
will live t o

-; -;J

Reflecting the diverse recent and past history of our maritime city, figures from the
2011 Census indicate that 15.2% of the Liverpool population are from a minority
ethnic group i.e. non-white British, equating to almost 71,000 residents. This is
slightly higher than the regional average (12.9%), but lower than England (20.2%).
The top eight ethnic minority groups in Liverpool are:

Page | 12

Black
African

White
(other)

8,490

12,272

Chinese

White Irish

7,978

6,729

Arab

Indian

5,629

4,915

Pakistani
1,999

Black
Caribbean
1,467

The CCG operates from headquarters in the Department, 2 Renshaw Street,
Liverpool, L1 2SA.
The CCG operated through the governance structure as illustrated below during the
2019/20 financial year:
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PRACTICE MEMBERSHIP

CCGs COMMITTEE
IN COMMON

Audit, Risk &
Scrutiny
Committee
 Oversight of
conflicts of
interest;
 Compliance &
assurance with
statutory duties;
 Oversight and
assurance of
internal systems
of control;
 Internal &
External Audit;
 Financial
reporting
arrangements

Remuneration
Committee

 Recommends
remuneration for
employees and
people who
provide services;
 Reviews senior
team annual
salary & awards;
 Governance of
approach to CCG
workforce.

GOVERNING BODY

Primary Care
Commissioning
Committee
 Collective
decisions on the
review, planning
and procurement
of primary care
services in
Liverpool;
 Drive the
continuous
improvement of
primary care
across the city.

NORTH MERSEY
CCGs JOINT
COMMITTEE

Finance,
Procurement &
Contracting
Committee

Quality, Safety &
Outcomes
Committee

HR Committee

 Oversight and
delivery of
Statutory Financial
Duties;
 Contracting &
procurement
decisions;
 Enabling choice
 QIPP delivery
 Information
Governance
compliance.

 Population
outcomes;
 Oversight of
provider
performance;
 Patient
engagement and
experience
 Clinical
governance;
 Oversight of
Serious Incidents;
 Ensuring
continuous
improvement;
 Safeguarding.

 Strategic HR
direction, policies
& reporting;
 Oversight and
assurance of
compliance with
workforce KPIs;
 Assurance to the
Governing Body
on performance.
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1.3.4

Commissioning Landscape

Liverpool CCG is responsible for commissioning community, mental health and
secondary care services, along with emergency and patient transport ambulance
services, GP out of hours services and the NHS 111 service. The following list
highlights hospital, community and mental health providers whose contract value in
2019/20 exceeded £0.5M in value.
Acute Hospitals














Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust * **
Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust *
Liverpool Heart & Chest Hospital NHS Foundation Trust *
Liverpool Women’s NHS Foundation Trust *
St Helens & Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust
Southport & Ormskirk Hospitals NHS Trust
Spire Hospital Liverpool, Spire Healthcare Limited *
The Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust *
Warrington & Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Wirral University Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust *
Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust
Wrightington, Wigan & Leigh NHS Foundation Trust

Mental Health




Mersey Care NHS Trust *
North West Boroughs Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Cheshire & Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

Community Services


Mersey Care NHS Trust

Other



North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust (ambulance services and NHS 111)
Primary Care 24 Limited (GP out of hours provider) *

* Where Liverpool CCG acts as the co-ordinating commissioner
** Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and the Royal Liverpool and
Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust merged on the 1st October 2019 to form
Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
The Liverpool health economy consists of a unique mix of NHS/Foundation Trusts
(four of which are ‘specialist’ Trusts that are predominantly commissioned by NHSE
Specialist Services), with strong interdependencies and relationships with primary
and community providers, independent sector providers and numerous providers
accredited under ‘any qualified provider’ (AQP). Liverpool is fortunate to have a
wealth of voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) partners and has a
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diverse but challenged market of nursing, residential home and domiciliary care
providers.
The CCG also has delegated commissioning responsibility from NHS England for
primary care medical services for the 85 Practices in the city.
In 2019/20 the CCG’s commissioning functions were re-shaped to reflect our
intentions to commission for health outcomes and the need to target more resources
to tackle poor health and inequalities, as well as building on the success of
commissioning-led programmes to reduce avoidable demand for health and care
services. The CCG’s place as commissioner and system leader in our local health
and care system is set out in the refreshed One Liverpool Strategy.
Ofsted and CQC jointly inspect local areas to see how well they fulfil their
responsibilities for children and young people with special educational needs and/or
disabilities (SEND). Although the outcome of this inspection was published in
February 2019, the work by Liverpool CCG and Liverpool City Council to ensure
Liverpool offers effective, responsive and sustainable SEND services has been a
significant priority for the CCG in 2019/20. In response to the areas of concern
identified, Liverpool submitted a Written Statement of Action that set out how we
would tackle the areas of weakness identified. Liverpool is using the independent
findings from Ofsted and the CQC as a driver for change and we are committed to
delivering the improvements required.
In 2019/20, the CCG led a review of urgent care services with the objective of
establishing a new integrated model of community-based urgent care services with
improved access, reduced duplication and a greater range of services closer to
home. The CCG utilised data and insight, and feedback from stakeholder and public
engagement to develop a commissioning framework that the Liverpool Provider
Alliance will take to develop a new model of care for implementation from 2020/21.
Liverpool CCG and Liverpool City Council have continued to build close
relationships, as commissioners for the majority of health, social care and prevention
services in the city and have progressed with plans to join up commissioning
functions and teams for services within the city. In 2019/20, joint posts were
established to support this process and to develop personalisation approaches. It is
important that we develop, strong, integrated, all-age commissioning alongside the
integration of service provision through the Liverpool Provider Alliance.
In 2019/20, the CCG reviewed the case for change and potential options to
streamline commissioning over a larger geographical footprint, in response to the
NHS Long Term Plan. Liverpool CCG, Knowsley, South Sefton and Southport and
Formby CCGs have made the case for a North Mersey CCG, which is considered to
be the optimum footprint to improve population health, to better manage our
resources and to align with patient flows, particularly for acute and community
services. Subject to all CCG memberships approving the proposal, the CCGs will
make an application to NHS England to establish a North Mersey CCG.
The One Liverpool Strategy published in 2019 can be viewed here:
https://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/about-us/publications/one-liverpool-2019-2024/
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During the year, the CCG has been an active member of the Liverpool Health and
Wellbeing Board. The work of the Board has informed this annual report, including
the Accountability Report and in particular the Corporate Governance Report.
The Health and Wellbeing Board has been engaged in a wide cross section of health
and wellbeing activities and the following illustrates that breadth and some of the key
areas considered during 2019/20 meeting cycle:
July 2019
 Special Educational Needs and/or Disabilities (SEND) Joint local area inspection
in Liverpool: Written Statement of Action
 2019/20 Liverpool Better Care Fund
 One Liverpool, System Capability Programme
September 2019
 Merseyside Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report
 Liverpool Dementia Strategy: 2019-2024
 Healthwatch Liverpool Annual Report
January 2020
 One Liverpool Strategy: 2019-2024
 Liverpool Safeguarding Children’s Board Annual Report
 Child Death Overview Panel Update
 Adverse Childhood Experiences Report
 Mental Health Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)
 Public Health Annual Report: 2019
Liverpool CCG has played a key leadership role across the Health and Care
Partnership for Cheshire and Merseyside during 2019/20, with the CCG Chief Officer
the senior responsible officer (SRO) for the Liverpool ‘Place’, and a number of other
senior staff and clinicians leading or participating in North Mersey, Cheshire and
Merseyside work streams.

1.4

Overview Summary

This report provided by the Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) sets out the
performance of the organisation over the reporting period 2019/20.

1.5

Purpose and Activities of the Organisation

NHS Liverpool CCG is a statutory organisation responsible for commissioning health
services to meet the needs of the population of Liverpool, including those registered
with the city’s 85 general medical practices and people resident in the city not
registered with a GP.
2019/20 has been the seventh year of the CCG’s operation. This year saw the
establishment of a new structure for the organisation, designed to enable the CCG to
move forward as a strategic commissioner, focused on system integration and
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continuing to ensure safe, effective and quality services that meet the local needs of
the population and allow the CCG to discharge its statutory duties.
During the year the CCG has met all of the required financial duties placed upon it
and ends the year having delivered the required in year break even position against
its resource allocation in line with its control total as set by NHS England.
Throughout the year, the CCG has sought to work effectively with a wide variety of
partners including member GP Practices, commissioning partners - neighbouring
CCGs and Liverpool City Council, the Health and Care Partnership for Cheshire and
Merseyside, the commissioning regulator - NHS England and the CCG’s providers.
The CCG is committed to an evidence-based approach to commissioning, as well as
meaningful engagement and involvement with patients and the population in order to
respond to and commission services that meet local needs, improve health
outcomes and reduce inequalities within the city and in comparison with other parts
of the country.
Performance in 2019/20 continues to be challenging with the NHS, both locally and
nationally, experiencing increasing demand pressures, which are reflected in the
performance summary in this report.
Key Governing Body Business 2019/20
A number of significant projects and milestones have been achieved during 2019/20
and the following section summarises some of the key areas of Governing Body
business over the last twelve months:
May 2019
 CCG Operational Plan: 2019/20
 Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND) Written Statement of Action
 Emergency Preparedness Resilience & Response Report Annual Report:
2018/19
July 2019
 Adult Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)
 Equality Objectives Annual Report: 2018/19
September 2019
 Proposal for Over the Counter Items not to be routinely prescribed
 Proposal to delegate commissioning decisions for the proposal for a
Comprehensive Stroke Centre to the North Mersey Joint Committee
November 2019
 Complaints, Subject Access Requests, Freedom of Information Requests and
MP Enquiries
 Non-Medical Prescribing Policy
January 2020
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 One Liverpool Strategy: 2019-2024
 Case for Change for a merger of the North Mersey CCGs
 Values and Behaviours Framework
 Turning Tides – Report on NHS LCCGs Community Investment Programme
March 2020
 Proposal for a merger of the North Mersey CCGs
 CCG Business Plan: 2020/21
Note: in addition to the above, each month the Governing Body receives updates
from the Chief Officer, Chief Nurse and Public Health updates; Corporate
Performance and Finance reports; minutes from Committee meetings; and there is
an open session for questions from the public and staff who are welcome to attend
the Governing Body meetings, which are held in public.

1.6

Key Issues and Risks

Good governance and effective risk management, embedded at all levels of the
CCG, is critical to ensuring the organisation can identify and effectively mitigate key
risks. An effective assurance framework is a fundamental component of good
governance, providing a tool for the CCG to identify key strategic risks and ensure
that there is robust assurance regarding risk management. In 2019/20, the CCG
Governing Body continued to refine and improve its approach to risk management
and embedded the Governing Body Assurance Framework as a strategic tool to
effectively manage risks. The CCG’s key strategic risks, aligned to CCG objectives
are summarised below, along with the actions delivered to mitigate these risks:
Strategic Objective

Strategic Risk

Actions

Commissioning for
Better Health
Outcomes

The priorities of local system
stakeholders do not align,
impacting on the CCG's ability
to secure the best health
outcomes for its population.

Ensure
commissioning of
high quality, safe
and responsive
health services

CCG is unable to influence or
assure the quality of care due
to insufficient internal
capacity/ineffective internal
systems to monitor quality and
drive change.
Not all partners in the system
aligned to reducing health

 Refreshed, One Liverpool
Strategy – all partners formally
approved and reviewed their
organisational strategies
 2019/20 'One Liverpool'
Operational Plan includes further
implementation of 'risk assured'
contracts with providers for
('Acting as One') and key priority
areas for delivery.
 Robust system governance
embedded
 CCG represented on Liverpool
Health and Wellbeing Board to
influence strategy and priorities
 Provider Organisational health
framework established
 Re-structured functions for
quality, performance and finance,
with greater integration in
reporting and oversight
 Refreshed One Liverpool
strategy, with a primary,

Reduce health
inequalities
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Strategic Objective

Strategic Risk

Actions

inequalities



Ensure maximum
Complying with NHS Business
value from
Rules may inhibit our ability to
available resources deliver maximum value

Decisions that are
evidence-based
and evaluated for
maximum impact





Financial and Contracting
Strategy fails to realign to
system based outcomes and
the achievement of value



CCG does not appropriately
use evidence base to make
decisions










Maintain the CCGs
reputation and
safeguard public
confidence in the
NHS

Inadequate adherence to
principles of good governance,
openness and probity
damages the organisation's
reputation and leads to loss of
public confidence in the CCG's
ability to meet statutory duties
and/or loss of operating
licence.

quantifiable aim to reduce health
inequalities, utilising population
health management
Provider Alliance delivery plan
identified four population health
segment priorities
Involvement in development of a
new City Plan by the CCG and a
wide strategic partnership across
all sectors
2019/20 Better Care Fund
‘Acting as One’ contracts
Financial reporting, including
Annual Report
System alignment on vision,
strategy and priorities
Achievement of CRES targets
Joint Commissioning
development
Board development - ‘risk
appetite’ understood through
Board development programme
GB Assurance Framework
Hosting of Applied Research
Collaboration North West Coast
(ARC NWC)
Shared One Liverpool vision,
strategy and priorities


 Revised CCG Constitution
 Further development of the
Governing Body Assurance
Framework and Risk
Management Framework
 Achieved ‘Good’ NHS England
Integrated Assurance Framework
(IAF) rating in 19/20
 New CCG organisational
structure
 Internal Audit priorities targeted at
areas of risk/reputation

In 2019/20, the CCG adopted a Risk Management and Assurance Strategy, which
reflected Liverpool CCG’s philosophy towards risk and its commitment to good
governance, and provided the framework by which the CCG’s Governing Body
receives the appropriate assurance that risks against the CCG’s corporate and
strategic objectives are consistently being identified
The risks identified in the corporate risk register for 2019/20 relate predominantly to
the achievement of the NHS constitutional standards; the achievement of improved
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health outcomes; maintaining high quality care and financial sustainability. Some of
the key risks managed in 2019/20 are summarised below:


The risk of leaving the European Union without a deal, and the subsequent
impact on the local NHS was considered significant in 2019, although the
agreement by the new Government in January 2020 had reduced this risk.



Sustained pressures on the Liverpool urgent care system made this a significant
and ongoing risk in 2019/20. This risk is being managed collaboratively by all
system partners.



The One Liverpool strategy includes a whole system commitment to find a
solution to the sustainability of women’s and neonatal services provided by
Liverpool Women’s Hospital. The future sustainability of these services remains a
significant risk. Short, medium and long term mitigations are being developed to
address these risks.



The CCG’s intention to lead system integration as a means of improving
population health is ambitious as it requires a complex and diverse set of
commissioners and providers to 'act as one'. The future clinical and financial
sustainability of the local health and social care system depends upon the
success of One Liverpool. This risk is being mitigated through the establishment
of effective system governance, new ways of working for commissioners and
providers, risk-sharing in the way commissioner’s contract for services and a
shared commitment to doing the right things for our population.



In Quarter 4, the CCG acknowledged the significant risk of the Coronavirus and
has focused the majority of organisational resources to respond.

1.7

Performance Summary 2019/20

The CCG has continued to robustly monitor provider performance against key NHS
Constitutional measures.
At April 2020 the CCG had maintained good progress in meeting several NHS
mandated targets; including mental health standards such as Estimated Dementia
Diagnosis rates, Early Intervention in Psychosis and 18-week/6-week Increased
Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT). Good performance has also been
maintained for five of the nine national cancer waiting time standards, with Liverpool
expected to meet its year-end targets for the numbers of patients receiving definitive
treatment within 31 days of a cancer diagnosis. The desire to diagnose cancer at an
early stage has challenged the standard to see patients with suspected cancer within
2 weeks of referral from their GP.
There are, however still a number of areas where Liverpool CCG has faced
significant challenges. Like many other CCGs nationally, Liverpool CCG will fail the
year-end 95% A&E four-hour operational standard in addition to the 18-week
Referral to Treatment (RTT) metric, 6-week waiting time standard for diagnostic
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services and is unlikely to meet the IAPT access and recovery standards based on
current performance levels.

1.7.1

A&E 4 Hour Standard

Liverpool CCG’s performance against the national 4-hour A&E standard (set at 95%
of patients being seen or treated within 4 hours of arrival) has followed a similar
trajectory to 2018/19. Liverpool’s performance as at March 2020 was 90.01%.
Liverpool CCG performance has remained consistently above the national average
over the winter period to date.

A&E attendances have also increased slightly in 2019/20, with year-to-date ‘Type 1’
activity 1.4% above planned levels; the system has seen a number of challenges
due to the Norovirus and flu.
A considerable amount of work has been undertaken by partners across the system
to support urgent and emergency care, including direct admission to frailty unit,
enhancement to primary care streaming services and increased use of community
services where clinically appropriate. Mutual aid has been provided at times of
significant pressure within individual organisations working together to support each
other in maintaining services for patients.
Liverpool CCG has continued to challenge local providers and work alongside key
system partners (including NHS England and Liverpool City Council); through its role
as a commissioner and as a member of the North Mersey AED Delivery Board.
The Urgent Care review phase one of this programme was completed in September
2019. A Clinical Working Group was established for phase 2 of the programme with
representatives from across the Urgent Care System who have agreed a number of
over-arching principles for the clinical model and recommendations were submitted
to the CCG for consideration in December 2019.

1.7.2

Referral to Treatment (RTT) – 18 weeks

Page | 22

The 18-week Referral to Treatment (RTT) standard is a critical component of the
NHS Constitution and mandates that no patient should wait more than 18 weeks
from initial GP referral to receive treatment.
At February 2020 Liverpool CCG’s year-to-date position for RTT was 85.9% against
the 92% national target and will fail year-end achievement. Nationally the RTT
position remains challenged with national average performance year to date of 85%.
The issues impacting performance against RTT incomplete pathways has been
influenced by ongoing capacity issues particularly in specialties such as
Ophthalmology, Dermatology, Trauma & Orthopaedics and gynaecology. These high
volume specialties have struggled to match internal capacity against demand due to
a number of complex issues including consultant workforce shortages and changes
to the NHS pension scheme.

Extended waiting times for diagnostic services in 2019/20 have also impacted
negatively on RTT pathways. The implementation of faecal immunochemical test
(FIT) testing to screen for bowel cancer has increased the number of endoscopy
procedures required beyond anticipated levels. Cardiac imaging remained a
challenge in 2019/20 however a new MRI and CT scanner became operational at
Liverpool Heart and Chest hospital in November 2019 which will significantly improve
wait times for cardiac imaging.
Liverpool CCG has continued its work on demand management strategies with its
provider organisations. ‘Advice and guidance’ is now available to improve access to
‘early advice’ and reduce unnecessary out-patient referrals across most clinical
specialties and between April 2019 and December 2019 there have been 3968
advice requests made by GPs with 3251 of these requests being managed with
advice only, negating the need for a hospital referral to be made. Advice and
guidance continues to be a key focus area for the system to manage demand.
Changes to the way in which referrals are processed on the E-referrals system has
improved efficiency on a number of pathways. A number of services now utilise the
referral assessment service (RAS) to allow clinicians to view referral information prior

Page | 23

to an appointment being made, this ensures patients are booked into the most
appropriate clinic at the outset or can have diagnostic tests performed prior to their
clinic appointment to speed up decision making.

1.7.3

Diagnostics

CCG performance against the NHS Constitutional mandate that no more than 1% of
patients should wait more than 6 weeks for a diagnostic test has continued to be
significantly challenged in this financial year.
Liverpool CCG’s year-to-date position (as at February 2020) was 4.9% against the
1% standard, although it has to be acknowledged that there is variation on accessing
endoscopy and cardiac imaging as previously described.

In addition to MRI/ CT access being challenged within cardiac imaging, there has
been deterioration in echocardiogram performance in year due to increases in
demand and workforce shortages. The merger of the Royal and Aintree hospitals to
form Liverpool University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust provides opportunities
within diagnostics to explore how services can be delivered differently and workforce
‘shared’ to provide better coverage across sites.
Endoscopy services continue at both the Aintree and Royal sites to be supported
with additional activity via a mixture of insourcing and additional clinic provision at
weekends.
A number of clinical pathways are currently being reviewed for gastroenterology to
optimise primary care management across a North Mersey footprint with the aim to
reduce endoscopy referrals.
During 2019, Liverpool CCG commissioned the provision of Stool Antigen testing
(SAT) rather than the previously used Urea Breath Test for the primary detection of
bacteria which causes dyspepsia. SAT is a quicker test for which the results are
more readily available and with appropriate treatment of patients with positive results
reduced the need for a gastroscopy.
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1.7.4

Increased Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)

Liverpool has some of the highest prevalence rates of anxiety and depressive
disorders among its core city peers. IAPT is a ‘stepped care’ model designed to offer
people suffering from anxiety and depression a realistic (and routine) ‘first line’
treatment which has the best chance of delivering positive outcomes. IAPT services
are also subject to nationally mandated targets which include 6 and 18 week waiting
times measures in addition to targets for access to treatment and recovery rates.
Access targets are measured by the proportion of patients with ‘common’ mental
health disorders who are assessed and receive treatment in accordance with NICE
guidance, whilst recovery standards measure the rates of people with common
mental health disorders who achieve reliable improvement in their presenting
condition following treatment. Liverpool CCG has consistently achieved both 6 and
18 week IAPT standards in 2019/20, with a year to date performance of 93% against
a target of 75% for the 6 week standard and 99% against a target of 95% for the 18
week standard.
The delivery of the access and recovery standards has shown improvement over
2019/20 in comparison to 2018/19. Despite improvement IAPT ‘access’ performance
year to date to Q3 is just below the trajectory achieving 12.86% against a target of
13.5%.

CCG performance against IAPT recovery rates has also improved in 2019/20
currently achieving 48.4% against the nationally mandated 50% target compared to
43% at the end of Q4 2018/19
The majority of people receiving treatment for mental health problems do so within a
community setting and Liverpool CCG is therefore working hard to ensure better
integration with our local GP practices so that primary care staff are able to
recognise the early signs of psychological distress (this also enables those with ‘low
level’ mental health needs to receive timely support). This may include people with
long term physical health conditions who may choose to seek further support given
the challenges that living with a long term condition may present to some
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1.7.5 Incidences of Healthcare Associated Infections (HCAI)
NHS Liverpool CCG has continued to apply rigour to reducing the incidence of
HCAIs and their associated risks, across the health economy during 2019/20. Every
avoidable infection has an impact on patient safety, experience and effectiveness.
Tackling HCAI requires a multi-agency and multi-factorial approach. Whilst
considerable progress has been made, there is still much work to be done.
Significant improvements will only be brought about by harnessing a joined up and
transparent approach; sharing innovation and lessons learnt across all public health,
provider and commissioning organisations.
All providers of healthcare services are required to report all incidences of:




Methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) bloodstream infections;
Clostridium difficile infection (CDI) and;
Escherichia coli (E. coli) bloodstream infections

The following narrative provides a summary of cases reported by Liverpool CCG
commissioned providers from 01 April 2019 to 31 March 2020.
Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus
MRSA bloodstream infection carries a nationally mandated ‘zero tolerance’
threshold. All cases of MRSA bloodstream infections which occur in Liverpool CCG
commissioned providers (where the CCG is the Lead Commissioner) are subject to
robust multidisciplinary Post Infection Reviews (PIRs). A total of ten cases have
been reported and attributed to Liverpool CCG providers between April 2019 and
March 2020, which is comparable with the nine cases reported in 2018/19. Of these
ten cases; a total of eight cases were attributed to the community setting.
Following comprehensive PIRs; lapses in care were identified in just one of these
cases. Improvements were required around documentation, catheter care,
awareness of sepsis risk factors and decolonisation. An action plan was developed
by the Community Trust to address these improvements and completeness of
actions is being monitored by the CCG Quality Team. The remaining two cases were
attributed to the hospital setting in two different Trusts. Following the PIRs; no lapses
in care were found in either of these cases. However, one Trust identified some
areas for learning through incidental findings and generated an action plan as a
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result. Learning and good practice from reviews is shared via the Liverpool CCG
hosted Infection, Prevention and Control (IPC) Network.
Clostridium Difficile
Work continues across the health economy to address Clostridium Difficile (CDI).
Reviews of all cases of CDI are carried out by the providers. Where any lapses in
care are identified, action plans are developed and implemented to prevent reoccurrences. During 2018/19; 125 cases of Trust apportioned and non-Trust
apportioned CDIs were reported across Liverpool providers; of which 40 of these
cases were attributed to providers where Liverpool CCG is the Lead Commissioner.
There have been 90 cases of CDI attributed to Liverpool CCG providers (where the
CCG is the Lead Commissioner) between April 2019 and March 2020, which
compares less favourably to the previous year (however a change in definition
occurred in April 19 which meant that more cases could be assigned to providers).
Data is more comprehensive for 2019/20, with cases broken down by hospital onset,
healthcare associated; community onset healthcare associated; community onset
indeterminate association and community onset community associated; of which
there have been a total of 157 cases reported for Liverpool CCG patients; with 60%
being attributable to community associated, suggesting further work and focus on
antibiotic prescribing in the community is required in the coming year. More
positively; four out of six providers, for which Liverpool CCG are the Lead
Commissioner were below provider trajectories for 2019/20.
Escherichia Coli
E. coli is the most common causative organism in gram-negative bloodstream
infections (GNBSIs). The NHS Long Term Plan supports the revised 50% reduction
target for GNBSIs by 2024/25, as set out by NHS Improvement in 2019. However, no
specific direction has been produced by the Department of Health relating to the
prevention and management of cases of GNBSIs. The complex nature of E.coli
bloodstream infection means that a single intervention is unlikely to result in
significant change.
Nationally, E.coli bloodstream infections are increasing year on year, particularly in
the North of England, with the majority of infections associated with community
acquisition/onset and the increase in infections mainly being observed in the
community setting, with more than 80% of infections deriving from the urinary or
gastrointestinal tract.
In Liverpool, 492 E.coli cases were reported during 2018/19, against a plan of 396.
Performance in 2019/20 has improved from the year before; with 450 cases
reported, but this remains above target, against the plan of 396. The greatest
significance of this data is that 355 of the 450 cases reported are non-Trust
apportioned; therefore occurring in the community; thus reinforcing the need for a
system wide approach and a focus on primary care diagnosis of infections and
antibiotic prescribing.
The North Mersey Health Economy GNBSI Reduction Steering Group continues to
focus on reducing E. coli bloodstream infections which derive from the urinary tract
and more recently work has also focused on the gastrointestinal tract. Hydration and
Continence work streams have continued to drive improvement across community
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and hospital settings. The requirement for a system-wide approach on the larger
Cheshire and Merseyside footprint has been recognised and Liverpool CCG was
represented at an NHS England and NHS Improvement Single Item Quality
Surveillance Group in September 2019.
A Cheshire and Merseyside GNBSI/Sepsis/HCAI/IPC Programme Board has been
developed to provide strategic oversight, share best practice and innovation and
decide where to focus efforts at scale to affect the biggest impact. Liverpool CCG
has aligned resource with colleagues from the Sefton CCGs for representation at
these meetings.
In conclusion, Liverpool CCG Governing Body maintains robust oversight of the
delivery of these key work streams though regular updates; highlighting CCG and
individual provider performance against monthly trajectories and annual plans.
Assurance is received on a systematic basis as to the work being undertaken across
commissioned services to reduce the impact and prevalence of HCAI across the
health economy.

1.8

Performance Analysis

As already outlined the CCG Governing Body receives a comprehensive monthly
performance report at each bi-monthly meeting which is supplemented on a quarterly
basis with a profile of progress against key outcomes measures and benchmarking
of Liverpool’s performance against other ‘Core Cities’.
At the latter end of 2019, the CCG completed its organisational restructure,
establishing a number of new functions and strengthening others. The newly
established performance team will continue to develop and strengthen performance
reporting within the CCG and ensure there are robust and consistent processes to
hold providers to account for delivery. The recent changes in structure and functions
within the CCG will ensure that performance, quality, contracts and finance
information are more robustly triangulated to provide system assurance that high
quality services are being delivered for the population of Liverpool. In support of this,
the CCG has brought together the provider Clinical Quality Performance Group
(CQPG) and Contract Review Meetings (CRM) into one combined meeting and from
spring 2020 the CCG will report quality, performance and finance issues through one
committee. This will support the Governing Body and CCG to discharge its duties in
its continued development as a strategic commissioner.
Governing Body papers including this regular performance report are published on
the CCG website and can be found at:
https://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body-meetings/2019/ for 2019
https://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body-meetings/2020/ for 2020
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1.9 Performance Measures
The performance of the CCG is informed and influenced by a variety of relationships
and key partnerships.
Member Practices: In 2019/20 primary care structures continued to evolve with a
reduction in the number of practices to 85 at the end of January 2020. GP practice
structures are underpinned by eleven neighbourhoods of integrated primary and
community teams. Primary care networks continue to develop and mature, with each
network having appointed a clinical director and representation at the Liverpool
Network Alliance.
Other Commissioners: the CCG has continued to work closely with neighbouring
CCGs, particularly in Sefton and Knowsley where there are providers and issues of
common interest. Specific collaborative commissioning arrangements are in place for
key Trusts and services which deliver services across multiple CCG boundaries and
populations. A newly formed Collaborative Commissioning Forum for Liverpool
University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has been established during 2019 to
facilitate joint working.
The CCG has continued its strong relationship with Cheshire & Merseyside NHS
England/ NHS Improvement Regional Team and with NHS England Specialised
Commissioning team, a key stakeholder due to the number of specialist services/
specialist trusts in the city.
Local residents and patients: city wide engagement events provide the opportunity
for strategic input and engagement. Individual clinical programmes benefit from
patient and public involvement in the service design and procurement of new or
changed services. Liverpool Healthwatch is also invited to attend and participate in
formal meetings of the Governing Body. Individual member practice Patient
Participation Groups (PPGs) are also encouraged and supported, with the majority of
practices in the city having PPGs established and operational, which link into patient
forums at a locality level.
Local Authority: the CCG has continues to strengthen its joint working with
Liverpool City Council during 2019/20, this is critical to the delivery of improved
health services and outcomes across the city.
At the strategic level Cllr Paul Brant - Cabinet Member for Health & Social Care, Cllr
Barry Kushner, Cabinet Member for Children's & Social Care and the Director of
Public Health attend meetings of the Governing Body, with the Director of Adult
Social Care also in attendance. The CCG also continues to fully support the work of
the Mayoral Health Commission participates in the Health & Wellbeing Board and
associated Joint Commissioning Group. The importance of this relationship is
evidenced by the commitment of the CCG to the ‘Better Care Fund’ and continuance
of our formal Partnership Agreement (Section 75) between the Council and CCG and
the further development of our joint approach to personalised health budgets.
Performance of the BCF fund is directed against a set of nationally defined metrics:
non-elective admissions; delayed transfers of care; individuals still at home 91 days
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after discharge from re-ablement services; and permanent admissions to care
homes. In 2019/20 the BCF has supported a variety of schemes and initiatives
across health and social care including end of life care, voluntary sector support,
older people’s services, specialist rehabilitation and supporting social care capacity.
Further details can be found in Section 1.18 on page 58.
During the year the CCG has consistently attended meetings of the City Council
Social Care and Health Select Committee and provided the Committee with updates
and progress reports on key actions and activities, including the One Liverpool Plan
delivery. During 2019/20 the Select Committee has received information from the
CCG on a wide variety of areas including: information about the One Liverpool
Strategy, update on provider changes at Liverpool GP practices, details of planned
public consultation about proposed over the counter medicines prescribing guidance
and an update on engagement with people who use stoma services.
Service Providers: relationships with providers are enhanced by leads from the
Governing Body being attached to specific Trusts. This emphasis upon direct
engagement by clinical leaders has set the CCG apart from previous approaches
and led to the development of a more direct, open and transparent relationship.
Regular quality and contracting meetings with providers are supplemented with
strategic meetings between members of the Governing Body and individual Trust
Executive teams. The Provider Alliance in the city has continued to develop and
mature, focusing on the challenges facing the city and its population needs. The
CCG is invited to attend and participate in their regular meetings.
North Mersey: the CCG has played a key leadership role in bringing together the
CCGs in the North Mersey system to collaborate, conduct joint reviews and develop
proposals for major service change.
Health & Care Partnership for Cheshire & Merseyside
The CCG Chief Officer is a member of the Partnership Board and leads on a number
of key work streams across the Cheshire and Mersey region.

1.10

Financial Performance 2019/20

The financial duties of Clinical Commissioning Group are set out by NHS England
and are listed below.






Expenditure not to exceed the revenue resource limit in any one year
Expenditure not to exceed the capital resource limit in any one year
To remain within the cash limit in any one year
To remain within the running costs target
To maintain a minimum of 1% recurrent surplus

NHS Liverpool CCG delivered all of these duties in 2019-20. Further details can be
found in this annual report, with the financial statements supporting this position
being detailed in section 3. The CCG had a cumulative surplus of £20.453m as at
31st March 2019. During 2019/20 the CCG has been able to drawdown £5m of the
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cumulative surplus to support non-recurrent investments. In addition the CCG has
made a further in year surplus of £6.5m and therefore retains a cumulative surplus of
£21.953m as at 31st March 2020 (equivalent to circa 2.4%) in full compliance with the
mandated NHSE business rules and exceeds the minimum 1% recurrent surplus
duty as outlined above.
This improved position is primarily as a result of a number of items including, the
return of H&C Partnership resources, further slippage on provider investments and a
change in accounting policy with regards to partially completed spells as
recommended in the 2018/19 Annual Audit Letter from External Audit.
This increased surplus will enable an equivalent drawdown in both the 20/21 and
21/22 financial years on a 2:1 basis with £6.5m allowable drawdown agreed in the
respective financial year.
Comparisons of expenditure and resources between the 2018/19 and 2019/20
financial years are shown in the table below
Area of
Expenditure

2019/20

2018/19

In Year
Allocation

Expenditure

Surplus /
(Deficit)

In Year
Allocation

Expenditure

Surplus /
(Deficit)

£ 000’s

£ 000’s

£000’s

£ 000’s

£ 000’s

£000’s

Programme

952,357

947,133

5,224

880,781

882,744

(1,963)

Running Costs

10,912

9,636

1,276

10,584

8,621

1,963

Total

963,269

956,769

6,500

891,365

891,365

0

Whilst achieving surplus year end position, the CCG has experienced a number of
financial challenges within the year and has required the utilisation of the 0.5%
contingency reserves and slippage against other earmarked reserves.
Whilst the CCG has had the benefit of the relative stability from Acting as One
contracts with local NHS Providers, the CCG has experienced increased healthcare
expenditure in relation to High Cost Drugs and Devices, other healthcare contracts
(particularly St Helens and Knowsley and Non Contracted Activity with out of area
providers) and continuing healthcare / joint funded packages of care. These
pressures have been offset by slippage on planned investments, additional return of
resources from the Cheshire & Merseyside Health &Care Partnership, changes to
the 'Work in Progress' accounting policy and an underspend on running costs.
Financial Analysis
The analysis below provide further information regarding the CCG expenditure for
the 2019-20 financial year.
Allocation of Expenditure
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The pie chart below shows the relative percentage of 2019-20 expenditure against
the reporting categories.

Provider Information
The table below provides information with regards to CCG’s programme expenditure
at a provider level in excess of £20m for the 2019-20 financial year. These 7
providers account for £604.9m or 64% of overall CCG expenditure and include a
combination of contract and other programme expenditure.
Name of Provider

£000's

Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

211,888

The Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust

110,555

Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust

149,969

Liverpool Women's NHS Foundation Trust

42,473

Alder Hey Children's NHS Foundation Trust

39,653

St Helens & Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust

25,859

North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust

24,460

Of the remaining 36% expenditure, primary care expenditure £103.9m (circa 11%),
prescribing costs of £87.7m (circa 9% of overall spend), continuing healthcare and
packages of care £49.2m (circa 5%) are not material at an individual contract level.
Year on Year Comparisons
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The CCG received a programme allocation growth of 5.6% for the 2019-20 financial
year, reflecting the impact of changes in relation to national tariff and activity growth
in line with NHS England planning assumptions.

Area of Expenditure

2019-20

2018-19

Year on
Year
Change

£000’s

£000’s

%

Acute Provision

488,796

448,325

9.03%

Community Services

95,923

92,136

4.11%

Primary care (inc Delegated)

103,192

99,674

3.53%

Prescribing Costs

87,708

85,742

2.29%

Mental Health Services

97,441

90,204

8.02%

Continuing Healthcare / Packages of Care

49,243

43,045

14.40%

Other Programme *

24,831

23,618

5.14%

Running Costs

9,636

8,621

11.77%

956,770

891,365

7.3%

TOTAL

* Other Programme Includes - Better Care Fund Contributions, Property Services
and other Programme expenditure
Key Drivers for Year on Year increases:


Acute - Increase in costs due to tariff price inflation and contract growth
(demographic and non-demographic) and increases in expenditure on high cost
drugs & devices and areas of non-contracted activity.



Community Services – Increased in costs due to price inflation and contract
growth (demographic and non-demographic) and increase in Intermediate Care
expenditure.



Primary Care – Increase in expenditure due to amendments to GP contract
payments e.g. Global Sum and Network DES; together with list size increases
and additional GFPV allocations received and utilised for Extended Hours Access
and Online Consultations.



Prescribing – Increase in expenditure due to list size increases together with
pressure from national Category M price uplifts and NCSO price concessions;
partially offset by Cash Releasing Efficiency Savings.
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Mental Health Services - Increase in costs due to tariff price inflation and contract
growth, plus additional investment in support of the delivery of the Mental Health
Investment Standard.



Continuing Healthcare & Packages of Care – Increase in the number and
complexity of packages of care including average inflationary increases of 6.4%
in line with Liverpool City Council rates.



Other Programme – Additional expenditure relating to the hosting of the Cheshire
& Merseyside Women’s & Children’s Partnership funded from allocations.



Running Costs – Increase in costs due to recruitment to vacancies.

Cash Releasing Efficiency Savings
The CCG required planned cash releasing efficiency savings of £13.843m for the
2019-20 financial year (around 1.5% of baseline revenue resources available) and
has achieved savings of £16.302m as at the financial year-end. The original planned
schemes that made up the £13.8m savings target over-delivered by £0.1m and there
was additional slippage on investments of £2.4m.
Future Financial Outlook
Five year CCG allocations were published in January 2019 providing the
organisation with greater certainty for planning and contracting purposes over this
period. The CCG received a programme allocation growth of 4.04% (£34.2m) for the
2020-21 financial year, reflecting the impact of changes in relation to national tariff
and activity growth in line with NHS England planning assumptions.
Lower relative growth of between 3 – 4% is confirmed for the period 2021-22 to
2023-24 and the CCG remains over its target allocation reducing from 1.81% in
2019-20 to 1.29% in 2023-24.
The CCG’s governing body approved a plan for the 2020-21 financial year in March
2020 which was consistent with the requirements of NHS England’s Business Rules,
but required the CCG to make further savings against anticipated expenditure.
Planning assumptions projected that savings in the region of £19.5m (circa 2% of
overall resources available) would be required with further challenges, should further
risks materialise compared to planned expenditure.
However, due to the current pandemic the annual planning and contracting round for
2020/21 is currently suspended and national guidance has been issued instructing
the CCG to move to a simplified basis of contracting for the duration of the crisis
across Acute, Community, Mental Health and Primary Care services. Further
guidance is expected at the time of writing to confirm the process for planning and
reporting during this period and for the remainder of the year.

1.11

NHS Oversight Framework 2019/20
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In 2019/20 the NHS Oversight Framework replaced the CCG Improvement and
Assessment Framework (IAF) and the provider Single Oversight Framework, and will
inform assessment of CCGs in 2019/20. The changes were made to ensure NHS
England and Improvement were speaking with a single voice, setting consistent
expectations of systems and their consituent organisations and to provide a greater
emphasis on system performance.
There are 60 CCG metrics within the framework which are grouped into the following
areas:
 New models of care
 Preventing ill health and reducing inequalities
 Quality of care and outcomes
 Leadership and workforce
 Finance and use of resources
Within the Oversight Framework the CCG is benchmarked against a national
position. An overview of performance against key indicators is presented below:

1.11.1

Preventing Ill Health and Reducing Inequalities

Preventing ill Health and reducing inequalities indicators demonstrate how the CCG
and system partners are improving the health and wellbeing of the population and
positively impacting on demand for services. The most up to date information
available is provided below:


Childhood Obesity: Overweight children will more likely than not become
overweight or obese adults, with consequent health problems. Liverpool is an
outlier, with 38.85% of children aged 10-11 classified as obese. Liverpool
remains significantly above the national average of 34.2% and is in the bottom
quartile nationally. The CCG continues to work with partners in the City Council,
supported by the Mayoral Inclusive Growth Plan commitment to improving
childhood obesity. In March 2019, Liverpool City Council launched their
partnership with Unicef, with the aim to improve the lives of children in the city by
becoming a Unicef Child Friendly City.



Injuries from falls in people aged over 65 is a new indicator in the oversight
framework and demonstrates how well the NHS, public health and social care are
working together to tackle frailty and falls in older people. Liverpool CCG is in the
bottom quartile nationally, so reducing falls is a key priority within the One
Liverpool Plan. A number of schemes relating to falls, including a falls pick up
service, community frailty service and fracture liason service, have received
significant CCG investment in 2019/20.

1.11.2 Quality of Care and Outcomes
Quality of care and outcomes indicators measure how care is being improved,
including service re-design, performance of constitutional standards and health
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outcomes. Liverpool CCG has 6 metrics within this category that are within the top
quartile nationally and 6 in the bottom quartile.


Mental health out of area placements: these placements are associated with
poor patient experience, poor clinical outcomes and often a higher cost to the
health care system. It is important to families, friends and support networks that
patients remain as close to home as possible. Liverpool CCG are in the top
quartile nationally for this indicator.



Cancer Patient experience: whilst there remain challenges in waiting times in
some cancer pathways, due to trying to balance demand with the desire to
diagnose cancers at an earlier stage, cancer patient experience is an important
measure for good care delivery. Liverpool CCG has worked closely with cancer
partners to ensure patients have a positive experience of care during a difficult
time, and the CCG is in the top quartile nationally for this indicator.



Diabetes patients that have achieved all the NICE recommended treatment
targets: achievement of the NICE recommended treatment targets is key in
reducing complications that can arise as a result of diabetes, such as eye
disease and blindness, kidney disease, foot disease and reducing the risk of
cardiovascular disease (heart attacks, amputation, stroke, angina and heart
failure). Liverpool CCG has worked with all delivery partners to develop its
services for diabetic patients and this is reflected by being in the top quartile for
this indicator.

1.11.3 New Service Models


Delayed Transfers of Care: This indicator measures timely discharge or transfer
to the most appropriate care setting and promotes smooth flow through the
system for patients. December 2019 data identifies Liverpool as an outlier, with
an average of 16.7 delayed transfers of care (delayed days) per day per 100,000.
This is above the national average of 11.2 for the same period. Whilst the CCG
position has deteriorated in comparison with the same period in 2018, the
national picture has also deteriorated, reflecting the whole system challenge in
improving performance.



Personal health budgets: increasing the number of people who have access to
a personal health budget was a key ambition in the Five Year Forward View.
Whilst the current performance in the oversight framework is satisfactory, it is an
area in which the CCG has invested during 2019, with a dedicated staffing
resource to further drive improvement. Personal health budgets provide
individuals with choice, control and flexibility in decisions regarding their
healthcare.

1.12

Friends and Families Test
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The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is a single question survey which asks patients
whether they would recommend the NHS service they have received to friends and
family. Since it was initially launched in April 2013, the FFT has been rolled out in
phases to most NHS funded services in England, giving patients the opportunity to
leave feedback on their care and treatment. Friends and Family Test results for the
latest published data (February 2020) across the city are summarised below:
Accident and Emergency: For Liverpool, during February 2020, the percentage of
patients who would recommend A&E services ranged from 81% as the lowest
reported to 89% as the highest recommended provider against a national average of
85%.
Inpatients: In Liverpool the percentage of patients who would recommend a
provider as a place to receive inpatient care ranged from 100% to 93% across
providers, against an England average of 96% in February 2020.
Outpatients: The England average in February 2020 was 94% of respondents
would recommend outpatient services, in Liverpool this ranged from 100% to 92%
across the trusts providing outpatient services.
Maternity: Due to extremely low number of responses it is not possible to produce
meaningful analysis on the data relating to the maternity questions in 2019/20.
Community: Community services providers rate of patient satisfaction with a
recommendation in February ranged from 92% to 98% across providers with an
England average of 96%.
Primary Care (GPs): for February 2020, the percentage of patients who would
recommend their general practice to friends and family in Liverpool was 91%
Staff Friends and Family: This is a quarterly survey; the latest data available is
quarter 2 2019/20. It is split into two areas.
1. Work: Across all Liverpool providers the percentage of staff who would
recommend their provider as a place to work ranged from 52.80% to 85.40%,
against an England average of 66%.
2. Care: The percentage of staff who would recommend a Liverpool provider as
a place to receive treatment ranged from 74.60% to 98.30% with an England
average of 81.20%
Taken as a whole, the FFT and Staff Friends and Family are broadly positive and
reflect a good level of staff and patient satisfaction.

1.13

Sustainable Development

Liverpool CCG has provided good leadership in this area as an early developer of a
Social Value and Sustainability Strategy and Action Plan which was co-developed
with our NHS partners in the city. Building Social Value means using our position
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and responsibilities to increase the social, economic and environmental wellbeing of
the people we serve. Our strategy brings together our obligations to set out a
Sustainable Development Management Plan to comply with The Public Services
(Social Value) Act 2012 and to place the approach at the centre of our thinking,
policy, commissioning and practice. The strategy will be updated during 2020/21 to
reflect the Long Term Plan, guidance on Net Zero Carbon for the NHS and system
integration. Liverpool CCG has also worked with the Cheshire and Merseyside
Health and Care Partnership to bring forward proposals for a renewed focus on
Social Value and is a signatory and partner in the Social Value Charter.
It is recognised that most of the CCG’s carbon footprint is associated with
commissioning health and care services, prescribing and the procurement of other
services. Our priority remains to work with our main providers, Liverpool City Council
and other partners to improve our performance and to minimise the harm and
maximise the positive gain that can be made to health from the way NHS services
operate. Information regarding how our key providers perform against The Public
Services (Social Value) Act 2012 and sustainable development can be found within
each Trusts Annual report.
As a commissioning organisation, we need effective contract mechanisms to deliver
our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery and clear outcomes for services
and the system.
The NHS policy framework already sets the scene for
commissioners and providers to operate in a sustainable manner.
The Climate Change Act commits the UK government to achieve net zero carbon
emissions by 2050 and in summer 2020 the NHS will set out its updated strategy to
meet this goal.
Liverpool CCG recognises the connections between the local actions we can
influence and global patterns of carbon emissions and the gains to our local
population from acting sustainably in our economic, social and environmental impact.
While a smaller impact, NHS Liverpool CCGs own operations, accommodation and
practices contribute towards carbon emissions. The figures below show resource
consumption from our activity.


9.3 tonnes of CO2e were generated by staff road travel



1267 tonnes of CO2e were generated by information and communication
technologies



More than 17315 tonnes of Co2e were generated from the pharmaceuticals
used by commissioned services (including General Practice) *



More than 118656 tCo2e are produced by the NHS providers of care to local
residents through our commissioning activity *

*Derived from an analysis of financial spend through the NHS Sustainability Unit.
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The CCG’s accommodation has a number of features designed to reduce energy
consumption.
Liverpool CCG encourages employees to travel via public transport and offers to
purchase an annual train or bus pass, which is repaid over the year or similar
support to purchase a bike through the national cycle scheme. Provision for cyclists
is also made by way of cycle storage and changing facilities.
As part of the national requirements to plan to meet the likely climate change
challenges ahead, the CCG has, through the Emergency Preparedness and
Resilience agenda, ensured that plans are cognisant of these risks and make
provision for mitigating actions.

SOCIAL VALUE CASE STUDY
Turning Tides: Creating Healthy
Communities in Liverpool
In January 2020 NHS Liverpool CCG published
a report entitled ‘Turning Tides: Creating Healthy
Communities in Liverpool’ on the impact of its
Community Investment Programme, targeting
resources to tackle health inequalities and using
an asset-based approach to improve health and
wellbeing.
This innovative programme invested into a wide
range of local community, voluntary, faith and
social enterprise organisations and shows how
commissioners and communities can work
together to improve health outcomes and reduce
health inequalities in some of the city’s most
vulnerable groups.
The approach involved the CCG partnering with
a total of 88 different organisations to creatively
involve over 50,000 local people (10% of Liverpool’s total population) in projects that
supported better health and wellbeing.
The programme proved to be a very successful approach and saw significant
increases in participant wellbeing and social value created among many other
benefits:-
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Turning Tides demonstrates how the NHS can partner with communities to:







address the social determinants of health
support people to improve wellbeing and
take more control of their health and lives
reduce demand on clinical services
foster preventive, community-led approaches to health and wellbeing
personalise care
develop meaningful engagement with communities and VCFSEs

The report features numerous case studies of the projects that were piloted, with
examples of schemes as diverse and varied as: an arts therapy project for people
with mental health difficulties from BME and disadvantaged backgrounds, a
community gardening project with Irish traveller communities, a theatre group for
individuals facing severe disadvantage, a physical activity, wellbeing and healthy
weight programmes for children and young people with deafness, and a support
project for refugee and asylum seeker families.
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This report summarises how asking communities for their ideas for addressing health
inequalities, enabled truly community-led approaches to take place and highlights
the significant, measurable impact on health outcomes that can be achieved when
commissioners, service providers and community organisations really work together
to empower our communities.
These impacts include: reducing inequalities, addressing the social determinants of
health, improving wellbeing, focusing on asset-based approaches to fostering
healthy communities, and delivering social value.

1.14

Patient and Public Involvement

NHS Liverpool CCG needs to understand the experiences and expectations of local
people in order to carry out its role effectively. Making sure that the public and
patients are involved in our decision-making, planning and delivery is vital to shaping
our future direction, improving services and holding the local NHS to account. Our
Governing Body includes a lay member for Patient and Public Involvement, whose
responsibility is to ensure that effective opportunities are created for the local
population to have a voice in all aspects of the CCG’s business, and that appropriate
arrangements are in place to ensure views are understood, reported and acted upon.
In October 2019 the CCG appointed a new lay member, Carol Rogers, who brings
significant senior experience in community participation to the governing body.
Healthwatch Liverpool are formally invited to attend CCG governing body meetings,
bringing additional scrutiny and links to public feedback.
The CCG has established a range of engagement infrastructure to support diverse
and effective participation, however this is an area where we look to continually
improve and develop our approach. We want to ensure that there are opportunities
for everyone to take part in our work, and put in place arrangements to support and
encourage this across our communities.
Planning, governance and management structures operate to ensure engagement is
as effective and transparent as possible. A planned approach is adopted for all
activity to provide the CCG with assurance that engagement is effective and meets
both our legal and value based commitments to involving diverse members of our
community. This also incorporates an Equalities Pre-Assessment to ensure the
activity will engage any groups who may be particularly affected. The outcome of
engagement processes are always reported back to patients and public and
participants and through committees to the Governing Body. Details of engagement
strategies,
governance
and
planning
documents
are
available
at
https://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/
We continue to be committed to working in partnership with our population, NHS
partners, local government and voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE)
organisations. Our duty is to reflect our city’s diverse populations and their needs in
the way that services are commissioned. Our approach also aim for engagement to
be conducted in ways which support individual and community empowerment in
achieving better health. The structures that underpin our approach and that have
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contributed towards comprehensive and effective engagement during 2019/20,
include:
Patient Engagement and Experience Group - This is a strategic CCG group,
designed to oversee the delivery and implementation NHS Liverpool CCG’s
engagement activity. The group consists of representatives from NHS Liverpool
CCG, Liverpool City Council, Healthwatch Liverpool and patient/public voices from
Liverpool CCG’s volunteer programme. The group reviews engagement plans and
processes and reflects on information from complaints and Healthwatch reports.
Patient Voices - Patient voices are local people with experience of using health
services and with connections to local communities. Their role is to provide a patient
voice within programme or project development and to use real life experiences to
inform and improve planning.
Engagement Partners Programme - We aim to continuously improve how our
population participate in decision making, including having a true diversity of
representation. In 2015 the CCG established a network of VCSEs to work with us in
involving people from the city’s diverse communities, using the expertise and reach
that exists within the sector to facilitate dialogue and create the right conditions for
meaningful engagement. We currently have more than 150 partners in the
programme and are confident we have a strong reach into groups less likely to
participate, groups who experience health inequalities, vulnerable groups or those
with protected characteristics.
Volunteer Programme
The CCG volunteer programme was established to broaden opportunities for
participation, to empower and support the wellbeing of individual volunteers and to
inform health commissioning. The volunteer programme is in its fifth year and has
gone from strength to strength, since April 2019 we have recruited 12 new
volunteers. All volunteers are invited to attend a welcome session and role specific
training. Volunteers have supported the following areas of work in 2018/19:
Stoma: Two volunteers, who are Trainee Healthcare Scientists studying Health
Informatics, analysed and reported the findings of engagement undertaken to inform
proposed changes to stoma prescribing.
Urgent Care: Volunteers continued to support the urgent care review and were
involved in co-design events to inform the development of potential options for the
future.
Liverpool Bowel Screening Volunteers Project: This project aims to increase
bowel cancer screening uptake in neighbourhoods where participation is lowest.
Bowel screening uptake has been proven to increase when people have a nonpressured conversation about the importance of completing the test and the process
involved. Since its launch in 2018, volunteers have worked alongside GP Practice
staff in surgeries, phoning people who are aged 60 – 74 who have not yet completed
their screening test.
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Volunteers were involved in many other aspects of the project and had input into the
qualitative research study: Lessons learnt throughout the design and process of
implementing the Bowel Cancer Volunteer Project in Liverpool, conducted by a
student studying International Public Health at Liverpool John Moores University.
Volunteers participated in one-to-one interviews where they shared their experiences
relating to the implementation of the bowel cancer volunteer project.
Furthermore, volunteers showcased the outcomes of the project by having an
information stall at Liverpool CCG Annual General Meeting 2019, where they were
able to have conversations with colleagues from across the health sector.
Digital Patient Participation Group – Liverpool CCG volunteers have been
involved in the regional NHS Public Health Research Programme, which is looking at
the development and implementation of Personal Health Records.
Personalisation Agenda – A volunteer is involved in the NHS England Leadership
Programme aimed at embedding personalised care across the city. The programme
consists of three face-to-face regional workshops in Manchester, looking at
personalised care and what it means, co-production and collaborative working.
Learning Disability Training – Volunteers attended training about the health and
support needs of patients with learning disabilities within primary care. Volunteers
will support learning disabilities engagement activity, with the objective of seeking
insight from GPs and practice staff about how they are meeting the needs of patients
with learning disabilities, and whether they need any additional support to help meet
these needs.
Consultation and Community Engagement Training – Volunteers attended
training held in Manchester, about best practice consultation and community
engagement and heard from practitioners from Australia, the United States and the
United Kingdom.
Lancashire Bowel Cancer Screening Programme Conference – Back to Basics
with FIT – Volunteers involved in the Liverpool Bowel Screening Project attended
the conference and were able to hear about the implementation of the new FIT test
and good practices across the region.
New FIT Kit Training – Post launch of the new FIT Kit, volunteers were invited to
attend refresher training before going into practice.
Our volunteers are an important part of our participation programme, enabling
engagement in a variety of ways across the work of the CCG in ways which support
the goals of the participants. Anyone interested in volunteering with NHS Liverpool
CCG can email volunteer@liverpoolccg.nhs.uk or call 0151 247 6406
Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) - It is a contractual requirement for all
practices to form a patient participation group (PPG) and to make reasonable efforts
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for this to be representative of the practice population. The CCG encourages GP
practices with established patient groups to gather insight to inform decisions about
their own care. PPGs have opportunities to influence at both individual practice and
neighbourhood level.
Public Question Time - Members of the public are welcomed to attend the formal
meetings of the Governing Body and to question Governing Body members in an
‘open’ question session, providing an opportunity for issues and concerns to be
raised and responded to.
Digital Engagement - Our digital engagement and social media presence has
continued to develop, through the CCG website and social media, as platforms for
sharing information and seeking feedback. Our audience of each of these platforms
continues to grow with each engagement activity, consultation or campaign. At the
time of writing the @liverpoolccg Twitter account has more than 7,500 followers.
From 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 our website - www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk –
attracted 40,230 unique users, and a total of 113,778 page views. We continue to
explore opportunities to expand our online audience, increasingly using video to
improve levels of engagement.
Continual Stakeholder Mapping - A stakeholder database of local residents,
community groups, organisations and other stakeholders has been developed and is
continually updated enabling direct contact with interested parties about
opportunities to participate. In January 2020 we introduced a new email newsletter
for nearly 4,000 subscribers.
A summary overview of engagements conducted in 2019/20, along with what we
learnt and how this information informed proposals, is presented below. Further
information regarding these engagements can be found on our website
www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk and clicking ‘get involved’.
Engagement
Activity

Urgent Care
Review
Engagement

BAMER
Mental
Health
Services

Summary of Feedback

Impact of engagement

During 2018/19 we asked people to
share their views and experiences of
using urgent care services in the city.
More than 5,500 people across
Liverpool and over 500 members of
staff in Liverpool and Sefton took
part. A report about the engagement
was published in August 2019 and is
available on the CCG website.

The engagement findings are
being fed in to the options
development for future
improvements to urgent care
services.

In spring 2019 the CCG began
seeking views regarding mental
health support for BAMER
communities and particularly the
Community development Service
(LCDS) for BAMER mental health.

Feedback was used to inform
the revised service specification
and several areas for
improvement in both this and
other mental health services.
In response to widespread
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Engagement
Activity

Stoma

Criteria
Based
Clinical
Treatments
(CBCT)

Changes to
GP Services
– Dr
Mangarai

Summary of Feedback

Impact of engagement

feedback in this and other
engagements regarding
difficulties with interpreter
services, LCCG has worked
with Trusts and GPs to raise
staff awareness of
commitments and processes. In
addition LCCG is leading a
system approach to developing
a new, joint specification for
interpreter services in the
future.
From July 30 July to 23 September
The CCG has now joined a
2019 the CCG sought views from
project to set up a stoma
people using stoma products, carers prescription service for patients
and support groups in order to inform across Cheshire and
design of a stoma prescribing
Merseyside.
service. The engagement findings
were used to produce a report, which
is available on the CCG website. The
engagement report showed broad
support for the service proposals
Liverpool CCG is currently
collaborating with CCGs across
Merseyside to review a range of
policies for Criteria Based Clinical
Treatments and the assisted fertility
policy.

The project is ongoing.
Engagement findings will be
used to inform the final policies.

In Autumn 2019, the two managing
partners at Dr Mangarai’s GP
practice in Speke gave notice to the
CCG of their intention to end their
contract. The CCG wrote to around
2,500 patients registered with the
practice to explain the situation and
invite people to share views and
comments, so that this could inform
the decision about what happened
next. A small number of patients
contacted the CCG to provide
feedback. Most people who did so
said that they wanted to transfer to
another GP practice in the same
building; some expressed a

A report into the engagement
was considered as part of the
decision-making process. Dr
Mangarai’s practice closed at
the end of January 2019 and
the majority of patients were
transferred into one of the two
other GP practices in the same
building.
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Engagement
Activity

Summary of Feedback

Impact of engagement

preference for the practice they
wished to be transferred to. A
summary report is available on the
CCG website.

Over the
counter
medicines
prescribing

Hyper-acute
stroke
services

Changes to
GP Services
– Primary
Care
Connect

NHS Liverpool CCG is currently
considering how to implement
national guidelines that would limit
prescriptions for some ‘over the
counter’ medicines and treatments
for minor conditions. From 11
September 2019 to 31 January 2020
we asked for people's views on our
proposals, so that we can use this
feedback to make a decision about
what we do next. The views of more
than 1,600 people were gathered.

The feedback received is
currently being analysed and
will be used to inform the
decision-making process.

The NHS in Knowsley, Liverpool,
South Sefton, Southport & Formby
and West Lancashire is reviewing
local hyper-acute stroke services –
the hospital care provided
immediately after someone has a
stroke. During autumn 2019 the CCG
worked with the Stroke Association
to visit a number of local groups for
stroke survivors, to talk about the
review and gather feedback from
those with experience of hospital
stroke services.
In January 2019 Primary Care
Connect (PCC) gave notice to NHS
Liverpool Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG) that it would be ending
its contracts for six GP practices:
Anfield Health, Everton Road,
Garston, Netherley Health Centre,
Park View and West Speke.

The information gathered from
these face to face discussions
has been written up into a
report and will be used to help
develop plans for how services
could look in the future.

The CCG wrote to patients to explain
the situation and ask for their views,
so we could use this feedback to
inform the process to decide what
happened next to each of these
practices. People shared their

As a result of a procurement
process, Dr Jude was
appointed new provider of four
PCC practices.
Park View
West Speke
Garston
Netherley Health Centre
The CCG engagement team
arranged and supported
four sessions where patients
were
invited to meet Dr Jude, find out
about the new arrangements
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Engagement
Activity

Summary of Feedback
comments by phone, email, letters,
and at a series of drop-in events.

Impact of engagement
and ask questions.

The majority of views expressed to
LCCG were in support of finding
another provider to run Netherley,
Park View and West Speke practices
with strong concerns raised about
not retaining a practice in these
locations. For Garston, Anfield and
Everton a large majority expressed
preferences to remain in the same
building.

1.15 Improve Quality
The CCG has continued to take a comprehensive and systematic approach to quality
assurance of commissioned services in 2019/20. The CCG strives to work in
partnership with providers of commissioned services and other stakeholders. The
CCG assumes responsibility for quality assurance by holding our providers to
account for the delivery of their contractual obligations and quality standards. This
localised approach involves systematic monitoring of quality requirements as laid out
in the Quality Schedule, alongside coordination of collaborative forums and clinical
quality and performance meetings for those providers for whom the CCG acts in the
lead commissioner role.
The internal governance route for escalation of strategic risks to quality has
continued to be via the CCG’s Quality, Safety and Outcomes Committee. The
committee has moved to monthly meetings in recognition of the complexity of the
provider landscape and the breadth of oversight required. There are plans underway
to restructure the CCGs internal governance arrangements in 2020/21, to allow for a
more ‘rounded’ view of quality, contractual and performance issues at committee
level.
There are clearly defined escalation processes which are known and understood
when routine intervention has proven ineffective, using contractual processes where
necessary. The CCG is aligned to NHS England quality concerns process, adopting
the use of the trigger tool for escalation, alongside collaborative completion of the
Quality Risk Profile tool, where appropriate.
The CCG can demonstrate multiple examples where we have engaged and led the
system to better understand and improve quality related issues. Examples include
the system leadership role undertaken in response to reduced supply of
Radiopharmacy products across Cheshire & Merseyside. The CCG has also been
developing its approach to standardisation of quality assurance in relation to General
Page | 50

Practice in Primary Care. This has led to development of a monthly governance
meeting and standard operating procedures for quality review of General Practice
services.
In relation to those areas identified in ‘MyNHS’ (the NHS digital platform to access
quality and outcomes data), the CCG can provide a comprehensive account of its
approach in improving performance across the six priority areas as detailed below:
Maternity - The latest available statistic for the number of live births to women
resident in Liverpool is 5,863 in 2018. In the latest 12-months available (Feb-19 to
Jan-20), 5,169 (92.5%) of deliveries took place at Liverpool Women's Hospital
(LWH). Neonatal mortality and still birth rates are included in the quality schedule for
LWH and monitored by the CCG via the Clinical Quality and Performance Group.
Liverpool Women’s Hospital plays an active role in the Cheshire and Merseyside
Local Maternity Solution (LMS) and are providing midwifery and medical staff to
service the newly established ‘one stop’ hub in the North of the city, which will
provide a complete maternity service including a birthing suite in the premises of a
GP surgery. The second phase of the development will be midwives working in
partnership with local GPs at hubs in the south of city to provide a triage and
treatment service to avoid unnecessary attendances at hospital.
Every day, on average, 24 babies are born in Liverpool Women’s Maternity Unit and
another three babies are born prematurely and cared for in the Neonatal Unit. As the
largest single site maternity hospital in the UK, LWH pride themselves on being the
hospital of choice for thousands of expectant mothers.
The Trust continues to work closely with the Cheshire and Merseyside Health and
Care Partnership, engaging in a number of work streams in support of the
Partnership’s vision.
The NEST (Non English Speaking Team) are a team of five midwives currently
offering continuity of care to refugee and asylum seeking women attending for care
at Liverpool Women`s hospital during the antenatal and postnatal period. They run
antenatal parenting classes alongside the Social Inclusion Team from Mersey Care
NHS. They provide additional advocacy, signposting, and support for women.
A dedicated antenatal clinic has been developed, known as the “LINK “clinic. The
LINK clinic is held every Monday at LWH for women to access all their scheduled
antenatal care. The clinic is also staffed by interpreters.
Liverpool Maternity Voices has successfully launched and is now fully integrated into
the LMS LWH key deliverables.
In response to the Mothers and Babies: Reducing Risk through Audits and
Confidential Enquiries across the UK (MBRRACE-UK) 2019 report, the LMS is
creating a BAME Women’s Maternity Network Group (BWMNG) which will be in
partnership with Liverpool Maternity Voices and will begin its initial work within the
LWH footprint.
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LMS will be supporting a Social Deprivation project, which will initially pilot across 6
Liverpool postcodes. This will offer comparison between the most deprived and the
most affluent areas of the city. It will also run in conjunction with the BWMNG.
Diabetes - The CCG has seen a continued improvement in the National Diabetes
Audit (NDA) participation rate from 80% reported in 2016/17 to 97% reported in
quarter 2 of 2019/20. The automation of data extraction from general practice led to
a significant improvement in uptake and will hopefully lead to 100% compliance in
the near future. As previously reported the latest CCG diabetes assessment
framework (2017/18 published in January 2019) rated Liverpool as ‘outstanding’ for
diabetes services. This rating is based on two key indicators – percentage of patients
achieving the NICE treatment targets (44% compared with an England median of
40%) and attendance at structured education (10% compared with an England
average of 9%).
The Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) is the annual reward and incentive
programme detailing General Practice achievement results. It rewards practices for
the provision of quality care and helps standardise improvement in the delivery of
primary medical services. Overall achievement of diabetes management and
treatment targets are generally better or comparable to Right Care Peers and
England rates. In Liverpool, approximately 4 in 5 diabetics manage their BP <150/90
and over two thirds (70%) manage their BP <140/90, which are comparable to the
peer group and England average rates. Diabetes patients managing their
Cholesterol levels <5 mmol/l is significantly better in Liverpool (73%) compared to
the peer average rate (72%) and England average rate (71%). Statistically, a
significantly higher proportion of patients newly diagnosed with diabetes are referred
to structured education in Liverpool (87.3%) compared to the peer group average
(67%) and England average (70%).
Using 2018/19 Liverpool Diabetes Partnership Outcomes data, outcomes are
improving for people with diabetes, with 112 fewer patients with impaired vision from
diabetes, 1 less patient becoming blind from diabetes, 7 less patients with kidney
failure, 12 fewer patients with amputations and 34 fewer stroke admissions.
In 2019, the CCG provided additional support to roll-out the ‘Healthier You’, the
National Diabetes Prevention Programme within Liverpool. To date over 2,500
people have participated in the programme aimed at supporting self-care to reduce
the risk of developing type 2 Diabetes.
Mental Health – Liverpool CCG continues to work closely with Talk Liverpool
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies services (IAPT) to consolidate
improvements achieved in recent years. The new model, including a greater
proportion of group activity, online access and a streamlined initial assessment to
support making the service more accessible is now established and is indicating
improvements in terms of access, waiting times and recovery. Pathways into
therapy for people who have long term physical health conditions have also been
developed.
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Liverpool CCG co-ordinates the North Mersey All Age Crisis Care Concordat Action
Plan bringing together Mersey Care, Alder Hey Trust, Merseyside Police, local
authority social care representatives, voluntary sector colleagues and other key
partners. The past twelve months have seen major developments in relation to
Crisis Resolution Home Treatment (CRHT) Service and also the Crisis Line for
Children and Young people as well as further development of crisis services as a
network of services available in an emergency. The group has a dashboard of
indicators which help in assessing how the range of interventions impact on one
another to inform future development.
National standards for Early Intervention in Psychosis have now been implemented
in full, significantly increasing the amount of people accessing the full range of
evidence based interventions for a first episode of psychosis, and therefore reducing
their chances of needing continued, high intensity support later in life. Investment in
this service has demonstrated visible improvements in patient access and outcomes.
Liverpool CCG is currently working closely with Mersey Care in relation to two key
pieces of work, firstly a transformation of Community Mental Health Services and
secondly the development of a service to improve first response to crisis.
Child & Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) - The CCG is in the final
year of implementing the 5 year Local Transformation Plan (LTP), 2015-2020/21, for
Children and Young Peoples Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing. This has
been part of the Mental Health Five Year Forward View and will transition into the
NHS Long term Plan for Mental Health. The plan has recently been refreshed as per
national requirement as part of the assurance process. Last year’s plan was RAG
rated green by NHS England. Liverpool CCG is currently performing well on
improving access rates for children and young people to NHS commissioned mental
health provision and achieved the target of 32% for 18/19. However we are
underperforming for access to eating disorder support for those requiring an urgent
response. LCCG is working closely with the trust to improve this including increasing
investment. Work is also progressing with the providers to improve routine waiting
times and further investment has been made for the development of key areas to
work towards the targets within the NHS Long Term Plan for Children and Young
Peoples Mental Health including crisis support, 18-25 targeted provision and early
help to support suicide prevention.
The Local Transformation Plan can be accessed here which provides further
information on progress to date:
https://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/health-and-services/children-and-youngpeople/children-and-young-peoples-mental-health-camhs/
Learning Disability - The CCG continues to work towards reducing inpatient rates
for those with a learning disability. Effective working arrangements between
commissioners, local delivery partners provide assurance that an admission to an
inpatient unit will only happen if absolutely necessary and following agreement from
all professionals involved. We continue to work closely with colleagues at Liverpool
City Council to develop effective support services and this is supported by the
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Intensive Support Function (ISF) within existing community learning disability teams
across North Mersey.
The CCG recognises that more work needs is required to improve the rates of
people included in the learning disability register, and to increase access to, and
quality of, annual health checks for people with a learning disability. The last
nationally published figure indicated the percentage of people with a learning
disability on their GP register receiving an annual health check at 53.76%, just above
the average for similar Cities of 46.93%. Based on data for 2017/18, the CCG is
ranked 3/11 of this peer group. The CCG is working closely with Mersey Care to
further develop the action plan to increase the provision and uptake of health checks
and improve access and experience in general practice.
Work continues to implement the LeDeR mortality review process and act upon
findings in relation to those reviews. Significant progress has been made in relation
to clearing the backlog of overdue reviews following investment in a local reviewer
within the mental health commissioned provider. The CCG continues to play an
active part in the Cheshire and Merseyside LeDeR steering group and is fully
engaged in supporting transformational work in this area.
Learning Disability: Children and Young People - Liverpool CCG continues to
use successfully the Dynamic Support Database (DSD) for Children and Young
People (CYP) with Learning Disabilities (LD) and/or Autism, who present with
behaviour that challenges, including those with a mental health condition. The
database enables the CCG and Local Authority to respond quickly and appropriately
to these needs in order to prevent avoidable admissions to Tier 4 CAMHS.
Dementia – The January 2020 diagnosis rate stands at 68.0% (3,234 patients)
above the target position of 66.7%a fall of 0.5% since the same period last year.
Increasing dementia diagnosis remains a priority area for Liverpool CCG. Member
practices are encouraged to identify and diagnose dementia through a combination
of clinical leadership, peer support and the Liverpool Quality Improvement Scheme
and this approach has proven successful in the past.
Dementia Action Liverpool were commissioned by Liverpool City Council to review
and propose strategic priorities from 2019 onward they continue to work with the City
Council and Liverpool CCG to help take forward the actions identified within these
priorities. Liverpool CCG has already invested in a doubling of the capacity of the
Navigator Team who support those individuals, and their families and carers, who
have received a diagnosis.
Cancer –
Prevention
 In 2019/20, the CCG continued to test interventions to prevent cancer.
Highlights include the bowel cancer volunteer project; 6 local people
gave their time to speak to over 600 people who had not returned their kit for
bowel cancer screening, resulting in an extra 300 kits being ordered, and
raising awareness in targeted practices of the role of cancer screening
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programmes. Working with the Cancer Alliance, funding was secured to
commence a smoking cessation service at the Royal Liverpool Hospital, and
planning began for a £1.2 m cancer screening project across Cheshire and
Merseyside which will start in spring 2020
Early diagnosis and pathways of care
There was focussed work to ensure responsive services to diagnose people
with cancer at early stage
 Liverpool Healthy Lung – to November, over 13,000 people had taken part in
the programme since it started in April 2016; 5000 people have had a scan,
and 100 lung cancers have been diagnosed (in addition to other cancers).
80% of the lung cancers are early stage and treated with curative intent,
compared to typically 70% of people diagnosed late stage in Liverpool. Our
programme was cited in the National NHS plan and published in The Journal
of Lung Cancer.
 50 patients (13% of all) referred to the new ‘vague symptoms service’
received a diagnosis of cancer (April 18 to Dec 19). This service will become
a Rapid Diagnostic Centre in 2020, supported by the Cancer Alliance.
 Lynch syndrome testing commenced; 169 people were tested August 18 to
September 19, with a 3% pick up rate of Lynch syndrome in that group. This
affects treatment decisions, and allows clinicians and patients to discuss
whether other family members may wish to be tested, aiming to prevent and
diagnose cancers early in this higher risk group
We worked to improve the experience of care for patients and their families.
 An education/awareness video for people undergoing chemotherapy,
describing risks of neutropenic sepsis, was produced in 2019 and is now
being widely advertised across the region for people undergoing
chemotherapy.
 Prostate, breast and colorectal services now offer supported stratified follow
up pathways for surveillance; During 2019 the data showed there are the
following numbers on these pathways. Prostate – over 700 patients at
RLBUHT & Aintree; Breast – over 1640 patients at RLBUHT & Aintree;
Colorectal over 300 patients at RLBUHT & Aintree. Clatterbridge commenced
this service in 2019 in prostate cancer (133 people enrolled to December),
along with testing of a self care app for people who are receiving
immunotherapy for skin cancer. This means capacity is freed up so clinicians
can spend more time diagnosing and treating patients; and patients do not
need to make unnecessary trips to hospital, receiving results from routine
surveillance tests via their computer, telephone, or by letter in their own home
 Wellbeing Enterprises supported over 350 people newly diagnosed with
cancer in Liverpool to have a Holistic Needs Assessment, and access the
support they needed following this in the community. Macmillan offered
significant funding to Liverpool for delivery of the ‘Right By You’ model to start
in early 2020
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27 people affected by cancer received support from a specialist welfare
support worker based in the community (funded by Macmillan) between April
& January, resulting in £239k of income maximisation
Cancer became a formal workstream in the urgent care world, and work
started to assess for frailty in 2 specialties; the evidence gathered has formed
the basis of further bids to the Cancer Alliance, Macmillan and the STP to
commence service testing in new models of care. This is aiming to bring the
skills of care of the elderly multi disciplinary teams in to work alongside cancer
teams, to maximise independence, and to help prepare patients for treatment
and decisions about care

Cancer performance remained a challenge during 2019/20 so there remains
active work to improve pathways for colorectal cancer; gynae-oncology cancer;
urological cancers; patients who are ‘scope negative’ and experiencing weight loss;
and those on the suspected head and neck cancer pathway ,working in partnership
with the Cancer Alliance. Project managers have been employed to help make
change sustainable and test solutions to persistent problems. Referrals continue to
increase year on year, as well as the number of patients being treated for cancer.
There continued to be a programme of professional engagement and
education, with 10 practices completing modules of the Macmillan primary care
cancer toolkit; meaning they did an in-depth review of how the practice diagnoses
cancer, and supports people living with cancer, generating lots of ideas about
practical changes to implement to improve ways of working. Over 100 staff
participated in cancer face to face training in 2019; the cancer team produced 3
editions of ‘cancer matters in primary care’ newsletter which went to over 220
recipients/subscribers; and 109 GP trainees participated in safety netting training in
Cheshire & Merseyside, developing practical skills to support patients completing
their diagnostic pathway in a timely way

1.16

Reducing Health Inequality

Under Section 14T of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), the CCG
has a legal duty to have regard to the need to reduce inequalities between patients
in access to health services and the outcomes achieved. The CCG is required to
exercise its functions with a view to securing that health services are integrated with
health-related and social care services, where it is considered that this would
improve quality, reduce inequalities in access to those services or reduce
inequalities in the outcomes achieved.
Tackling inequalities is at the heart of Liverpool CCG’s core purpose and is also
reflected in the One Liverpool Strategy, which is focused on tackling the long term
health inequalities that leave the vulnerable and disadvantaged in our city with a
poorer experience of care, fewer years of healthy life and earlier death.
At 78.2 years, Liverpool has the second lowest life expectancy of the English Core
Cities, and the gap with England has widened from 2.9 years in 2010 to 3.2 years in
Page | 56

2017. The CCG’s goal, as a One Liverpool partner, is to halve the projected life
expectancy gap with England to 1.7 years by 2024.
To achieve this the CCG the CCG has committed to commissioning to reduce health
inequalities, with strategies to focus on those parts of our city and cohorts of the
population that have the worst health outcomes.
Success in reducing inequalities will only come from a broader approach across
health, social care and wider strategic partnerships pulling in the same direction to
improve population health. In 2019/20, the CCG put in place the strategy and
created the environment for collaboration and new ways of working to move in this
direction.
Summarised below are some the schemes to address health inequalities in 2019/20:
CURE Pilot: the CCG has invested in a 12-month pilot at the Royal and Aintree
Hospitals within acute care for in-patients, with the aim of reducing the impact of readmission, healthcare utilisation & mortality.
Smoke Free Start to Life: A large-scale tobacco control strategy to reduce smoking
and exposure to second-hand smoke for children. The Liverpool Smokefree Home
Programme is delivered in partnership with Housing, Children's Centres, Schools,
Fire and Rescue and NHS partners. The programme also supports women to cease
smoking during pregnancy.
Refugee and Asylum Seeker Health: This CCG-funded project brings together
service providers to design and develop a co-ordinated health response to better
meet the needs of the growing numbers of refugees and asylum-seekers arriving
and settling in Liverpool.
Liverpool Quality Improvement Scheme (GP Specification): The CCG has
invested additional funds, above the core contract for primary care, since 2011. The
specification is intended to improve the quality and consistency of General Practice
across the city in order to improve the health of patients, reduce variation in quality
and access and reduce health inequalities. The 2019-21 specification further
developed the focus on variation in outcome for patient populations.

1.17

Health and Wellbeing Strategy

The delivery of the city’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy requires involvement from all
member so the Liverpool Health and Wellbeing Board and its partner organisations.
Liverpool CCG is formally represented on the Health and Wellbeing Board and has
been an integral partner since it was established in 2013. A summary of the business
of the Health and Wellbeing Board can be found in section 1.3.4.
In 2019/20 the work of the Board was informed predominantly by the strategic
intentions set out in Liverpool Inclusive Growth Plan and the One Liverpool Strategy.
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The Inclusive plan provides an ambitious vision for Liverpool: a strong and growing
city, built on fairness, with six aims:







Investing in children and young people.
People who live well and age well.
Quality homes in thriving neighbourhoods.
A strong and inclusive economy.
A connected and accessible city with quality infrastructure.
Liverpool - the most exciting city in the UK

The One Liverpool Strategy sets out the direct and indirect contributions from the
NHS and social care to realise this vision.

1.18

Better Care Fund (BCF)

The Better Care Fund brings together NHS and local authority social care budgets to
support more person centred, co-ordinated care. Amongst other things, the fund it to
deliver against a set of nationally defined metrics:




Non-elective Admissions
Delayed Transfers of Care
Still at home 91 days after discharge from re-ablement services
Permanent admissions to care homes

The total value of the Liverpool BCF in 2019/20 was £116.664m; of which £68.885m
was contributed by Liverpool City Council and £47.779m from Liverpool CCG.
A Section 75 Agreement has been in place between the CCG and City Council since
the formation of the CCG in April 2013. The Agreement has been revised
periodically to reflect the changing nature of the aligned funds and has been subject
to formal approval annually by both the CCG and City Council.
The schemes that the Liverpool BCF supports have the following ambitions:


Focus on prevention and population health management; building on
prevention and early help services;



Urgent care that is integrated with primary, community, mental health and
social care, reducing the need for emergency or unplanned interventions;



Ensuring people with ongoing care needs receive more coordinated care, with
more services in the home and community settings, delivered by fully
integrated, Community Care Teams including mental health, by linking
hospital specialists to community-based care, and making greater use of
technology to deliver care remotely;



Supporting people with the most complex health needs through provision of a
range of services in community settings.
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As the CCG and Liverpool City Council move forward together in jointly
commissioning establishing for a place-based, integrated system of care in
Liverpool, there are opportunities for the BCF to be further harnessed as a vehicle to
support the achievement of our joint strategic commissioning objectives and plans,
as set out in the One Liverpool Strategy and the City Plan.

1.19

Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Obligations

Promoting equality is at the heart of our core values, ensuring that we commission
services fairly and that no community or group is not involved and engaged in the
changes that will be made to health services to meet the challenges the NHS faces,
as outlined in the Five Year Forward View and NHS Long Term Plan.
Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) will continue to work internally, and
in partnership with our providers, community and voluntary sector and other key
organisations to ensure that we advance equality of opportunity and meet the
exacting requirements of the Equality Act 2010.
Due regard to the Equality Act 2010
The CCG is required to pay ‘due regard’ to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
as defined by the Equality Act 2010. Failure to comply has legal, financial and
reputational risks.
The key functions that enable us to make commissioning decisions, and monitor the
performance of our providers, must demonstrate (in an auditable manner) that the
needs of protected groups have been considered in:







Commissioning processes
Consultation and engagement
Procurement functions
Contract specifications
Quality contract and performance schedules
Governance systems

The Equality Act requires us to meet our Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) across
a range of protected characteristics, including age, disability, gender, gender
reassignment, race, sexual orientation, religion/belief, marital/civil partnership status
and pregnancy/maternity status.
“Due regard” is a legal requirement and means that the decision makers of the CCG
has to give advanced consideration (consider the equality implications of a proposal
before a decision has been made) to issues of ‘equality and discrimination’ before
making any commissioning decision or policy that may affect or impact on people
who share protected characteristics. It is vitally important to consider equality
implications as an integral part of the work and activities that the CCG does,
particularly during these difficult and challenging times.
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The CCG continues to carry out Equality Analysis reports – commonly known as
Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs). These reports test the proposal and say
whether it meets PSED and ultimately complies with the Equality Act 2010. Failure to
carry out Equality considerations would be grounds for Judicial Review and may
result in poor outcomes and widen health inequalities.
The CCG is becoming stronger at developing and delivering Equality Analysis
reports and linking them to the current change programmes however there is still
progress to be made. All staff are aware of the support mechanisms in place to help
them and the organisation to develop and deliver timely and accurate reports.
Equality Delivery Systems 2
The CCG adopted the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) toolkit as its performance
toolkit to support the NHS England Assurance process on equality and diversity.
The CCG is ‘achieving’ status across twelve outcome areas and ‘developing’ status
in six outcomes. Caution should always apply to performance managing equality
performance as health inequalities across the north of England are poor and PSED
is an anticipatory duty and always applies to us as and when we make
commissioning decisions that impact on patients.
The CCG Equality & Inclusion Service (Merseyside CCGs Shared Service is hosted
by South Sefton CCG) has led on implementing EDS 2 across the CCG and
Merseyside through an innovative and collaborative way. All Merseyside Clinical
Commissioning Groups including Liverpool CCG and all the main NHS providers
who operate within the sub region have worked collaboratively to implement the
toolkit via an integrated approach. Key providers have included Alder Hey Children’s
NHS FT, The Walton Centre NHS FT, Liverpool Heart & Chest Hospital NHS FT,
Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS FT, Mersey Care NHS FT and Liverpool Women’s
NHS FT, Liverpool University Hospitals NHS FT (previously both, Aintree University
Hospital NHS FT and Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Hospital NHS Trust),
and St Helens & Knowsley Hospital Service NHS Trust.
Equality Objectives
The CCG approved their Equality Objectives Plan (2019 to 2023) in April 2019. This
was approved by the Quality Committee and the Governing Body.
The CCG’s equality objectives are to:





Make fair and transparent commissioning decisions.
Improve access and outcomes for patients and communities who experience
disadvantage.
Improve the equality performance of our providers through robust monitoring
and collaboration.
Empower and engage our workforce.

Key progress and highlights against our Equality Objectives over the past year
include:
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Continuing to monitor and drive improvements in Equality and public law compliance
across all key NHS providers through the quality contract schedule. Key areas of
focus include:
 Information standards, including reasonable adjustments are implemented
and meet the needs of our disabled community
 Decision making across trusts pays ‘due regard’ to our Public Sector Equality
Duty prior to decisions being made
 Ensuring specific duties are met
Highlights include:














Improvements across compliance against specific duties, information standards
and reasonable adjustments. Progression around NHS Provider compliance to
paying ‘due regard’ to PSED in relation to service change has been incremental
however all of NHS Providers continue to be rated non-compliant against this
indicator. The CCG will continue to hold Providers to account over 2020/2021.
A Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) and guidance on how to provide
Reasonable Adjustments (RA) has been developed by the Collaborative, in close
partnership with organisations that represent disabled people. NHS Providers
involved in the collaborative will implement the SOP over the next year.
Local Translation and Interpretation Quality Standards to remove variation and
poor outcomes for people whose first language is not English or people who
communicate via British Sign Language has been developed and are being
approved across all NHS providers.
The unified Transgender pathway developed via the Cheshire Merseyside
Gender Identify Collaborative (CMAGIC), which the CCG has supported, will
become part of the NHSE specialised commissioning pathway for Gender Identity
Clinics from April 2020. The pathway is currently being considered for roll out
across the Cheshire & Merseyside Care Partnership.
NHS Liverpool CCG has adopted a Merseyside wide strategic plan to improve
access to health services for D/deaf people across Merseyside and all CCGs and
providers are reporting progress via the Equality Collaborative and contract
process.
The Equality service has developed a number of work streams to improve NHS
wide understanding of the link between cultural sensitivity/understanding diversity
and the impact this has on patient safety and experience. This has included
raising awareness to NHS providers and Executive leads at CCG and NHS
Provider Contract meetings and via the development of a training tool to support
serious incident panels and investigators. This will be rolled out across the CCG
in 2020 and then replicated by all NHS providers who make up the Equality
Collaborative in the next financial year.
The CCG continues to work closely with our Black Asian and Minority Ethnic
(BAME) community development service and ensure intelligence on poor access
and outcomes are addressed locally.

Our Staff
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The CCG has duties to meet under the Equality Act 2010 in relation to workforce and
organisational development. The CCG takes positive steps to ensure that our
policies deal with equality implications around recruitment and selection, pay and
benefits, flexible working hours, training and development, policies around managing
employees and protecting employees from harassment, victimisation and
discrimination. It is mandatory for all our staff to complete equality training and, in
addition, we have a workforce equality plan, which has contributed to us paying due
regard to our Workforce Race Equality Standard. Positive action initiatives this year
included working across the Equality Collaborative to begin to connect all NHS
provider Staff Support Networks and develop a CCG Staff Support offer. The CCG
is also a part of Cheshire & Merseyside STP EDI Steering Group which has
prioritised the following areas:





Developing a range of programmes to enhance opportunities for staff from
BAME and other protected groups
Utilising Workforce Equality Standards to bring about change and opportunity
Advising on STP Workforce and Educational strategy programmes
Reviewing recruitment programmes and promotional strategies to encourage
wider involvement from minority communities

Case Studies
Tackling the Causes of Ill Health
An evaluation of the ground-breaking Advice on Prescription service,
commissioned by NHS Liverpool CCG and run by Citizens Advice Liverpool
(CAB), has highlighted how it is helping some of the city’s most vulnerable
households to increase their income and reduce debt.
The CCG first announced a new five-year contract for Advice on Prescription in
2016, representing a £2.5 million investment as part of its mental health strategy.
Operating from 50 locations across the city, the service enables Liverpool GPs to
refer patients for assistance from CAB advisors on a wide range of issues affecting
their health including: housing, homelessness, job loss, complex debt issues and
benefits advice.
Figures compiled by the CCG and the CAB show that between 2016 and 2018 the
service resulted in:





A total of £6.7 million in income maximisation – helping people make sure
they are receiving all the financial support available to them and reducing
debt and other outgoings where possible.
An average increase in household income for referred patients of £762.
Helping people to manage debt totalling £2.7 million – with more than
£157,200 of this written off.

The service was developed after GPs reported a rise in patients presenting with
problems that had a practical rather than medical cause, reflecting the strong link
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between social and economic hardship and poor health.
The evaluation, published in summer 2019, found that nearly 57% of people
referred to the service had a monthly household income below £800, and 62% of
referrals came from the most deprived areas of the city.
Advice on Prescription reports high levels of satisfaction with both those using the
service and GPs who refer people into it. 77% of patients reported an increase in
their capacity to manage their own physical and/or mental health, and 23%
reported an increase in their capacity to maintain somewhere to live and avoid
eviction.
The service has proved very successful because it gives GPs and other health and
care professionals a clear route to help patients who might need help to tackle
problems which are having a negative effect on their mental health, while also
reducing the pressure on GP practices. The full report is available by searching
‘Advice on Prescription’ on the CCG website.

Supporting People with Communication Needs
Over the last year, NHS Liverpool CCG has been working with local NHS trusts
and other key partners to help identify some of the challenges faced by people
with communication needs when accessing health services.
Being able to communicate with patients is an essential part of providing safe,
effective care, and the NHS has a legal duty to ensure that health services are
accessible, but feedback has told us that some people don’t get the support they
need.
In response, the CCG launched a new city-wide campaign reminding both NHS
patients and staff of the 5 rights that everyone has when accessing healthcare
services – including those who are D/deaf, blind, visually impaired, have speech or
language difficulties, or any other communication need.
The 5 Steps for NHS staff to take are:
1. Ask if you have any communication needs.
2. Record those needs on your health records.
3. Ensure that those needs are easily visible on your records.
4. Share those needs with other services if you are being referred.
5. Make sure those needs are met as part of ALL care.
The campaign launch coincided with National Deaf Awareness Week 2019 (6-12
May), and was supported by hospitals, GP practices and other NHS services
across Liverpool. It is part of a wider piece of work to look improve care for
patients with communication needs, informed by initial engagement with the
D/deaf community. For more information search for ‘5 rights’ on
www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk
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Using Technology to Support Care Home Residents
NHS Liverpool CCG has commissioned a city-wide telemedicine service
connecting older peoples’ care homes to healthcare professionals via 24-7 access
to video link.
The platform provides care home teams with 24-hour access to multi-disciplinary
clinicians who can provide assessment and re-assessment for residents if needed.
It means that staff can access help and advice as soon as a resident shows signs
of becoming ill, rather than resorting to calling an emergency ambulance for
support out of hours.
The service, supplied by Immedicare, has been rolled out in 55 older peoples’ care
homes in the city over the past two years to help support care home staff, reduce
pressure on frontline services, and improve quality of life for care home residents.
It’s part of the wider Liverpool Care Home Advanced Model of Provision, a joint
strategy between NHS Liverpool CCG, Liverpool City Council and the care home
community.
Data from the early pilot phase demonstrated a 22% reduction in hospital
admission rates from the participating care homes over an initial ten-month period.
But it’s not just about the numbers – the approach is leading to a better quality of
life for individual care home residents too, by helping them to avoid unnecessary
hospital transfers and admissions.
This is important because a hospital attendance or admission can be distressing
for frail, elderly residents, and disruptive to their ongoing care. It also creates
pressure for the ambulance service and accident & emergency departments, at a
time when services are already stretched.
According to Immedicare, 60% of all telemedicine consultations via its hub do not
require any onward referral, and 90% result in patients being able to remain in
their place of residence.

Saving Lives with Early Diagnosis
Every year over 500 people are diagnosed with lung cancer in Liverpool – nearly
double the national average – and many of those are only identified when the
cancer is at a more advanced stage, when it can be harder to treat.
But the ground-breaking Liverpool Healthy Lung Programme, commissioned by
NHS Liverpool CCG, is catching lung cancer early and improving outcomes for
patients.
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Residents aged 58-75 with a history of smoking are invited to a lung health check
at their GP practice. Those deemed high risk are then offered a CT scan, which
they can have at one of three local hospitals, Liverpool Heart and Chest, Aintree or
the Royal Liverpool.
Over 13,000 people have taken up the opportunity so far, with nearly 5,000 people
having had a CT scan as a result.
In 2019 the programme hit a key milestone, after diagnosing and treating 100
cases of lung cancer, which is an average of around two or three new diagnoses
every month over the life of the programme. Significantly, over 80% of those
diagnosed were at an early stage.
In fact, the programme has been so successful that NHS England has now
invested around £70 million to fund similar programmes in other areas in other
areas across the country.
One patient who has already benefitted from the screening is Glenys, 64 from
West Derby. She said: “I am so incredibly grateful to the Liverpool Healthy Lung
Programme. It’s just marvellous. I received my letter and booked an appointment
straight away. At the initial appointment, I was asked if I would go for a CT scan
and, even though I was a little nervous, I said yes and thank goodness I did.
“I had a nodule on my right lung which turned out to be lung cancer. At the time, I
was terrified. I didn’t think there was a cure for lung cancer, so I believed I was
going to die. But treatments have come a long way, and because it was found so
early I could have surgery to remove the cancer.
“I went in on the Tuesday and was home by Friday. I was a little sore, as you’d
expect, but I’ve recovered really well and don’t even notice that a part of my lung is
now missing!”
For more information visit:
www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/health-and-services/healthy-lungs/

2.

Accountability Report

2.1

Members Report

2.1.1

Member Practices

The following table includes details of the 85 Practices that comprise the
membership of Liverpool CCG as at the 31st March 2020:
Liverpool Central Locality
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Practice Name

Practice Address

Abercromby Health Centre (Dr. Vithlani)

Grove Street

L7 7HG

Benim Medical Centre (Dr. Gupta)

2 Penvalley Crescent

L6 3BY

Bigham Rd Medical Centre (Dr.
Ramamoorthy)

Bigham Road

L6 6DW

Brownlow Health @ Marybone (Dr. Exley) Marybone Unit 1, 2 Vauxhall Road

L3 2BG

Brownlow Health (Dr. Gaynor)

L69 3GF

70 Pembroke Place
Branch sites
Ropewalks
26 Argyle Street
L1 5DL
Student Health
University of Liverpool
Peach Street
L69 7ZL
Princes Park Health Centre, Bentley Road

L8 0SY

Kensington Neighbourhood Centre, Edge Lane

L7 8SJ

Derby Lane Medical Centre (Dr. Barba)
Dovecot Family Health Centre (Dr. Bayer)

88 Derby Lane
Longreach Road

L13 3DN
L14 0NL

Dunstan Village Group Practice (Dr.
Majeed)

131 Earle Road

L7 6HD

Earle Road Medical Centre (Dr. Noorpuri)

131 Earle Road

L7 6HD

Edge Hill Health Centre (Dr. Binder)
Fairfield General Practice (Dr. Karam)

Kensington Neighbourhood Centre, Edge Lane
2 Penvalley Crescent

L7 8SJ
L6 3BY

Green Lane Medical Centre (Dr. Graham)

15 Green Lane

L13 7DY

Brownlow Health @ Princes Park (Dr.
Faint)
Brownlow Health @ Kensington (Dr.
Houghton)

Liverpool Central Locality (continued)
Practice Name

Practice Address

Hornspit Medical Centre (Dr. Pramanik)

Hornspit Lane

L12 5LT

Knotty Ash Medical Centre (Dr. Mirza)

411 East Prescot Road

L14 2DE

Old Swan Health Centre (Dr. Ho)

Crystal Close

L13 2GA

Park View Medical Centre (Dr. Jude)

Park View Medical Centre , Orphan Drive

L6 7UN

Picton Green Medical Centre (Dr.
Dhulipala)

Picton Neighbourhood Health & Children’s Centre, 137
Earle Road

L7 6HD

Rock Court Surgery (Dr. Sherwood)

4 Crystal Close

L13 2GA

Sefton Park Medical Centre (Dr. O’Brien)
St. James' Health Centre (Dr. Chatwin)
Stoneycroft Medical Centre (Dr. Eccles)

Smithdown Road
29 Great George Street
Stoneville Road

L15 2LQ
L1 5DZ
L13 6QD

Vauxhall Health Centre (Dr. McKendrick)
West Derby Medical Centre (Dr. Eccles)

Limekiln Lane
3 Winterburn Crescent

L5 8XR
L12 8TQ

Yew Tree Centre (Dr. Razvi)

Berryford Road

L14 4ED

Matchworks (South Locality)
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Practice Name

Practice Address

The Ash Surgery (Dr. Johnson)

1 Ashfield Road

L17 0BY

Belle Vale Health Centre (Dr. Allen)

Hedgefield Road

L25 2XE

Dingle Park Practice (Dr. Sutcliffe)

Park Street

L8 6QP

Edge Hill Health @ Mossley Hill Surgery
(Dr. Binder)

73 Queens Drive, Mossley Hill

L18 2DU

The Elms Medical Centre (Dr. Moore)

3 The Elms

L8 3SS

Fulwood Green Medical Centre (Dr.
Bowers)

Jericho Lane

L17 4AR

Garston Family Health Centre (Dr. Jude)
Gateacre Brow Surgery (Dr. Caldwell)

South Liverpool Treatment Centre, 32 Church Road

L19 2LW

1 Gateacre Brow

L25 3PA

Branch site
256 Hunts Cross Avenue
Liverpool
Merseyside
L25 8QT
49 Belle Vale Road

L25 2PA

Grassendale General Practice (Dr.
Baxter)

23 Darby Road

L19 9BP

Greenbank Drive Surgery (Dr. O’Connor)

8 Greenbank Drive

L17 1AW

Greenbank Road Surgery (Dr. Barnett)

1B Greenbank Road

L18 1HG

Hunts Cross Health Centre (Dr. Schmidt)

70 Hillfoot Road

Lance Lane Medical Centre (Dr.
Sreeguru)

19 Lance Lane

L25
0ND
L15 6TS

The Margaret Thompson Medical
Centre (Dr. Bremner)

105 East Millwood Road

L24 6TH

Gateacre Medical Centre (Dr. Mittal)

Matchworks (South Locality - continued)
Practice Name

Practice Address

Mather Avenue Surgery (Dr.
Hargreaves)

584 Mather Avenue

L19 4UG

Netherley Health Centre (Dr. Jude)

Netherley Health Centre, Middlemass Hey

L27 7AF

Oak Vale Medical Centre (Dr. Cranney)

215 Childwall Road

L15 6UT

Penny Lane Surgery (Dr. Mullen)

7 Smithdown Place

L15 9EH

Riverside Centre For Health (Dr Hegde
and Jude) – N82646

Park Street
Branch site
Picton Neighbourhood Health & Children’s Centre 137
Earle Road
Park Street

L8 6QP

80 Rocky Lane

L16 1JD

Riverside Centre For Health (Dr Jude) –
N82091
Rocky Lane Surgery (Dr. Artioukh)

Rutherford Medical Centre (Dr. Cuthbert) 1 Rutherford Road
Sandringham Medical Centre (Dr. Jude)
Speke Health Centre (Dr Mangarai)

L8 6QP

L18 0HJ

1a Aigburth Road
75 South Parade (closed

L7 6HD

L17 4JP
28th

January 2020)

L24 2XP
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Speke Health Centre (Dr Singh)

75 South Parade

L24 2XP

Speke Health Centre (Dr Thakur)

75 South Parade

L24 2XP

West Speke Health Centre (Dr Jude)

West Speke Health Centre, Blacklock Hall Road

L24 3TY

Storrsdale Medical Centre (Dr.
Murugesh)
The Valley Medical Centre (Dr.
O’Donnell)

1 Storrsdale Road

L18 7YJ

75 Hartsbourne Avenue

L25 1RY

Village Medical Centre (Dr. Nielsen)

20 Quarry Street

L25 5JA

Village Surgery (Dr. Brookes)

South Liverpool NHS Treatment Centre, Church Road

L19 2LW

Woolton House Medical Centre (Dr.
Mulrine)

4/6 Woolton Street

L25 5JA

North Locality
Practice Name

Practice Address

Abingdon Family Health Care
Centre (Dr. El-Sayed)

361 Queens Drive

L4 8SJ

Aintree Park Group Practice (Dr. Bose)

46 Moss Lane

L9 8AL

Albion Surgery (Dr. Keyser)
Anfield Group Practice (Dr. Abdi)

Branch site
Oriel Drive
Aintree
L10 6NJ
45 Everton Road
Townsend Lane Neighbourhood Centre, 98
Townsend Lane

L6 2EH
L6 0BB

Bousfield Health Centre (Dr Jude)
N82077

Westminster Road

L4 4PP

Bousfield Health Centre (Dr. Jude)
N82078

Westminster Road

L4 4PP

Ellergreen Medical Centre (Dr. Shiffman) 24 Carr Lane

L11 2RY

Fir Tree Drive Medical Centre (Dr. Jude)

L12 0JE

Fir Tree Drive South

North Locality (continued)
Practice Name

Practice Address

Gilmoss Medical Centre (Dr.
Rastogi)

48 Petherick Road

L11 0AG

Great Homer Street Surgery (Dr.
Abrams)

Mere Lane Neighbourhood Centre, Mere Lane

L5 0QW

Grey Road Surgery (Dr. Bliss)
Islington House Surgery (Dr. O’Connor)

Breeze Hill Neighbourhood Health Centre 1-3 Rice
Lane
45 Everton Road

L9 1AD
L6 2EH

Jubilee Medical Centre (Dr. Foster)
Kirkdale Medical Centre (Dr. Bajaj)

52 Croxteth Hall Lane
14 Waller Close, Kirkdale

L11 4UG
L4 4QJ

Langbank Medical Centre (Dr.
Murugesh)

Broad Lane, Norris Green

L11 1AD
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Long Lane Medical Centre (Dr.
Callaghan)

Long Lane, Aintree

L9 6DQ

Mere Lane Practice (Dr. Khan)

Mere Lane Neighbourhood Centre, Mere Lane

L5 0QW

Moss Way Surgery (Dr. Kukaswadia)

53 Moss Way, Croxteth

L11 0BL

Poulter Road Medical Centre (Dr.
Ghose)
Priory Medical Centre (Dr. Connolly)

34 Poulter Road

L9 0HJ

Belmont Grove

L6 4EW

Stopgate Lane Medical Centre (Dr.
Syed)
Stanley Medical Centre (Dr Jude)

6 Stopgate Lane

L9 6AP

Stanley Medical Centre, 60 Stanley Road

L5 2QA

Townsend Medical Centre (Dr. Kumar)

Townsend Lane N’hood Centre, 98 Townsend Lane

L4 8SJ

Walton Medical Centre (Dr. Luck)

Breeze Hill Neighbourhood Health Centre, 1-3 Rice
Lane
172 Walton Village

L9 1AD

Walton Village Medical Centre (Dr.
Razvi)

L4 6TW

Westminster Medical Centre (Dr. Kalyan) Aldams Grove, W estminster Road

L4 3TT

Westmoreland GP Centre (Dr. Cavadino) Aintree Hospital, Lower Lane

L9 7AL

2.1.2

Chair and Accountable Officer

For the year 2019/20 the office of Chair of the CCG was held by Dr Fiona Lemmens
whilst the role of Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) was held by Jan Ledward.

2.1.3

Composition of the Governing Body

The membership of the Governing Body up to the signing of the Annual Report and
Accounts has been as follows:
Governing Body Members:
Dr Fiona Lemmens
Jan Ledward
Mark Bakewell
Jane Lunt
Helen Dearden
Gerry Gray
Sally Houghton
Carol Rodgers

GP/Chair
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)
Chief Finance & Contracting Officer
Director of Quality, Outcomes and Improvement
Lay Member Governance / Non-Clinical Vice Chair
Lay Member Financial Management and Oversight
Lay Member / Audit Chair
Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement (from
01/10/2019)
Cathy Maddaford
Non-Executive (from 01/04/2019)
Dr Peter Kirkbride
Secondary Care Doctor (from 01/04/2019)
Dr Janet Bliss
GP/Clinical Vice Chair
Dr Monica Khuraijam
GP
Dr Paula Finnerty
GP
Dr
Fiona
Ogden- GP
Forde
Dr Shamim Rose
GP
Dr Maurice Smith
GP
Dr David O’Hagan
GP (from 01/11/2019)
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Dr Stephen Sutcliffe
Dr Ian Pawson

GP (until 29/02/2020)
GP (until 31/07/2019)

Co-opted Members (non-voting):
Dr Rob Barnett
Cllr Paul Brant
Cllr Barry Kushner
Martin Farran
Sandra Davies

2.1.4

Secretary, Liverpool LMC
Cabinet Member, Health and Social Care, Liverpool City
Council Representative,
Cabinet Member, Children’s and Social Care, Liverpool City
Council Representative
Director of Adult Social Care, Liverpool City Council
Director of Public Health, Liverpool City Council (until
December 2019)

Committee(s), including Audit Committee

The CCG has in place the following committees:







Audit Risk and Scrutiny
Primary Care Commissioning
Quality Safety and Outcomes
Finance Procurement and Contracting
Human Resources
Remuneration

Further details of their role and membership can be found on pages 74 to 80
The membership of the Audit Risk and Scrutiny Committee is as follows:





Sally Houghton – Lay Member/Audit Committee Chair
Helen Dearden – Lay Member / Audit Committee Vice Chair
Dr Peter Kirkbride – Secondary Care Doctor (member from 01/04/20)
Dr Stephen Sutcliffe – GP (until 29/02/20)

A third lay member is included in the membership of the committee’s Terms of
Reference, which was fulfilled previously by the Lay Member for Patient and Public
Involvement.
In attendance:





Mark Bakewell – Chief Finance and Contracting Officer
Internal Audit Representative – Mersey Internal Audit Agency
Counter Fraud Representative - Mersey Internal Audit Agency
External Audit Representative – Grant Thornton UK LLP
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2.1.5

Register of Interests

Conflicts of interest are inevitable in commissioning and it is therefore essential that
the CCG has robust arrangements in place to manage actual or potential conflicts
appropriately. The CCG complies with the revised 2017 statutory guidance
published by NHS England (NHSE) that includes a number of strengthened
safeguards to mitigate the risk of real and perceived conflicts of interest arising in
CCGs. All formal Governing Body and Committee meeting agendas commence with
a ‘Declaration of Interest’ and the Chair of the meeting will address any declarations
made in accordance with the formal Conflicts of Interest Policy; recording any such
matters and actions in the formal minutes of the meeting. Each CCG has a statutory
requirement to ensure uptake of mandatory conflicts of interest training for specific
groups, including Governing Body Members, senior managers, and officers/
clinicians involved in commissioning and procurement. Liverpool CCG mandates all
staff to complete at least one module of the NHS England online training.
Compliance with the NHSE requirements and uptake amongst staff is also regularly
monitored and audited in-year.
All CCGs are required to make publicly available their Registers of Interest, Register
of Gifts and Hospitality and Register of Procurement Decisions. The most up-to-date
versions of each register can be found on the Liverpool CCG website:
https://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/about-us/publications/registers-and-policies/.
All the above registers are also available in paper format and are accessible to the
public at the CCG’s Headquarters in Liverpool City Centre.

2.1.6

Personal Data Related Incidents

During 2019/20 there were no Serious Incidents (SI) relating to data security
breaches in the CCG and no incidents in the CCG that were required to be reported
to the Information Commissioner.

2.1.7

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors

Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:


So far as the member is reasonably aware, that there is no relevant audit
information of which the clinical commissioning group’s external auditor is
unaware; and



The member has taken all reasonable steps that they ought to have taken as
a member in order to make them self-aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the clinical commissioning group’s auditor is aware of
that information.

In addition:
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All Governing Body members confirm that they were not aware of any unreported
fraud, nor had they been subject to any investigation or litigation.

2.1.8

Modern Slavery Act

Liverpool CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern
slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an
annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in The Modern Slavery
Act 2015.

2.2

Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed Jan Ledward to be the Accountable Officer of Liverpool CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under The National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include
responsibilities for:


The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable,



For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time, the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and
enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the
Accounts Direction),



For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities),



The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public
Money,



Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically
(in accordance with Section 14Q of The National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of
services (in accordance with Section14R of The National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended)),



Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to
223J of The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year
financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.
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The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply
with the requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of
Health and in particular to:


Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies
on a consistent basis;



Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;



State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and
disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; and,



Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the
responsibilities set out under The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended),
Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter.
I also confirm that:


As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s
auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps
that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.



That the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and
accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and
understandable.

Jan Ledward
Accountable Officer

2.3

Governance Statement

2.3.1

Introduction and Context
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The Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established by NHS
England on 1st April 2013 under The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)
and is licenced by NHS England.
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory functions are set out under The
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is
arranging the provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service
in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain
health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable
requirements of its local population.

2.3.2

Scope of Responsibility

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned
to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out
under The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical
commissioning group as set out in this governance statement.

2.3.3 Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the Group has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of
good governance as are relevant to it.
The CCG Constitution is constructed around the exemplar model constitution
provided by NHS England, with the Governing Body advised as to the need for any
specific amendments by our legal advisers Hill Dickinson LLP. The agreed
amendments made from the exemplar model primarily reflected the landscape of the
membership practices in the city and the committee structure adopted by the CCG.
The Constitution includes the Group’s ‘Scheme of Reservation and Delegation’
which sets out those matters that are reserved for the membership as a whole and
those that are the responsibilities of the Governing Body. The Constitution also sets
out the Groups arrangements for ‘whistle blowing’ (Freedom to Speak Up), conflicts
of interest management and standards of business conduct.
The Governing Body - During 2019/20 the Governing Body has continued to
provide the strategic leadership and accountability for the organisation’s business
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and activities. As Liverpool CCG has forged even closer commissioning relationships
with our system partners throughout the year, the Group’s governance arrangements
have been further strengthened to ensure continued transparency and accountability
for its decision making.
Members of the Governing Body have continued to make significant and valuable
contributions to the work of numerous collaborative commissioning forums; including
the Liverpool Health and Wellbeing Board, Joint Commissioning Group, North
Mersey Joint Committee and the Local Safeguarding Board. Since the launch of the
‘One Liverpool’ Plan in April 2019, external relationships and engagement with
partners and stakeholders has significantly increased in focus, with Governing Body
members playing crucial roles in engaging with the Local Authority, local
communities, Trust Chief Executives, Chairs, Councillors and local MPs to obtain
commitment to deliver the ambitions and objectives of the ‘One Liverpool Plan’ for
our local population.
The role of the Governing Body has continued to evolve and mature, with members
taking numerous opportunities for internal and external development during 2019/20
with the aim of expanding and enhancing their personal (and collective) knowledge
and clinical leadership skills. During the year, members have engaged and shared
learning with regional and national colleagues, whilst the ongoing bimonthly
‘informal’ Governing Body development sessions have provided an important
platform for in-depth discussion and debate on the key policy and strategy
development which directly informs and shapes the formal business of the
organisation. Opportunities for shared learning play a particularly important role in
supporting the ongoing development of the organisation and its Governing Body.
During 2019/20, the CCG embarked on a significant reconfiguration of its
Organisational Development Plan, which included embedding a new set of
organisational values, behaviours through extensive staff engagement and
involvement. The CCG has continued to engage and involve members through city
wide and neighbourhood events, strengthening relationships between the Governing
Body members and our membership of practices.
The global outbreak of the Covid-19 virus pandemic has led to unprecedented
uncertainty for all NHS organisations, requiring urgent business continuity
arrangements to be implemented. Although the onset of the pandemic was in the last
month of 2019/20, it does impact on the Annual Governance Statement, particularly
with regards to risks, controls and mitigation.
The CCG has assumed significant responsibilities since a level 4 incident was
declared, due to the pandemic. A COVID-19 Incident Management Group has been
established, working with the Merseyside Resilience Forum (LRF) to review and
align arrangements within our area.
The CCG has reviewed and implemented Business Continuity Plans to ensure we
are prepared to manage the virus.
Clear executive leadership has been established to manage the CCG’s response to
the pandemic and to ensure our business critical responsibilities are identified and
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delivered. This situation has required urgent decision-making and allocation of
COVID-19 funding, which has been supported with clear governance processes,
robust financial controls and clear evidence of decision making.
The CCG will continue to hold Board meetings and other statutory committees, to
ensure that we exercise our functions effectively and we are accountable for key
decisions.
The COVID-19 pandemic will dominate the CCG’s business and approach to
governance for much, if not all, of 2020/21.

Jan Ledward
Sally Houghton
Dr Janet Bliss
Mark Bakewell
Dr Fiona Lemmens
Dr Monica Khuraijam
Dr Fiona Ogden-Forde
Jane Lunt
Dr Shamim Rose
Dr Maurice Smith
Helen Dearden
Gerry Gray
Dr Steve Sutcliffe
(LEFT 29/2/2020)
Dr Ian Pawson (LEFT
31/07/2019)
Dr Paula Finnerty
Dr Peter Kirkbridge
(STARTED
01/04/2019)
Catherine Maddaford
(STARTED
01/04/2019)
Carol Rogers
(STARTED 01/10/19)
Dr David O'Hagan
(STARTED 01/11/19)

5/6
6/6
5/6
5/6
6/6
4/6
6/6
5/6
4/6
4/6
6/6
5/6
4/5

1/6
6/6
–
5/6
–
–
–
–
–
–
6/6
–
4/6

1/6
5/6
–
3/6
1/6
–
–
–
5/6
3/6
6/6
–
–

–
3/5
–
2/5
–
–
–
–
3/5
4/5
5/5
–
–

6/11
–
11/11
–
–
–
7/11
–
8/11
11/11
7/11
–

1/11
–
–
8/11
–
–
8/11
11/11
9/11
–
–
–
7/10

4/6
–
1/6
5/6
2/6
6/6
–
3/6
–
–
6/6
–
6/6

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

4/4
–
–
1/4
3/4
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

8/10
10/10
6/10
10/10
9/10
8/10
9/10
7/10
6/10
7/10
7/10
10/10
7/10

2/2

–

0/1

–

3/4

–

–

–

–

3/4

5/6
6/6

–
6/6

–
–

4/5
–

–
–

–
8/11

5/6
–

–
–

–
–

10/10
8/9

6/6

–

–

–

–

10/11

6/6

–

–

7/10

3/3

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

3/5

3/3

–

–

–

5/5

-

–

–

–

4/4
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GB AWAY DAYS

GB Development
Session (10)

Committee(s) In
Common (4)

North Mersey
Joint
Committee (0)

Primary Care
Commissioning
(6)

Quality, Safety &
Outcomes (11)

Finance,
Procurement &
Contracting (11)

Remuneration
(5)

HR (7)

Audit, Risk &
Scrutiny (6)

Member

Governing Body
(6)

Summary of GB & Committee Attendance from GB Members 01/04/2019 to
31/03/2020

= full Voting Member of GB
*Includes 2 Joint FPCC and PCCC Meetings
Note: For some meetings, GP governors will be excluded due to conflict of interests.

The Governing Body holds its formal public meetings on a bi-monthly basis and
receives standing agenda reporting on financial performance, provider and CCG
performance against delivery of NHS Constitutional standards, quality and safety
and operational/strategic risk management. During 2019/20, the Governing Body
and its Committees have together led and overseen:











Joint oversight and scrutiny with Liverpool City Council of the progress and
delivery of the Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) ‘Written
Statement of Action’;
Increase in provider fee rates of NHS funded nursing care and joint packages of
care commissioned with Liverpool City Council;
The development and adoption of key policies covering such areas as Quality
Impact Assessment (QIA), criteria based treatment, conflicts of interest
management, information governance, human resources and health and safety
policies;
A review of the impact of (and lessons learned from) the CCG’s Community
Grant Programme (Turning Tides)
Delivery of a new model Adult Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder diagnosis
pathway for Liverpool residents;
The continued discharge of our delegated commissioning responsibility for
primary care medical services covering 85 GP Practices in the city;
A revision to the CCG’s Constitution and restructuring of the Committees of the
Governing Body;
Safeguarding children and adults;
A refresh of the ‘One Liverpool’ Strategy.

The Committees of the Governing Body are as follows:
Audit, Risk and Scrutiny – the Committee purpose is to review the establishment
and maintenance of an effective system of integrated governance, risk management
and internal control, across the whole of the CCG’s activities. It also ensures that
there is an effective internal audit function that meets the mandatory NHS Internal
Audit Standards and provides appropriate independent assurance. The Committee
reviews the work and findings of the external auditors and considers the implications
and management’s responses to their work. Other aspects of the Committee’s work
include ensuring that adequate counter fraud arrangements are in place and as
required review the outcomes of counter fraud work. The annual work plan for the
committee is based around best practice guidelines from the NHS Audit Committee
Handbook published by the HFMA.
During the year the Committee has continued to play an important role in the
continued oversight and assurance of the CCG’s governance arrangements and
internal systems of control. This has included the setting and review of the annual
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internal audit cycle, local counter fraud activities (including receipt of the Counter
Fraud Work Plan 2019/20) and the development of effective working relationships
with the appointed external auditors.
Throughout 2019/20 the Committee has overseen the CCG’s response(s) to a
number of Internal Audit Recommendations including (but not limited to) conflicts of
interest management, contracting arrangements for CCG clinical leads and
Governing Body members, risk management and assurance systems and financial
key systems and controls. The Committee has also been instrumental in the
oversight of key organisational policies such as the revised arrangements to comply
with statutory guidance surrounding the management of conflicts of interest and
standards of business conduct.
Remuneration – the Committee role is to make recommendations and
determinations about pay and remuneration for Governing Body members, Senior
Managers and the wider senior leadership team (SLT). This remit includes
recommending pay levels to the Governing Body, reviewing conditions of service
and allowances. During the year the Committee has considered remuneration for the
Governing Body Registered Nurse, IR35 ‘Off Payroll Workers (Intermediaries
Legislation) Policy; a review of Very Senior Management (VSM) remuneration for
2019/20 (including the remuneration for the Chief Finance & Contracting Officer for
the shared role with Knowsley CCG); the Clinical Leadership and Lay Member
Remuneration Framework; mileage rates for non-Agenda for Change CCG roles.
The Committee has continued to meet its remit in making recommendations to the
Governing Body on matters of remuneration and pay uplifts for Very Senior
Managers as required.
Human Resources – the Committee role is to determine and recommend HR
policies and salary frameworks for employees (other than Very Senior Managers),
have oversight of arrangements regarding equality, diversity and inclusion, monitor
corporate workforce organisational performance indicators and mandatory training,
and provide assurance to the Governing Body that performance is managed. During
the year the Committee has reviewed and adopted a variety of key HR policies
including travel expenses and managing sickness. The Committee has also
supported the development of staff side representation in the organisation and
reviewed equality and diversity in the workforce.
Finance, Procurement and Contracting – the Committee has a lead role in
monitoring the financial governance arrangements of the CCG. This includes
responsibility for assuring the delivery of the CCG’s statutory financial duties and
financial reporting arrangements on behalf of the Governing Body. The Committee
has oversight of the delivery of the CCG financial plan and provides assurance
regarding the procurement and contracting activities of the organisation.
During the year the Committee has overseen the development of the organisation’s
financial plans and reviewed monthly financial, contract and activity performance.
Key areas of further work have included oversight of cash releasing efficiency
savings, various procurement activities (including APMS), information governance
compliance and scrutiny of investment proposals.
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Quality, Safety and Outcomes – the Committee is responsible for overseeing
quality and safety processes across all commissioned services, ensuring alignment
with delivery of the NHS Outcomes Framework and for assuring the Governing Body
that quality and patient safety activity is co-ordinated and transparent, ensuring a
coherent and systematic review of the system.
During 2019/20, the Quality, Safety and Outcomes Committee continued to have
oversight of the quality of commissioned services in addition to oversight and
scrutiny of the progress and delivery against the Special Educational Needs &
Disability (SEND) Written Statement of Action. The committee agenda enables
robust oversight of commissioned services from Primary Care through to Specialist
services. This approach not only ensures that the committee is proactive in its
oversight of services, but is also able to react to emerging risks and issues through
effective mitigation actions. The agenda includes; the management of serious
incidents (in line with the national framework); management and reduction of health
care acquired infections; safeguarding performance and areas of ‘quality related’
concerns (for example, mortality rates), complaints reporting and thematic analysis
and reviews of Quality Impact Assessments (QIA). The committee’s principal role is
to seek assurance that commissioned services have robust systems and processes
in place to ensure delivery of quality services and identify areas of concern,
intervene early and improve quality, through a process of learning and support.
Through the Committees work, insight and intelligence, with an assessment of
associated risk, is provided to the NHS England Quality Surveillance Group (QSG)
and other key groups which have a role in oversight of quality risks and concerns, or
in promoting shared learning.
Primary Care Commissioning Committee – The CCG’s Primary Care
Commissioning Committee was instituted in 2015 following NHS England’s approval
of the CCG’s revised Constitution and the successful application to assume
delegated responsibility from NHS England for the commissioning of primary medical
services.
During 2019/20 the Committee has continued to oversee the CCG commissioning
responsibility for the 85 GP Practices in the city. Key areas to note have included
regular scrutiny of performance reports, concerns as to the delivery of the national
primary care support service and prescribing performance and effectiveness. The
Committee has also continued to review the reports from the continuation of the
Care Quality Commission inspection regime of GP Practices and where appropriate
intervene and support Practices to improve. The committee have continued to
oversee the Local Quality Improvement Scheme, and also alongside the FPC
Committee the APMS contracts.
North Mersey Committee(s) in Common – the Committee brings together
representatives from the four North Mersey CCGs; Liverpool, Knowsley, Southport &
Formby and South Sefton, as well as NHS England Specialised Commissioning to
provide oversight of the development of acute service change and other proposals
that impact on our populations.
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During 2019/20 the agenda of the committee has included the review of Urgent &
Emergency Care Service, Acute sector configuration across North Mersey;
proposals for a restructure of orthopaedic services; a review of stroke services and
the Liverpool Universities Hospital Foundation Trust integration.
North Mersey CCG Joint Committee – the committee was established in
November 2018, comprising the four North Mersey CCGs – Knowsley, Liverpool,
South Sefton and Southport and Formby. The committee has delegated decisionmaking authority on specific programmes to enable streamlined and inclusive
governance, particularly for acute services reconfiguration across the North Mersey
geography.

2.3.4

UK Corporate Governance Code

We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However,
we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon best
practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code
we consider to be relevant to the Clinical Commissioning Group and best practice.

2.3.5

Discharge of Statutory Functions

In light of the recommendations in the 2013 Harris Review, the Clinical
Commissioning Group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred
on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated
legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the clinical commissioning
group is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the
statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation
of those functions. Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated
to a senior manager or Governing Body member. Directorates have confirmed that
their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of the
Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory duties.

2.3.6

Risk management Arrangements and Effectiveness

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the
system of internal control within the Clinical Commissioning Group.

2.3.7

Capacity to Handle Risk

The risk management process is led by the Chief Operating Officer who provides
professional leadership and oversight of both the overall process and its application
throughout the organisation. Underpinned by a Risk Management Strategy and
access to best practice and guidance, staff in lead roles across the CCG are
appropriately trained and supported to ensure that the risk management approach is
embedded at all levels in the CCG.
Throughout the year use is made of opportunities, to share and learn from best
practice, including shared learning from internal auditors and legal advisers who both
regularly provide professional seminars and share good practice guidance.
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Risks as already described are assessed and managed in accordance with the Risk
Management and Assurance Strategy approved by the Governing Body. The
effective management of risk is the responsibility of all members of staff and
Governing Body members, who all play a role in ensuring that risks are managed
and mitigated in an effective and sustainable manner. Strategic and significant
operational risks are reported to the Governing Body via the Governing Body
Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register and are subject to regular
review, reassessment and profiling.

2.3.8

Risk Assessment

The management and assessment of risks is governed by the CCG’s Risk
Management and Assurance Strategy which outlines how risks are identified,
assessed against impact and likelihood and managed through either the Governing
Body Assurance Framework (GBAF), the Corporate Risk Register or directorate/
committee risk registers. A five stage process that can be illustrated as follows is in
operation:
Step 1 – Identify Risks

Step 2 – Analyse Risks
Step 5 – Monitor
and Review
Step 3 – Evaluate Risks

Step 4 – Treat Risks

The risk assessment undertaken will reflect both the likelihood and any
consequences of the risk and its potential to:








Cause death, injury or ill health to individuals or groups;
Result in civil claims / litigation against the CCG, a Governing Body Member, or
member of staff;
Result in enforcement action to the CCG;
Cause damage to the environment;
Cause property damage / loss;
Impact on the day to day operational issues of the CCG; or
Result in reputational damage for the CCG;
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The level of risk is assessed using the CCG’s five by five risk matrix by judging the
likelihood of the residual risk occurring and consequences for the CCG should the
event occur. This assessment results in an overall score ranging from 1 to 25 and a
risk level of low, moderate, high or extreme.
The major potential risks to governance, risk management and internal control can
be summarised as follows:
Governance
Information Governance – The legal framework governing the use of personal
confidential data in health care is complex. It includes the NHS Act 2006, the Health
and Social Care Act 2012, General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 2018, and
the Human Rights Act 1998.
The law allows personal data to be shared between those offering care directly to
patients but it protects patients’ confidentiality when data about them are used for
other purposes. These “secondary uses” of data are essential if we are to run a safe,
efficient, and equitable health service. They include:





Reviewing and improving the quality of care provided
Researching what treatments work best
Commissioning clinical services
Planning public health services

The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by a Data Security &
Protection (DSP) toolkit; with an annual submission process providing assurances to
the Clinical Commissioning Group, other organisations and to individuals that
personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.
We have established an information governance management framework and
developed information governance processes and procedures in line with the Data
Security and Protection Toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual data
security awareness training and have briefed staff to ensure they are aware of their
information governance roles and responsibilities.
In line with the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) the CCG has a Data
Protection Officer (DPO) to inform and advise the CCG and employees about the
GDPR obligations and other data protection laws.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and the investigation of serious
incidents. During 2019/20 we reported that there have been no serious incidents
relating to information governance including data loss or confidentiality breaches.
Business Critical Models - As part of the Data Security and Protection Toolkit, the
CCG maintains Information Asset Registers, which identifies business critical assets
Page | 82

within the CCG. Information Asset Owners have been assigned and the Information
Governance Steering Group (IGSG) regularly reviews all information assets. The
Steering Group is chaired by the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) the Chief
Finance and Contracting Officer, who is responsible for identifying and managing
information risk, and the Chief Clinical Information Officer as Caldicott Guardian with
responsibility for overseeing risks relating to patient data.
Conflicts of Interest – as stated earlier in this report conflicts of interest are
inevitable in the commissioning of health services and the CCG regularly updates
and publishes its Registers of Interest, Register of Procurement Decisions and
Register of Gifts and Hospitality on our external facing website to ensure continued
public trust and transparency in our decision making. The additional ‘part two’
meeting of the Finance, Procurement and Contracting Committee has continued to
exclude Governing Body GPs where matters of procurement concerning General
Practice are considered, thereby ensuring any decisions affecting or impacting upon
practice income are made with the best interests of the people of Liverpool and free
from any perceived bias or undue influence.
Risk Management
During 2019/20 Liverpool CCG has continued to develop its approach to risk
management. Strategic risks and operational risks are reported separately via the
Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) and Corporate Risk Register
respectively. A Corporate ‘Issues Log’ is also in place to supplement the GBAF and
Corporate Risk Register (CRR) to ensure a clear demarcation between emerging
risks and current operational issues affecting delivery of plans and objectives. The
transfer of operational issues from the CRR to the Issues Log has led to a much
greater focus at Governing Body level on the actual ‘risks’ to the organisation whilst
enabling a more robust approach to the management and oversight of ‘operational’
issues.
Although Liverpool CCG has embedded risk management and internal controls at all
levels of the organisation, a number of weaknesses in the design and application of
controls were identified through internal audit review, resulting in a ‘Limited
Assurance’ rating. Key areas identified included the absence of a risk management
training component of the annual mandatory training requirement of staff (there is no
‘national’ model of e-learning available for risk management); inconsistent reporting
and oversight at committee level and the CCG’s Senior Leadership Team of
operational and strategic risks; instances of inconsistent allocation of risk owners
and ‘action’ owners and timescales for completion of mitigating actions. The majority
of recommendations contained within the review were addressed through a refresh
of the Group’s Risk Management & Assurance Strategy and the embedding of a
consistent internal reporting process between Senior Leadership Team, committees
of the Governing Body and the Governing Body itself.
All ‘new’ risks added to the Corporate Risk Register in 2019/20 were reflective of this
approach and highlighted the CCG’s commitment to following best practice and
maintaining robust and effective governance arrangements. Two operational risks
were added in-year, one of which related to the local health economy’s preparations
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for EU Exit (in a ‘no deal’ scenario) and the second risk relating to the delivery of
high quality, safe services at Liverpool Women’s Hospital. For the latter, the ‘causal’
factors related to estate/environmental issues and the lack of certain clinical services
due to current national payment mechanisms.
Further information on key issues and risks in 2019/20 can be found in Section 1.6 of
this report, or in detail by accessing the CCG Governing Body papers via the CCG
website.
Although the CCG’s appetite for risk is dynamic and an iterative process reflective of
a changing environment, the CCG will not accept any risk which would
potentially/actually result in non-compliance with legislation, statutory responsibilities,
cause significant financial loss or would compromise patient/staff safety. As a public
body, there is naturally a low tolerance threshold for any risks which are of this
nature.
The CCG has a clear and documented process for the escalation of risks onto the
Corporate Risk Register, with immediate inclusion of any which are a threat to the
delivery of our strategic objectives. The most prevalent operational risks for Liverpool
CCG during 2019/20 are summarised below:
•

The local health system’s ability and capacity to meet rising urgent care demand
and the adverse impact on service responsiveness and quality of care;

•

The timely progression of Previously Unassessed Periods of Care (PUPoC)
cases in terms of financial and reputational risk;

•

Inability to secure capital investment for Liverpool Women’s Hospital and the
impact on the availability of ‘tertiary services’ in the city of Liverpool;

•

Failure to gain ‘buy in’ from system partners and stakeholders to develop and
deliver the major service change programmes and ambitions within the ‘One
Liverpool’ Plan.

All of the above were considered as significant risks to high level operational
objectives and carried an individual residual score within the range of 15 and 25,
placing them in the ‘Extreme’ category (red). This category of risk requires
immediate corrective action, continued oversight and assurance on control measures
actions to (and by) the Governing Body.
In all cases risks have been presented to the Governing Body meeting in public
session(s) and a variety of mitigating actions and steps are being taken in response
to the risks that will continue unresolved in part or whole into 2020/21. The impact
and consequences of the risks are subject to ongoing scrutiny and attention as the
CCG seeks to agree and implement acceptable and sustainable solutions to mitigate
residual risks going forward.
Compliance with CCG Operating Licence
Page | 84

For the year 2019/2020 Liverpool CCG has remained fully compliant with its
Operating Licence.

2.3.9

Other Sources of Assurance

2.3.9.1

Internal Control Framework

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the
Clinical Commissioning Group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.
It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them
efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors and the senior managers and clinical leads within the
Clinical Commissioning Group who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance
information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the
external auditors in their management letter and other reports.
The Governing Body Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register provides
me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the clinical
commissioning group achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit
Committee and the Quality, Safety and Outcomes Committee, if appropriate and a
plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in
place.
During the year the Governing Body and Audit Committee have kept under regular
review the application of the system of internal control. With the support of Internal
Audit where areas for improvement have been identified, appropriate actions have
been taken and changes made to ensure that the systems in place remain robust
and effective. The formal process of a quarterly assurance review of the CCG by
NHS England Cheshire and Merseyside has also provided a further external insight
and commentary as to the performance of the CCG.
Overall the system of internal control in 2019/20 has been found to be effective and
has met the needs of the organisation. However as already identified there have
been some areas where issues and gaps in control have been identified and specific
prompt action has been taken to address these gaps in an effective and sustainable
manner.
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Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control.
Overall the CCG is vigilant to the potential risks to the CCG operating licence and
maintains a system of strong internal control and risk management. However no
organisation can be complacent and the CCG recognises this and has taken steps
during the year in a number of key areas to ensure that compliance with the
operating licence is maintained and protected:





Continued adherence to the updated remuneration framework for Governing
Body members and clinical lead roles in the organisation;
Maintaining a cohort of four Lay Members on the Governing Body;
Agreement to amend the Group’s Constitution and committee structure has been
sought from NHS England;
Performance information – during the year the corporate performance report has
been presented regularly to the Governing Body and subjected to regular review,
refinement and further strengthening so as to fully meet the needs and
requirements of the Governing Body and provide assurance as to compliance
with the CCG’s licence and statutory duties.

2.3.9.2

Annual Audit of Conflicts of Interest Management

The statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (June 2017)
requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England published a
template audit framework. The required audit exercise was conducted by MIAA, who
found the CCG to be fully compliant in terms of its decision making processes and
contract monitoring and for the reporting of concerns, identifying breaches and
identifying areas of non-compliance. The CCG was fully compliant in all five areas
tested for ‘System Design, but was assessed as ‘partially compliant’ in terms of
operating effectiveness in the following areas:
Governance arrangements: The 2019/20 review of the CCG’s governance
arrangements found that the CCG’s Managing Conflicts of Interest Policy and Gifts
and Hospitality Policy were both aligned to NHS England’s Statutory Guidance. The
CCG also again met the minimum requirements of having four lay members in place
(one of whom fulfilled the Conflicts of Interest Guardian role). Review of the CCG’s
Primary Care Commissioning Committee (PCCC) found that the Terms of Reference
required updating and identified areas where accountability of sub-groups of the
committee were unclear and inconsistent with the Terms of Reference. Over
2019/20, the CCG had embarked upon a restructure of its Governing Body
committees, culminating in an application to NHS England / NHS Improvement for a
variation to our Constitution. The revised Terms of Reference for the ‘reconstituted’
Primary Care Commissioning Committee were agreed at an informal meeting of the
committee in October 2019.
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A further recommendation related to the obtaining and collation of Declarations of
Interest from the 11 Primary Care Network Directors, with the specific risk cited as
PCN Directors not declaring interests which could affect their ability to carry out their
role. Whilst the CCG agreed with the recommendation and the risk as identified, it
was also acknowledged that specific guidance on the role of networks and their
relationship with CCGs in terms of arrangements for conflicts of interest
management had not been issued from NHS England / NHS Improvement at the
time of the review.
Findings from the review also highlighted that the CCG had achieved 74.1%
compliance with the NHS England/Improvement Module 1 and Module 2 e-learning,
whilst compliance against Module 3 training was 52.5%. Actions have been taken
since the review to ensure compliance / uptake is increased, with the HR Committee
providing oversight of compliance levels.
Registers of interest, gifts, and hospitality and procurement decisions: Testing
and sampling of the CCG’s Register of Interests found that new starters and existing
CCG staff who had changed roles within the organisation during the financial year
did not always make their declarations within the mandated 28 days. Further testing
identified that three CCG staff in decision making roles were not included in the
published Register of Interests where interests had been declared (but were held
internally with management actions identified).
Decision making processes and contract monitoring: Field work and previous
audit testing in this area confirmed that the process around procurement decisions is
managed jointly between the CCG and the Shared Business Service (SBS) and
standard documentation issued to bidders included Conflicts of Interest forms and
confidentiality forms. In addition to a number of formal compliant competitive
quotations, procurements and contract variations undertaken during 19/20, LCCG
has approved 12 tender or quotation waivers of which, 10 of higher value, have been
approved via the Finance, Procurement and Contracting Committee with the
remaining 2 being approved in line with the scheme of delegation.
Reporting concerns and identifying and managing breaches/non-compliance:
The annual review of the CCG’s processes and systems found that they are clearly
outlined within its Conflicts of Interest Policy, including requirements for anonymised
details of breaches to be published on the CCG’s website and reported to NHS
England.

2.3.9.3

Data Quality

During the year the Governing Body has on occasion expressed some concerns as
to the quality of data provided to them, including in some cases by individual provider
trusts. Immediate steps were taken to hold the providers of the data to account for
the delivery of quality information and data through the contracting process. Similarly
action was taken against individual providers whose data was not of an acceptable
standard. The sustained provision of a significant and strengthened analytical
resource internally within the CCG has assisted greatly in ensuring that the
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Governing Body has access to data of the highest quality and, subject to reporting
limitations, in a timely fashion.

2.3.9.4

Third Party Assurance

The CCG seeks assurances from our providers of external support through a variety
of means to provide assurance to the senior management team and Governing
Body. Typically each area with the exception of the Capita primary care support
services, NHS Shared Business Services Limited and NHS Digital, which are the
responsibility of NHSE, has a lead officer who maintains a client relationship with the
service provider. Those relations extend to regular contact and meetings with the
providers, participation in client satisfaction ratings and where required intervention
where performance falls below a satisfactory level.

As appropriate, external

standards and service delivery levels are monitored and by exception any assurance
failings brought to the immediate attention of the CCG.

Assurance is provided collectively to CCGs using these third party providers through
service auditor reports, undertaken by independent auditors, on the effectiveness of
the internal controls in place in these providers. These service auditor reports are
reviewed by the CCG and by the CCG’s own auditors to determine the level of
reliance that can be placed on the third party providers systems and controls and to
identify any areas that may require additional testing for audit purposes.
Issues highlighted by the service auditor reports or through the work of the CCG’s
own auditors are raised with third party providers, and improvements agreed through
the contract management processes in place.
The service auditor report for Capita – Primary Care Support England, was qualified
in 2018/19 and the report for 2019/20 is not yet available.
The service auditor report for NHS Shared Business Services Limited: Finance and
Accounting Services was qualified in 2019/20 due to restricted access during the
COVID-19 pandemic preventing the auditor to obtain all evidence required.
The service auditor report for NHS Digital was qualified in 2019/20, the opinion was
given in relation to Control Objective 4: Controls are in place to provide reasonable
assurance that system changes cannot be undertaken unless valid, authorised and
tested.
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2.3.10

Control Issues

There are no significant control issues facing the CCG.

2.3.11

Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of Use of
Resources

As part of the NHSE assurance process for CCGs, we are assessed as to the quality
of leadership in the organisation. The final year end assessment from NHSE is not
available in time for the publication of this Annual Report. We anticipate it will be
available in July 2020 at www.nhs.uk/service-search/Performance/Search.
The Governing Body, informed by its committees and in particular the Finance,
Procurement and Contracts Committee, oversees and directs the use of CCG
resources. In doing so Governing Body members benefit from the experience and
skills of a strong and competent senior management team, who work within a strong
framework of performance management, benchmarking and comparative
assessment. Programmes of work and service redesign and transformational
programmes are all clinically led by Governing Body members who are supported by
project leads and a project management infrastructure.
All significant investment decisions are subject to a rigorous assessment and
prioritisation process that is applied in such a way as to determine the relative
effectiveness of the proposal, including the impact upon key strategic outcomes and
objectives. Use is also made of data and support from our public health colleagues
in the local authority. Where available, use is particularly made of comparative data,
including that from the ‘Core Cities’ to ensure a rigour behind all decisions. Support
is also provided by our internal auditors from the Mersey Internal Audit Agency who
provide an important source of objective advice, assessment and oversight

2.3.12

Delegation of Functions

During 2019/20 the CCG had delegated arrangements in place with providers
external to the CCG for the following:


St Helens and Knowsley NHS Trust: Payroll processing



Shared Business Services: Financial Systems – Transactional Processing



Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit: elements of Business
Intelligence (including data processing); Continuing Healthcare (CHC), Funded
Nursing Care and individual complex packages of care; Emergency Planning
support; urgent care system reporting; Individual Funding Requests (IFR);
strategic engagement advice and support; and some aspects of Continuing
Healthcare processes.



Capita: provision of support services to primary care practitioners (including
General Practice)
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During the year risks associated with these activities have been monitored through
the development of close partnership working; participation at local user groups and
regular monitoring including periodic evaluation of key performance indicators. Any
identified risks have been monitored through the CCG’s governance and risk
management processes.

2.3.13

Counter Fraud Arrangements

The CCG is compliant with the relevant NHS Counter Fraud Authority standards for
commissioners regarding fraud, bribery and corruption. Specifically the CCG
commissions from Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA) an appropriate and
accredited Anti-Fraud (AF) service to directly assist and support the organisation
through its existing Internal Audit, Anti-Fraud and Anti-Bribery and Corruption plans
in ensuring that the additional necessary measures (or the amendment of existing
policies) are carried out in a timely and integrated manner with minimal business
interruption. Although bribery legislation has been in place for a number of years,
the CCG regularly reviews its Anti-Bribery and Corruption Strategy through the work
of MIAA’s Anti-Fraud Service in order to satisfy the adequate procedural defence.
The executive lead role for Anti-Fraud and Anti-Bribery and Corruption sits with the
Chief Finance Officer (as a member of the CCG Governing Body). The Anti-Fraud
Specialist (AFS) attends the regular meetings of the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny
Committee, providing formal updates against an agreed annual programme of
activities. Those activities include: strategic governance work e.g. proactive testing
of conflicts of interest; ‘prevent and deter’ work (e.g. National Fraud Initiatives);
regular updates to CCG and general practice staff; the sharing of intelligence and
fraud awareness training. If required the AFS would also undertake investigatory
work. There was 1 new CCG cases of fraud reported during 2019/20 which remains
under investigation. The potential impact if proven is expected to be below £5k.

2.3.14

Head of Internal Audit Opinion

Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the Clinical
Commissioning Group, the Head of Internal Audit isued an independent and
objective optionin on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of
Internal Audit Mr Tim Crowley, Director of Audit, Mersey Internal Audit Agency
concluded that:
Substantial Assurance can be given that that there is a good system of internal control
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being
applied consistently.



This opinion is provided in the context that the CCG like other organisations across
the NHS is facing a number of challenging issues and wider organisational factors.
Financial

The CCG’s financial position has continued to be a major
focus for the Governing Body. The CCG has a challenging
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Sustainability
Annual
Assessment

Provider
Performance

Leadership

CRES. The CCG is anticipating delivery of £15.8m of CRES
(£2m above initial target).
The CCG was rated as ‘Good’ by NHS England in its 18/19
annual assessment of performance against key performance
indicators. The 19/20 annual assessment is expected to be
‘Good’.
The CCG NHS Oversight Framework segmented score is 1
(no support needs identified).
The CCG has continued to regularly report providers’
performance against a range of targets. Overall, the CCG’s
Providers are doing well on 11 national indicators including 52
week waits but finding challenges on other indicators including
18 week RTT.
Senior management within the CCG has been subject to
some change during 2019/20 with regard to the
implementation of new organisational structures.

The CCG is part of the Cheshire & Mersey Health and Care Partnership, working in
partnership to deliver transformation across the region.
In providing this opinion I can confirm continued compliance with the definition of
internal audit (as set out in your Internal Audit Charter), code of ethics and
professional standards. I also confirm organisational independence of the audit
activity and that this has been free from interference in respect of scoping, delivery
and reporting.

Steve Connor

Managing Director, MIAA
March 2020

2.3.15

Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response

The CCG has in place a suitably experienced and competent designated Senior
Manager lead for emergency preparedness, resilience and response and has played
a full and active role in the Merseyside Local Health Resilience Partnership and the
associated ‘operational’ Health Resilience Group. The CCG commissions from the
Commissioning Support Services Unit access to a professionally qualified and
experienced emergency planner who provides access to any required additional
support and advice to the CCG, supplementing the in-house resources.
The CCG response plan has been subject to review during the year and is kept up to
date and reflects national best practice and policy guidance. Key staff have
participated in a variety of planning and response exercises during the year. Plans
from all of the major providers from who the CCG commissions services have been
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subject to audit and review during the year and where required actions plans put into
place to ensure full compliance with the national EPRR standards and requirement.
From quarter four in 2019/20, the CCG’s emergency preparedness plans have been
tested in response to the Coronavirus pandemic, which has required the mobilisation
of the majority of the CCG’s resources. The pandemic has seen the establishment of
national, regional and local command and control structures and unprecedented
levels of collaboration and mutual aid to respond to this biggest challenge the NHS
has ever experienced. The CCG has taken a local system leadership role, ensuring
that the NHS system, across primary care, community services and hospitals have
joined up their response to maximise capacity and effectiveness in the city’s most
significant and enduring test of emergency planning, resilience and response.
Earlier in the year Liverpool hosted to a series of national and international cultural
and sporting events, including the ‘home coming parade’ of Liverpool Football Club
following their victory in the Champions League Final in Madrid in June 2019. An
estimated one million people lined the victory parade route, with some of the largest
crowds the city had seen congregating in the centre to join in the celebrations. In
February 2020, HMS Prince of Wales visited Liverpool for a one week period moored
at the Liverpool Cruise Terminal, drawing crowds of an estimated quarter of a million
people.
The CCG submitted “substantial compliance” against the nationally mandated EPRR
core standards, and are awaiting confirmation from the Director of Assurance
Delivery or NHSE Cheshire and Merseyside.

2.3.15.1 Accountable Officer EPRR Self-certification
I certify that NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group has incident response
plans in place, which are fully compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board
Emergency Preparedness Framework. The Clinical Commissioning Group regularly
reviews and makes improvements to its major incident plan and has a programme
for regularly testing this plan, the results of which are reported to the Governing
Body.

2.3.16

Principles of Remedy

During the year, the Parliamentary and Health Services Ombudsman has contacted
the CCG regarding three cases, two concerning Continuing Healthcare (CHC). For
the first case, the CCG agreed a local resolution to undertake a retrospective review
and the case was closed. The second case was closed with no further action
required and for the third case, the CCG was asked to provide support regarding a
complaint that was managed by a provider organisation.

2.3.17

External Audit

The CCG is externally audited by Grant Thornton LLP, for 2019/20 the total external
audit fees were £79,107
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Audit services £65,107 including VAT
Further assistance services £0
Other services £14,000 (inclusive of VAT)

Other services from external audit of £12,000 have been accrued in respect of the
2019/20 Mental Health Investment Standard audit required by NHS England. The
fee and audit plan has not yet been agreed, however, it is expected that this will
once again be performed by the CCG’s external auditors. In addition the CCG
accrued £10,000 in 2018/19 which did not include VAT therefore an additional cost
of £2,000 was included in 2019/20.

2.3.18

Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk
Management and Internal Control

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors and the Senior Managers and clinical leads within the
clinical commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance
information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the
external auditors in their management letter and other reports.
The Governing Body Assurance Framework and associated Corporate Risk Register
itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks
to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have been
reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit, Risk
and Scrutiny Committee and the Quality, Safety and Outcomes Committee, if
appropriate and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement
of the system is in place.
During the year the Governing Body and Audit Committee have kept under regular
review the application of the system of internal control. With the support of Internal
Audit where areas for improvement have been identified, appropriate actions have
been taken and changes made to ensure that the systems in place remain robust
and effective. The formal Integrated Assurance Framework (IAF) review process of
the CCG by NHS England/NHS Improvement’s Regional Team has also provided a
further external insight and commentary as to the performance of the CCG.
Overall the system of internal control has been found to be effective and has met the
needs of the organisation. However as already identified there have been some
areas where issues and gaps in control have been identified and specific prompt
action has been taken to address these gaps in an effective and sustainable manner.
The CCG has received one internal audit report (Risk Management Review) with a
limited assurance rating. The CCG has a plan to address the shortcomings identified
Page | 93

in the report, the majority of which will be met once the new committee structure is in
place (anticipated to be 1st April 2020).
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the Clinical
Commissioning Group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control.
Overall the CCG is vigilant to the potential risks to the CCG operating licence and
maintains a system of strong internal control and risk management. However no
organisation can be complacent and the CCG recognises this and has taken steps
during the year in a number of key areas to ensure that compliance with the
operating licence is maintained and protected.
Effective governance arrangements – as highlighted above, the CCG keeps under
constant review the governance structures and committees that support the
Governing Body in the discharge of its role and responsibilities and 2020/2021 will
implement the revised committee structure on approval of our ‘new’ Constitution.
Performance information – during the year the corporate performance report which is
presented formally on a bi-monthly basis to the Governing Body has been subject to
regular review, refinement and further strengthening so as to fully meet the needs
and requirements of the Governing Body and provide them with assurance as to
compliance with the CCG’s licence and statutory duties.
Governance and risk – over the last twelve months the CCG has developed its
Governing Body Assurance Framework, revised risk register and associated issues
log as further enhancements to strengthen the organisations approach and
management of risk.

2.3.19

Conclusion

Whilst some risks have been identified in the main body of the Governance
Statement above, none present a significant control issue.

Jan Ledward
Accountable Officer
NHS Liverpool CCG
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2.4

Remuneration and Staff Report

Note: Sections marked with # are auditable elements of the Remuneration Report

2.4.1

Introduction

Section 234B and Schedule 7A of The Companies Act, as interpreted for the public
sector in the Government Financial Reporting Manual, requires NHS bodies to
prepare a Remuneration Report containing information about directors’
remuneration.
In the NHS, the report will be in respect of the Senior Managers of the NHS body.
‘Senior Managers’ are defined as: ‘those persons in senior positions having authority
or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the NHS body. This
means those who influence the decisions of the Clinical Commissioning Group as a
whole, rather than the decisions of individual directorates or departments.’ For the
purposes of this report, this includes the CCG’s Governing Body members.

2.4.2

Remuneration Committee

The Committee role is to make recommendations about pay and remuneration for
Governing Body members, senior managers and the wider senior management
team. This remit includes recommending pay levels, reviewing conditions of service
and allowances. During the year the Committee has considered the Accountable
Officer remuneration package, the Chief Finance and Contracting Officer
remuneration, a Clinical Leadership and Lay member Remuneration Framework and
VSM remuneration. Membership of the Committee can be found on page 78.

2.4.3

Appraisal of Chair, Governing Body Members and Chief
Officer

The CCG has in place a robust procedure for assessing the performance and
delivery of the Chair, Chief Officer and Governing Body members. The CCG
operates a ‘mutual’ appraisal arrangement between the Chair, Vice Chair and Chief
Officer. The Chair appraises the performance and delivery of the Chief Officer; the
Chief Officer appraises the Vice Chair and the Vice Chair appraises the Chair.
Governing Body members are subject to appraisal by the Chair. Objectives are set
for each person alongside agreement as to any developmental needs, with full
records of the appraisal meetings made and retained.

2.4.4

Governing Body Members

The dates of contracts and unexpired terms of office for the Governing Body
members are shown in the table below:

Page | 95

Name

Appointment

Appointment

Start Date

End Date

Acting appointment from
Mark Bakewell

12th September 2017
Permanent appointment from

N/A Permanent contract of
employment

1st December 2018
Dr Janet Bliss

Re-appointed 1st June 2018

31st May 2021

Helen Dearden

30th January 2018

29th January 2022

Dr Paula Finnerty

1st June 2018

31st May 2021

Gerry Gray

1st January 2018

31st December 2021

Sally Houghton

Re-appointed 9th May 2018

8th May 2020

Dr Monica Khuraijam

Re-appointed 1st June 2018

31st May 2021

Dr Fiona Lemmens

Re-appointed 4th July 2017

3rd July 2020

Interim appointment from
2nd October 2017

Jan Ledward

Permanent appointment from

N/A Permanent contract of
employment

1st May 2018
11th November 2012
Employment from

Jane Lunt

N/A Permanent contract of
employment

1st April 2013
Dr Fiona Ogden-Forde

Re-appointed 1st June 2018

31st May 2021

Dr Ian Pawson

1st June 2018

Resigned 31st July 2019

Dr Shamim Rose

Re-appointed 1st June 2018

31st May 2021

Dr Maurice Smith

Re-appointed 4th July 2017

3rd July 2020

Dr Stephen Sutcliffe

4th July 2017

Resigned 29 February 2020

Dr Peter Kirkbride

1st April 2019

31st March 2022

Cathy Maddaford

1st April 2019

31st March 2022

Carol Rogers

1st October 2019

30th September 2022

Dr David O'Hagan

1st November 2019

31st October 2022

2.4.5

Policy on the Remuneration of Senior Managers

Senior Managers (Officers) hold permanent contracts of employment and are subject
to six months’ notice. Governing Body members, excluding the Chief (Accountable)
Officer, Chief Finance and Contracting Officer and Director of Quality, Outcomes and
Improvement, are Office Holders and have various lengths of tenure as highlighted in
the table above.
Amendments to salary are recommended by the Remuneration Committee to the
Governing Body. When required the Remuneration Committee can access
professional advice from NHS England, Midlands and Lancashire CSU’s HR team
and also the CCG legal advisers, Hill Dickinson LLP. In setting policy for current and
future years, the Committee has access to guidance, best practice and
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benchmarking information from comparative CCGs, such as those in the ‘core cities’
group.
Senior Manager performance is monitored through the formal appraisal process,
based on organisational and individual objectives. Senior managers are not subject
to an element of performance related pay as part of their remuneration packages.
The following table provides details of senior manager’s remuneration, including
salary and pension entitlements:
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Salaries & Allowances*

Name

Jan Ledward
Mark Bakewell
Jane Lunt
Dr Fiona Lemmens
Dr Janet Bliss
Dr Shamim Rose
Dr Maurice Smith
Dr Fiona Ogden Forde
Dr Monica Khuraijam
Dr Stephen Sutcliffe
Dr Ian Pawson
Dr Paula Finnerty
Dr David O'Hagan
Dr Peter Kirkbride
Cathy Maddaford
Sally Houghton
Helen Dearden
Gerard Gray
Carol Rogers
Dr Simon Bowers
Dr Donal O'Donoghue
Kenneth Perry

Title

Current year Governing Body Members
Governing Body Member - Chief Officer
Governing Body Member - Chief Finance and Contracting Officer
Governing Body Member - Director of Quality, Outcomes & Improvement
Governing Body Member - Chair/GP
Governing Body Member - Vice Chair/GP
Governing Body Member - GP
Governing Body Member - GP
Governing Body Member - GP
Governing Body Member - GP
Governing Body Member - GP
Governing Body Member - GP
Governing Body Member - GP
Governing Body Member - GP
Governing Body Member - Secondary Care doctor
Governing Body Member - Registered nurse
Governing Body Member - Lay - Audit and Financial Management
Governing Body Member - Lay - Governance
Governing Body Member - Lay - Finance
Governing Body Member - Lay - Patient & Public Involvement
Previous Governing Body Members
Governing Body Member - Chair/GP
Governing Body Member - Clinical Director, Hospital Doctor and End of Life Care
Governing Body Member - Lay - Patient & Public Involvement

Salary

Expense payments
(taxable)

(bands of £5,000)
2018/19
2019/20
£'000
£'000

(to nearest £100)
2018/19
2019/20
£
£

Notes

Performance pay and
bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
2018/19
2019/20
£'000
£'000

Long term performance
pay and bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
2018/19
2019/20
£'000
£'000

TOTAL

All pension related benefits
(bands of £2,500)
2018/19
2019/20
£'000
£'000

2019/20
£'000

2018/19
£'000

a), b)
a), c)
a), c), h)
d)
d)
d)
d), f), g)
d), f), g)
d)
d), e)
d), e)
d), e)
d), e) f), g)
d), e)
d), e)
d)
d)
d)
d), e)

145 - 150
90 - 95
90 - 95
85 - 90
80 - 85
50 - 55
75 - 80
85 - 90
50 - 55
45 - 50
15 - 20
75 - 80
40 - 45
10 - 15
10 - 15
15 - 20
15 - 20
10 - 15
5 - 10

150 - 155
120 - 125
115 - 120
85 - 90
80 - 85
80 - 85
80 - 85
65 - 70
75 - 80
45 - 50
40 - 45
40 - 45
0
0
0
15 - 20
15 - 20
10 - 15
0

5000
200
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
100
100
0

5000
100
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
100
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

75 - 77.5
20 - 22.5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

37.5 - 40
52.5 - 55
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

230 - 235
115 - 120
90 - 95
85 - 90
80 - 85
50 - 55
75 - 80
85 - 90
50 - 55
45 - 50
15 - 20
75 - 80
40 - 45
10 - 15
10 - 15
15 - 20
15 - 20
10 - 15
5 - 10

190 - 195
170 - 175
115 - 120
85 - 90
80 - 85
80 - 85
80 - 85
65 - 70
75 - 80
45 - 50
40 - 45
40 - 45
0
0
0
15 - 20
15 - 20
10 - 15
0

d)
d)
d)

0
0
0

10 - 15
15 - 20
15 - 20

0
0
0

0
1000
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

10 - 15
15 - 20
15 - 20

Notes
a) The Chief Officer, Chief Finance and Contracting Officer and Director of Quality, Outcomes and Improvement are engaged under contracts of services and are employees.
b) During the year, Jan Ledward received a car allowance of £5,000 which has been disclosed within the expenses column above. In 2018/19 Jan Ledward received £8,000 relocation expenses.
c) From 1 October 2019 Mark Bakewell was appointed as Chief Finance Officer at Knowsley CCG and accordingly 50% of remuneration costs have been recharged to Knowsley CCG. The above table reflects Liverpool CCG share of costs, however, the total banded remuneration (in bands of £5,000) is £125k - £130k
and reflects an additional 10% in respect of covering an additional CCG in line with remuneration guidance. From 1 October 2019, Jane Lunt has also been supporting South Sefton CCG and Southport and Formby CCG as part of senior management team with 20% of remuneration costs (40% total) being
recharged to CCGs.
d) Governing body members (both medical/ non-medical) practitioners are classified as 'Office Holders' in accordance with HMRC and legal advice. This means that they hold a 'statutory office' with the organisation, but do not have a contract 'of' service or contract 'for' service with the CCG. The CCG has
determined that with regards to the remuneration report requirements for medical practitioners who are governing body members that, in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual guidance (and given the practical arrangements in place with regards to tax, national insurance and pension arrangements)
that the 'contract for service' methodology is the most appropriate representation of remuneration for the financial year. Gross payment to the individual is therefore disclosed in the salary column including employer pension contributions (where applicable) as per the NHS Group Accounting Manual.
e) The following changes occurred to the Governing Body during 2019/20: Dr Peter Kirkbride appointed Governing Body Member 1 April 2019, Cathy Maddaford appointed Governing Body Member 1 April 2019, Ian Pawson resigned as at 31 July 2019, Carol Rogers appointed Governing Body Member from 1
October 2019, Dr David O'Hagan appointed Governing Body Member from 1 November 2019 and Dr Stephen Sutcliffe resigned as at 29 February 2020.
f) The following Governing Body GP's were appointed in a secondary clinical lead roles under a contract of service with Liverpool CCG during the year:
Maurice Smith from 1 April 2019, Paula Finnerty from 1 April 2019, Fiona Ogden-Forde from 1 May 2019, and David O'Hagan from 1 June 2019. (As Dr David O'Hagan became a Governing Body member from 1 November 2019, remuneration for this clinical lead assignment is only reflected in the table above
from 1 November 2019.)
g) As per the Group Accounting Manual Guidance a zero value should be substituted within the table for negative figures. This applies to the all pension related benefits of Jane Lunt for 2019/2020.
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2.4.6

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers

There are no CCG senior managers with salaries in excess of £150,000 and remuneration
has been recommended by the Remuneration Committee.
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2.4.7

Pension Benefits as at 31st March 2020 #

Name

Title

Notes

Jan Ledward

Chief Officer

a) c)

Mark Bakewell

Chief Finance & Contracting Officer

a) c)

Jane Lunt

Director of Quality, Outcomes &
Improvement

a) b) c)

Real increase in
pension at pension
age (bands of
£2,500)

Real increase in
pension lump sum
at pension age
(bands of £2,500)

Total accrued
Lump sum at pension age Cash Equivalent
pension at pension
related to accrued
Transfer Value at
age at 31 March
pension at 31 March
1 April 2019
2020 (bands of
2020 (bands of £5,000)
£5,000)

Real increase in
Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value

Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value at
31 March 2020

Employer’s
contribution to
stakeholder pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£00

2.5 - 5

5 - 7.5

65 - 70

180 - 185

1,355

114

1,469

0

0 - 2.5

0

25 - 30

50 - 55

362

30

392

0

0 - 2.5

0

60 - 65

110 - 115

1,073

20

1,093

0

a) The pension entitlement above is the total pension entitlement for each Governing Body member, is not split across other organisations and may have been partly accrued in a non senior manager capacity.
b) In line with the Group Accounting Manual Guidance 2019/20, when the real increase in pension or lump sum returns a negative value, the disclosure must be amended to zero.
c) Cash Equivalent Transfer Values at 1 April 2019 have been recalculated to include 2.4% inflation which is calculated in accordance with SI 2008 No. 1050 Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 2008 (33)
d) Real Increase in Cash Equivalent Transfer Value is the increase in CETV that is funded by the Employer. It does not include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any
benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement).
e) Non-Executive Governing Body lay members do not receive pensionable remuneration and therefore no disclosure is required in respect of pensions.
f) The CCG has determined that GP Governing Body members, for the purposes of the remuneration report are classified as contract 'for' service practitioners and therefore, in line with the Group Accounting Manual, pension disclosures for
these individuals are not required to be disclosed.

Due to a change in indexation methodology for public sector pension schemes, from August 2019 the method used by NHS Pensions to
calculate CETV values was updated. The CETV values at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 may have been calculated using different
methodologies, and this change may have impacted the real increase in CETV figure.
The benefits and related CETVs do not allow for any potential adjustment arising from the McCloud judgement.
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2.4.8

Compensation on Early Retirement or for Loss of Office #

During 2019/20 the CCG has not made any payments of compensation for early
retirement or for loss of office (Nil 2018/19).

2.4.9

Payments to Past Members #

During 2019/20 the CCG has not made any payments to any past members (Nil
2018/19).

2.4.10

Pay Multiples #

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest-paid director/member in their organisation and the median
remuneration of the organisations workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in Liverpool CCG in the
financial year 2019/20 is £152.5k (2018/19 £157.5k). This was 3.8 times (2018/19
3.57) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was banded £40.1k
(2018/19: £42.5k).
In 2019/20, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid
director/member (2018/19: nil). Remuneration ranged from £10-15k to £150-155k
(2018/19: £10-15k to £155-160k).
The highest paid director in the financial year was the Chief Officer (2018/19: Chief
Officer). Total remuneration includes any amounts relating salary, non-consolidated
performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind (car allowance), but not severance
payments as appropriate. It does not include employer pension contributions and the
cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Staff Report
2.4.11

Number of Senior Managers

The CCG employs a total of 4 senior managers on a VSM contract, including three
Governing Body members (Chief Officer, Chief Finance and Contracting Officer and
Director of Quality, Outcomes & Improvement).

2.4.12

Staff Numbers and Costs #

Staffing numbers by occupation can be summarised in the following table:
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Administrative & Estates
Medical & Dental
Nursing & Midwifery
Scientific/ Therapeutic / Technical

Permanent
133.11
5.43
1.45
1.00
140.99

Other
7.41
0.16
5.58
0.00
13.15

The staffing costs associated are summarised in the following table:
Employee Benefits Expenditure
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

7,255
725

6,611
725

644
0

6,401
679

6,259
679

142
0

1,283
1
22

1,283
1
22

0
0
0

839
1
20

839
1
20

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

9,287

8,643

644

7,940

7,797

142

0

0

0

0

0

0

9,287

8,643

644

7,940

7,797

142

0

0

0

0

0

0

9,287

8,643

644

7,940

7,797

142

Total
£'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to
the NHS Pension Scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Other post-employment
benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits
expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of
employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee
benefits including
capitalised costs
Less: Employee costs
capitalised
Net employee benefits
excluding capitalised costs

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Note: NHS Liverpool CCG policy is for all annual leave due to be taken in the year it
is earned, the cost of leave earned but not taken is minimal and has not therefore
been included in expenditure.

2.4.13

Staff Composition

Breakdown of staff* by gender at the 31/3/2020:
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Governing Body (including office holders)
Very Senior Managers (not included above)**
Other members of staff *

Male
4
2
34

Female
9
2
120

*This excludes workers seconded from external organisations, agency staff and
contractors
** Employed on a VSM contract

2.4.14

Sickness Absence Data

Staff sickness absence and ill-health
retirements
Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average Working Days Lost

2.4.15

2019-20 Number
921.59
140.08
6.58

Staff Policies

The CCG is committed to an environment that promotes equality and embraces
diversity in its performance as an employer. It adheres to legal and performance
requirements and mainstreams its equality and diversity principles through its
policies, procedures and processes. To ensure that our policies do not have an
adverse impact in response to the requirements of The Equality Act 2010. Policies
are equality impact assessed during the policy development processes.
The CCG will take action when necessary to address any unexpected or
unwarranted disparities and monitor workforce and employment practices to ensure
that employment policies are fairly implemented. The Organisation is committed to
ensuring that staff receive appropriate awareness training in Equality and Diversity to
undertake their role. Equality and Diversity training is mandatory for all staff
commensurate with the duties that they are required to undertake.
We operate a fair and objective system for recruiting, which places emphasis on
individual skills, abilities and experience. This enables a full diversity of people to
demonstrate their ability to do a job. Selection criteria contained within our Job
Descriptions and Person Specifications are regularly reviewed to ensure that they
are justifiable and so do not unfairly discriminate directly or indirectly and are
essential for the effective performance of the role. We offer a guaranteed interview
scheme for disabled applicants who meet our essential selection criteria. We are a
‘Disability Confident Committed’ employer. We are committed to making reasonable
adjustments in the workplace, including appropriate training, to support the
continuation of employment.
We strive to enable all staff to achieve their full potential in an environment of dignity
and mutual respect. This is underpinned by ensuring that every employee is in
possession of a Personal Development Plan (PDP) and is annually appraised in a
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Performance Development Review (PDR). All employees are supported to develop
the skills and abilities they require to carry out their current and any likely future role
in the organisation.

2.4.16

Employee Consultation and Engagement

The CCG places a high importance on the delivery of effective communications,
involvement and engagement with all of its employees. It discharges these duties
through a variety of means including:
 A regular ‘floor meeting’ which provides a valuable opportunity for the Chief
Officer and senior managers to brief staff on important matters concerning the
business and operations of the organisation, and to hear views and news from all
team members.
 An electronic bulletin available to all staff that provides a short and digestible
summary of key internal and external issues of relevance to the staff and CCG.
 An internal online intranet resource.
 A staff engagement plan is in place for 2020/21 – see below:

2.4.17

Expenditure on Consultancy

During the financial year ended 31st March 2020 the CCG spent has not had any
expenditure for external consultancy.
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2.4.18

Off-payroll Engagements

Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months - For all off-payroll
engagements as of 31st March 2020, for more than £245 per day and that last longer
than six months.
Number
Number of Existing Engagements as of

31st

1

March 2020

of which that have existed for …
less than one year at time of reporting
between one and two years at time of reporting
between two and three years at time of reporting
between three and for years at time of reporting
four or more years at time of reporting

0
1
0
0
0

Existing off payroll engagements have at some point been subject to a risk based
assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the
right amount of tax and where necessary, that assurance has been sought.
Table 2: New Off-payroll Engagements - Number of new engagements, or those
that reached six months in duration, for more than £245 per day between 1st April
2019 and 31st March 2020:
Number
Number of new Engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2020
Of which …
No. assessed as caught by IR35
No. assessed as not caught by IR35
No. engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department and are on the
departmental payroll
No. of engagements reassessed for consistency/assurance purposes during the
year
No. of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the consistency
review

3

0
3
0
0
0

Table 3: Off Payroll Board Member/Senior Official Engagements
For any off payroll engagements of Board members and/or senior officials with
significant financial responsibility between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2020.
Number
No. of off-payroll engagements of Board members and/or senior officials with
significant financial responsibility between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2020
No of individuals that have been deemed “Board members and/or senior officials
with significant financial responsibility” during the financial year. This figure
should include both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements.

2.4.19

0

0

Exit Packages, Including Special (non-contractual) #
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Payments
During 2019/20 (Nil 2018/19) the CCG has made no exit package payments,
including special (non-contractual).

2.4.20

Analysis of Other Departures

During 2019/20 (Nil 2018/19) the CCG has made no payments relating to other
departures.

2.4.21

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements)
Regulations 2017

In compliance with the above Regulations the following information is provided:
Relevant union officials - What was the total number of your employees who were
relevant union officials during the relevant period?
Number of your employees who were relevant union
officials during the relevant period
0

Full time equivalent number
0

NHS Liverpool CCG is wholly supportive of partnership working and as such is an
active participant in the Staff Partnership Forum facilitated by NHS Midlands and
Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit. The CCG utilises this forum as a vehicle
and mechanism to support proactive staff engagement, consultation and, where
appropriate, negotiation. The CCG does not employ anyone who undertakes
relevant union official duties as outlined in the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication
Requirements) Regulations 2017 and therefore no time is released from this
employer in relation to official duties. The CCG liaises and works with CSU TU
representatives and area/regional representatives from those recognised unions
whose time will be recorded with their employing authority.

2.5

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

NHS Liverpool CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and
Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special
payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial
Statements of this report from pages 111 onwards. An external audit certificate and
report is also included in this Annual Report at page 107.

Jan Ledward
Accountable Officer, NHS Liverpool CCG
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Independent auditor's report to the members of the Governing Body of NHS
Liverpool CCG
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Liverpool CCG (the ‘CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2020,
which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows1 and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020.
In our opinion, the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2020 and of its expenditure and
income for the year then ended; and

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care
Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020; and

•

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The impact of macro-economic uncertainties on our audit
Our audit of the financial statements requires us to obtain an understanding of all relevant uncertainties, including
those arising as a consequence of the effects of macro-economic uncertainties such as Covid-19 and Brexit. All
audits assess and challenge the reasonableness of estimates made by the Accountable Officer and the related
disclosures and the appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparation of the financial statements. All of
these depend on assessments of the future economic environment and the CCG’s future operational
arrangements.
Covid-19 and Brexit are amongst the most significant economic events currently faced by the UK, and at the date
of this report their effects are subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty, with the full range of possible
outcomes and their impacts unknown. We applied a standardised firm-wide approach in response to these
uncertainties when assessing the CCG’s future operational arrangements. However, no audit should be expected
to predict the unknowable factors or all possible future implications for an entity associated with these particular
events.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to
report to you where:
•

the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or
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•

the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In our evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions, and in accordance with the expectation set out within
the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 that the CCG’s financial
statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the risks associated with the CCG’s
operating activities, including effects arising from macro-economic uncertainties such as Covid-19 and Brexit. We
analysed how those risks might affect the CCG’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over the
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. In
accordance with the above, we have nothing to report in these respects.
However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference
to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the CCG will continue in operation.
Other information
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are
required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2015 on behalf of the Comptroller
and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the Governance Statement
does not comply with the guidance issued by the NHS Commissioning Board or is misleading or inconsistent with
the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Governance
Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion:
•

the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social
Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 and the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012;
and

•

based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our knowledge of the
CCG gained through our work in relation to the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources, the other information published together with the financial statements in
the Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements.

Opinion on regularity required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been
applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions in the financial statements conform
to the authorities which govern them.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:
•

we issue a report in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the
course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

•

we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a
decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has
begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a
loss or deficiency; or

•

we make a written recommendation to the CCG under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the financial
statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's responsibilities, the Accountable Officer, is
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts
Directions, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable
Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the CCG’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to
dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.
The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income in the financial
statements.
The Audit and Risk Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged with Governance are
responsible for overseeing the CCG’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in the financial
statements in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception - CCG’s arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion we have not been able to
satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible for putting in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources
We are required under Section 21(1)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources and to report where we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that it has
done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on
the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2020, as to whether in all significant
respects, the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and
Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in
satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020, and to report by exception where we are
not satisfied.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we
undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the CCG has put in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS Liverpool CCG in accordance with
the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, in accordance with Part
5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the CCG and the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Barrie Morris
Barrie Morris, Key Audit Partner
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor
Liverpool
24 June 2020
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NHS LIVERPOOL CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2020

Note

2019-20
£'000

2018-19
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

3
3

(36,603)
(23)
(36,626)

(37,497)
(16)
(37,513)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5

9,287
981,183
2,923
993,393

7,940
916,994
3,944
928,878

Net Operating Expenditure

956,767

891,365

Finance income
Finance expense
Net expenditure for the year

2
956,769

891,365

Net (Gain)/Loss on Transfer by Absorption
Total Net Expenditure for the Financial Year
Other Comprehensive Expenditure
Items which will not be reclassified to net operating costs
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of PPE
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Intangibles
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Financial Assets
Actuarial (gain)/loss in pension schemes
Impairments and reversals taken to Revaluation Reserve
Items that may be reclassified to Net Operating Costs
Net gain/loss on revaluation of available for sale financial assets
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Sub total

956,769

891,365

-

-

-

-

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year

956,769

891,365

5

The notes on pages 116 to 135 form part of this statement.
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NHS LIVERPOOL CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2020

Note
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment property
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Total non-current assets

2019-20

2018-19

£'000

£'000
-

-

14,143
14
14,157

9,713
1
9,714

-

-

Total current assets

14,157

9,714

Total assets

14,157

9,714

(57,502)
(57,502)

(52,911)
(52,911)

(43,345)

(43,197)

-

-

Assets less Liabilities

(43,345)

(43,197)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Charitable Reserves
Total taxpayers' equity:

(43,345)
(43,345)

(43,197)
(43,197)

Current assets:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

8

9

Non-current assets held for sale

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

10

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

The notes on pages 116 to 135 form part of this statement.
The financial statements on pages 112 to 115 were approved by the Governing Body on 23 June 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Jan Ledward
Chief Accountable Officer
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NHS LIVERPOOL CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2020
General fund
£'000

Revaluation
reserve
£'000

Other
reserves
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2019
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2019

(43,197)
0
(43,197)

0
0
0

0
0
0

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(956,769)

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

(43,197)
0
(43,197)

(956,769)
0
0
0
0

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of other investments and Financial Assets (excluding available for
sale financial assets)
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2020

0
0
0
0

0

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(956,769)
956,621
(43,345)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(956,769)
956,621
(43,345)

General fund
£'000

Revaluation
reserve
£'000

Other
reserves
£'000

(36,148)
0
(36,148)

0
0
0

0
0
0

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Balance at 01 April 2018
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2019
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances
Impact of applying IFRS 15 to Opening Balances
Net operating costs for the financial year

0
0
(891,365)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

0
0
(891,365)
0
0
0
0

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2019

The notes on pages 116 to 135 form part of this statement.

114

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(891,365)
884,316
(43,197)

(36,148)
0
(36,148)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(891,365)
884,316
(43,197)

NHS LIVERPOOL CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2020
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards
Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Interest paid
Release of PFI deferred credit
Other Gains & Losses
Finance Costs
Unwinding of Discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

8
10

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health
(Payments) for other financial assets
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards
Loans made in respect of LIFT
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT
Rental revenue
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Parlimentary Funding Received
Other loans received
Other loans repaid
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT
Capital grants and other capital receipts
Capital receipts surrendered
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

9

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 116 to 135 form part of this statement.
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2019-20
£'000

2018-19
£'000

(956,769)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(4,430)
0
4,591
0
0
0
(956,608)

(891,365)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(4,017)
0
11,066
0
0
0
(884,316)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(956,608)

(884,316)

956,621
0
0
0
0
0
0
956,621

884,316
0
0
0
0
0
0
884,316

13

0

1
0
14

1
0
1

NHS LIVERPOOL CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Notes to the Financial Statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Group Accounting Manual (GAM) 2019-20 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care.
The accounting policies contained in the GAM follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and
appropriate to Clinical Commissioning Groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.
Where the DHSC Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be most appropriate to
the particular circumstances of the Clinical Commissioning Group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular
policies adopted are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If
services will continue to be provided the Financial Statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
As Public Sector Bodies are deemed to operate under common control, business reconfigurations within the Department of Health and Social
Care Group are outside the scope of IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Where functions transfer between two public sector bodies, the Department
of Health and Social Care GAM requires the application of absorption accounting. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their
transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector.
Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is
disclosed separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to
income and expenditure entries.

1.4

Joint arrangements
Arrangements over which the clinical commissioning group has joint control with one or more other entities are classified as joint arrangements.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement. A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation exists where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the
arrangement. Where the clinical commissioning group is a joint operator it recognises its share of, assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its
own accounts.
See note 17 for further information on the Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group’s joint arrangements.
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement. Joint ventures are recognised as an investment and accounted for using the equity method. The Liverpool CCG does not have any
joint ventures.

1.5

Pooled Budgets – Joint operation
Liverpool CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Liverpool City Council in accordance with section 75 of the NHS Act 2006.
Under the arrangements, funds are pooled for the provision of Integrated Community Equipment and Disability Advice Services (ICEDAS) and to
operate a pooled budget for the required Better Care Fund arrangements and note 17 provides details of the income and expenditure.
The Better Care Fund is hosted by Liverpool City Council. The ICEDAS is hosted by the Liverpool CCG. Liverpool CCG accounts for its share of
the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget
agreement.

1.6

Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are reported in line with management information used within the
Clinical Commissioning Group.
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NHS LIVERPOOL CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Notes to the Financial Statements
1.7

Revenue
In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the Clinical Commissioning Group will not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of
a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
• The Clinical Commissioning Group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient
offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires the Clinical Commissioning
Group to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.
The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund.
Funding is recognised in the period in which it is received.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the
customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles. The value of the benefit received when the Clinical Commissioning Group
accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government
Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense
are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.

1.8
1.8.1

1.8.2

Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in
which the service is received from employees.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme
that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales.
The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of
participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health, the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the
liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself to the retirement, regardless
of the method of payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.9

NEST pension scheme
Some employees who cannot, or do not wish to be members of the NHS Pension Scheme, are members of the NEST scheme. NEST is a
workplace pension, set up by the government in advance of the changes to auto enrolment. The scheme is a defined contribution scheme and
therefore the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the
scheme for the accounting period.

1.10

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at fair
value of the consideration payable.

1.11

Grants payable
Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a grant recipient in a specific period, the Clinical
Commissioning Group recognises the expenditure in the period in which the grant is paid. All other grants are accounted for on an accruals basis.

1.12

Government grant funded assets
Government grant funded assets are capitalised at current value in existing use, if they will be held for their service potential, or otherwise at fair
value on receipt, with a matching credit to income. Deferred income is recognised only where conditions attached to the grant preclude
immediate recognition of the gain.

1.13

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.
The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the Clinical Commissioning Group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as
a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are
operating or finance leases.

1.13.1
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1.14

Services Received
The fair value of services received in the year is recorded under the relevant expenditure headings within ‘operating expenses’.

1.15

Cash
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash is shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s cash management. Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at current values.

1.16

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of negative 0.50% (2018-19: positive 0.29%) in real terms.
All general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cashflows from the Statement of Financial
Position date:
• A nominal short-term rate of 0.51% (2018-19: 0.76%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of
Financial Position date.
• A nominal medium-term rate of 0.55% (2018-19: 1.14%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years
from the Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years
from the Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of
Financial Position date.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features
to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which
are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.17

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution,
which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively
responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the Clinical Commissioning Group.

1.18

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and, in return, receives
assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are
charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.19

Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme
The Carbon Reduction Commitment scheme is a mandatory cap and trade scheme for non-transport CO2 emissions. The clinical commissioning
group is registered with the CRC scheme, and is therefore required to surrender to the Government an allowance for every tonne of CO2 it emits
during the financial year. A liability and related expense is recognised in respect of this obligation as CO2 emissions are made.
The carrying amount of the liability at the financial year end will therefore reflect the CO2 emissions that have been made during that financial
year, less the allowances (if any) surrendered voluntarily during the financial year in respect of that financial year.
The liability will be measured at the amount expected to be incurred in settling the obligation. This will be the cost of the number of allowances
required to settle the obligation.
Allowances acquired under the scheme are recognised as intangible assets.

1.20

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is
not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured sufficiently reliably.
A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an
inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
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1.21

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of
trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired
or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
Financial assets at amortised cost;
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and;
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.21.1

Financial Assets at Amortised cost

1.21.2

1.21.3

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash
flows and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt
instruments. After initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any
impairment. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by
both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.
Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit & Loss
Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.

1.22

Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss
allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset. The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to
impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an
amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at
an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government
departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by
primary legislation. The clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against
these bodies. Additionally DHSC provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the
clinical commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are
measured as the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.23

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.23.2

1.23.3

1.23.4

Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
· The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
· The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets.
Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any
resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on
the financial liability.
Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from
Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective
interest method.
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1.24

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax
on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost
of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.25

Foreign Currencies
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s functional currency and presentational currency is pounds sterling and amounts are presented in thousands
of pounds unless expressly stated otherwise. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate
ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise.

1.26

Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the clinical commissioning
group has no beneficial interest in them.

1.27

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the
generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would
have been made good through insurance cover had the Clinical Commissioning Group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums
then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.28

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements, estimates
and assumptions. These are regularly reviewed.
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of
applying the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:
 Accruals, have been included in the financial statements to the extent that the CCG recognises an obligation at the 31 March 2020 for which it
had not been invoiced. Estimates of accruals are undertaken by management based on the information available at the end of the financial year,
together with past experience.

1.28.1

 Provisions are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. Management have made an assessment for the period ended 31 March 2020 and conclude that no provisions are required as at 31
March 2020.
 Better Care Fund accruals have been based upon information available at the year end and a review of the joint commissioning group approved
schemes. For those Better Care Fund schemes which are based upon activity, critical judgements apply. When information has been delayed, a
best estimate of the activity to year end has been used.
1.28.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year:
 Activity is accounted for in the financial year it takes place, and not necessarily when cash payments are made or received. The Clinical
Commissioning Group has a robust process for identifying that activities have taken place and for identifying the appropriate accounting period.
Therefore the degree of estimation uncertainty is considered to be low.
The prescribing accrual for the final month of the year is based upon forecasted figures provided by the Business Services Authority and
estimates undertaken by management based on information available at the end of the financial year, together with past experience. The total
prescribing accrual as at 31st March 2020 was £15.1m (2018-19 - £14.6m).
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1.29

Gifts
Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. Gifts include all transactions
economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of
assets at below market value.

1.30

Research & Development
Research and development expenditure is charged in the year in which it is incurred, except insofar as development expenditure relates to a
clearly defined project and the benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as assured. Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future
benefits expected and is amortised through the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure on a systematic basis over the period expected to
benefit from the project. It should be re-valued on the basis of current cost. The amortisation is calculated on the same basis as depreciation.

1.31

Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
The DHSC Group Accounting Manual does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2019-20. These
standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2021-22, and the government
implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
IFRS 16: Leases – The Standard is effective 1 April 2021 as adapted and interpreted by the FReM.
 IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts - Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the
FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.
IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments - Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after from 1 January 2019.
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2019-20, were they applied in that year.
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Clinical commissioning groups have a number of financial duties under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The Clinical Commissioning Group’s performance against those duties was as follows:

2019-20

National
Health
Service Act
Section
223H(1)
223I(2)
223I(3)
223J(1)
223J(2)
223J(3)

Duty
Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

Maximum
£000's
999,896
963,269
10,912

2018-19

Performance
£000's
993,396
956,769
9,636

Duty
Achieved?
Y
Y
Y
Y
Y
Y

Maximum
£000's
928,877
891,365
10,584

Performance
£000's
928,877
891,365
8,621

Duty
Achieved?
Y
Y
Y
Y
Y
Y

Note: For the purposes of 223H(1); expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue and capital in the financial year; and, income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum revenue resource,
notified capital resource and all other amounts accounted as received in the financial year (whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross basis). The in-year surplus for the year ended 31
March 2020 was £6.5m (2018/19 - £nil).
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2019-20
Total

2018-19
Total

£'000

£'000

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other Contract income
Total Income from sale of goods and services

27
35,863
713
36,603

36,815
682
37,497

23
23

16
16

36,626

37,513

Other operating income
Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue
Total Other operating income
Total Operating Income

Non-patient care services to other bodies includes income received from the local authority in respect of public health services.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account
of the CCG and credited to the General Fund.
No other fees or charges have been received by the CCG in the current year (2018/19: nil)

3.1 Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

Education,
training and
research
£'000
Source of Revenue
NHS
Non NHS
Total

27
27

5,713
30,150
35,863

Education,
training and
research

2019-20
Non-patient
care
services to
other bodies
£'000

£'000
Timing of Revenue
Point in time
Over time
Total

2019-20
Non-patient
care
services to
other bodies
£'000

27
27

1,304
34,559
35,863

Other
Contract
income
£'000
140
573
713

Other
Contract
income
£'000
68
645
713

Revenue as noted above is totally from the supply of services. The Clinical Commissioning Group receives no revenue from
the sale of goods.
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4.1.1 Employee benefits

2019-20
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

6,611
725
1,283
1
22
8,643

644
644

7,255
725
1,283
1
22
9,287

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

8,643

644

9,287

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

8,643

644

9,287

4.1.2 Employee benefits

2018-19
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

6,259
679
839
1
20
7,797

142
142

6,401
679
839
1
20
7,940

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

7,797

142

7,940

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

7,797

142

7,940

Employee costs have increased due to the 2019/20 pay awards and recruitment to vacancies.
2019/20 'Other' Employee Benefits includes seconded staff supporting the Cheshire & Merseyside Women's and Children's
Partnership, currently hosted by Liverpool CCG funded via allocation.
The increase in Employers Contributions to NHS Pension Scheme relates to the percentage increase from 14.36% to 20.68%,
this has been centrally funded but is a technical requirement to show within the CCG expenditure.
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4.2 Average number of people employed
2019-20
Permanently
employed
Number
Total

140.99

Other
Number
13.15

2018-19
Total
Number
154.14

Permanently
employed
Number
131.23

Other
Number
7.15

Total
Number
138.38

Of the above:

4.3 Ill health retirements
Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme. Where the Clinical Commissioning Group has agreed early retirements, the additional costs would be met by the Clinical Commissioning
Group and not by the NHS Pension Scheme. The Clinical Commissioning Group had no ill health retirements in 2019/20 (2018/19: £nil).

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year
There were no exit packages agreed in the financial year (2018/19 - Nil).
4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and
Social Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is
accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM
requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
4.5.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the
previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The
valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2020, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2019, updated to 31 March 2020 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial
assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the
NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates
payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.68%,
and the Scheme Regulations were amended accordingly.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December
2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.
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5 Operating expenses
2019-20
Total
£'000
Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees *
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Other services **
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Total Purchase of goods and services
Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Grants to Other bodies
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Other expenditure
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

2018-19
Total
£'000

2,739
491,074
165,371
121,175
87,461
119
93,413
1,230
7,980
27
7,805
65

2,525
342,029
261,115
119,772
85,268
155
88,606
1,852
10
6,953
39
7,557
65

14
2,259
203
225
23
981,183

10
528
159
351
16
917,010

636
314
1,970
3
2,923

763
270
2,878
17
3,928

984,106

920,938

*External audit fees as disclosed above are inclusive of VAT
** Other services from external audit of £12,000 have been accrued in respect of the 19/20 Mental Health Investment
Standard audit required by NHS England. The CCG accrued £10,000 in 2018/19 which did not include VAT, the additional
£2,000 is included in 2019/20.
Internal audit services during the year were provided by Mersey Internal Audit Agency, hosted by Liverpool University
Hospitals NHS FT (formally The Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust). Internal audit costs are
included in Services from other NHS trusts / FT 2019/20: £41.1k.
From 1 October 2019, The Royal University Hospital NHS Trust was acquired by Aintree University Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust, forming Liverpool University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, this explains the large movement between
NHS Trust and Foundation Trust expenditure between years.
2019/20 Other Professional Fees includes Cheshire & Merseyside Women's and Children's Partnership expenditure,
currently hosted by Liverpool CCG £1.7m (2018/19 £nil.) funded by allocations.
5.1 Limitation on auditor’s liability
Following legislative changes, namely the Local Audit Accountability Act 2014, The CCG has appointed Grant Thornton as
external auditors from 2018/19. Prior to this appointment, the external auditors were appointed centrally by a transitional
body, Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. As such, in accordance with SI 2008 no.489, The Companies (Disclosure
of Auditor Remuneration and Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2008, where a CCG contract with its auditors
provides for a limitation of the auditor’s liability, the principal terms of this limitation must be disclosed in a note to the
accounts.
The limitation on auditors' liability for external audit has been confirmed as £2m.
Auditor's liability is limited with regard to the following:
Limitation period - Any claim must be brought no later than two years after the claimant should have been aware of the
potential claim and, in any event, no later than four years after any alleged breach.
Liability - Total liability (including interest) for all claims connected with the services (including but not limited to
negligence) is limited to three times the fees payable for the services or £2m, whichever is the greater.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2019-20
Number

2019-20
£'000

2018-19
Number

2018-19
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

17,050
16,730
98.12%

264,881
257,377
97.17%

16,431
16,232
98.79%

258,186
255,912
99.12%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

4,266
4,062
95.22%

680,180
674,499
99.16%

3,439
3,391
98.60%

620,183
617,847
99.62%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Clinical Commissioning Group to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30
days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. Currently the target set by the Department of Health is 95%.
6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
The CCG did not incur any late payment charges of commercial debtors during the year 2019/20.
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7 Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
Lease payments shown below include:The following payments recognised as an expense Clinical Commissioning Groups relate to the headquarters only.

7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Buildings
£'000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

2019-20
Other
£'000

320
320

Total
£'000
11
11

Buildings
£'000
331
331

2018-19
Other
£'000

1,271
1,271

Total
£'000
19
19

1,290
1,290

Operating leases have been reviewed in line with guidance issued focusing on the implementation of IFRS 16: Leases. In 2019/20 those that did not meet the criteria
have been corrected. These mainly relate to payments to Community Health Partnerships Ltd (CHP) and NHS Property Services; the cost of use of properties leased
from these organisations where the costs are not fully recovered from the occupants (void / subsidy charges).

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
The following future minimum lease payments for Buildings are in respect of the Clinical Commissioning Groups headquarters only:

Buildings
£'000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

2019-20
Other
£'000

320
1,279
201
1,800

Total
£'000
-

The lease on Liverpool CCG Headquarters expires on 17 November 2025.
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320
1,279
201
1,800

Buildings
£'000
320
1,279
520
2,119

2018-19
Other
£'000

Total
£'000
-

320
1,279
520
2,119
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8.1 Trade and other receivables

Current
2019-20
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS accrued income
NHS Contract Receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA Contract Receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice
VAT
Total Trade & other receivables

Current
2018-19
£'000

1,424
367
325
8,678
661
146

4,877
182
3,135
500
-

2,412
130
14,143

923
97
9,713

There were no Non Current receivables in 2019/20 (2018/19 – nil).

8.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired
2019-20
DHSC Group
Non DHSC
Bodies
Group Bodies
£'000
£'000
472
7,869
408
1
127
558
1,007
8,428

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2018-19
DHSC Group
Non DHSC
Bodies
Group Bodies
£'000
£'000
4,425
2,927
95
194
113
4,619
3,135

£6.8m of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial date.

In 2018-19 the CCG adopted the new standard IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The CCG applied a provision matrix to the entities financial assets, NHS and Local Authority are excluded
from the calculation as they are within the Whole of Government accounts. The calculation was minimal value, therefore there has been no impairment to financial assets in 2019-20 (nil
2018-19).
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9 Cash and cash equivalents
2019-20
£'000

2018-19
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2019
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2020

1
13
14

1
0
1

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash with Commercial banks
Cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

14
0
14

1
0
1

-

-

14

1

-

-

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts
Balance at 31 March 2020
Patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group, not included above
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Current
2019-20
£'000

10 Trade and other payables

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

6,942
4,376
5,856
38,437
115
95
1,681
57,502

Current
2018-19
£'000
6,688
2,906
7,609
32,931
35
105
94
2,543
52,911

There were no Non Current payables in 2019/20 (2018/19 – nil).
No liabilities due in future years are included above under arrangements to buy out liability for early retirement over 5 years.
Other payables include £646k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2020 (2018/19 £796k).

11 Provisions
The Clinical Commissioning Group has no provisions during the year 2019/20 (£nil 2018/19).
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible
for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before
establishment of the Clinical Commissioning Group. However, the legal liability remains with the Clinical
Commissioning Group.
12 Contingencies
The Clinical Commissioning Group has assessed that the likelihood of contingent assets and liabilities is
remote as at 31 March 2020.

13 Clinical Negligence Costs
The value of provisions carried in the books of the NHS Resolution in regard to CNST claims as at 31
March 2020 was £21,300 (2018/19 £nil). The estimate included in 2019/20 is not the responsibility of
Liverpool CCG, the CCG has received confirmation that this case is not proceeding, however the full paper
work as at 31st march 2020 has not been received, therefore included for completeness.

14 Other Financial Commitments
The Clinical Commissioning Group has not entered into any non-cancellable contracts (which are not
leases, private finance initiative contracts or other service concession arrangements).
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15 Financial instruments
15.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced
by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest
surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks
facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the
NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
15.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning
group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
15.1.2 Interest rate risk
The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England.
The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate,
fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
15.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning group
has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed
in the trade and other receivables note.
15.1.4 Liquidity risk

NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical
commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
15.1.5 Financial Instruments

As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more limited role in creating
and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body. The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial
items in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity
or market risk.
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15 Financial instruments cont'd
15.2 Financial assets
Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2019-20
£'000
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2020

1,323
967
11,062
14
13,366

Total
2019-20
£'000
1,323
967
11,062
14
13,366

15.3 Financial liabilities
Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2019-20
£'000
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2020

624
26,703
29,964
57,291

Total
2019-20
£'000
624
26,703
29,964
57,291

Fair values have been considered and are consistent with the disclosures for financial assets and financial liabilities above.
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16 Operating segments
The Clinical Commissioning Group has only one segment: Commissioning of Healthcare Services.
17 Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into the following joint arrangements with Liverpool City Council.

17.1 Better Care Fund
With effect from 1st April 2015, the CCG has had arrangements in place (using powers under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006) to operate a pooled budget for the required Better Care Fund arrangements.

The Better Care Fund functions as a joint arrangement, consequently the CCG has recognised expenditure in 2018/19 when an obligation has arisen. Liverpool City Council operates as host Commissioner for services and
transactions have been accounted for accordingly as per the CCG’s accounting policies.

The CCG contribution to the pooled budget in 2019-20 was £47,779k (2018-19: £44,652k) which was used to commission a range of health and social care services in line with the agreed objectives of the BCF. This
contribution to the BCF is recognised within the financial statements as CCG expenditure. Total BCF expenditure across Liverpool CCG & Liverpool City Council was £116,664k (2018-19: £103,996k).

17.2 Integrated Community Equipment and Disability Advice Services

A partnership agreement was entered into by the predecessor organisation, Liverpool Primary Care Trust (using powers under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006), to ‘pool’ budgets from the two organisations for
the creation of a single budget for the provision of Integrated Community Equipment and Disability Advice Services (ICEDAS). This Partnership came into effect on 1 January 2004.

The ICEDAS pool acts as a joint arrangement, consequently the CCG has recognised expenditure in 2019/20 when an obligation has arisen. Liverpool CCG (LCCG) acts as host commissioner in this agreement and procures
this service from Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust (previously Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust) with Liverpool City Council (LCC) contributing to the service through payments made to the CCG. An element of the
ICEDAS pool is included within the Better Care Fund pool and has therefore been disclosed below.

Name of arrangement

Parties to the arrangement

Better Care Fund

Liverpool City Council

ICEDAS (not included above)

Liverpool City Council

Total

Description of principal activities
Better care fund – joint health and Social
care arrangement
Community Equipment pool

2019/20
Assets
£'000

2019/20
Liabilities
£'000

2019/20
Income
£'000

2019/20
Expenditure
£'000

2018/19
Assets
£'000

2018/19
Liabilities
£'000

876

-935

-1,000

48,779

1301

100

0

-1,201

1,201

0

976

-935

-2,201

49,980

1301
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2018/19
Income
£'000

2018/19
Expenditure
£'000

0

-1000

45,652

0

-1,061

1,061

0

-2,061

46,713
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18 Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
2019-20
Receipts
Amounts
Amounts due
Payments to from Related
owed to
from Related
Related Party
Party
Related Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
Dr Fiona Lemmens - Governing Body Member - Chair/GP - Aintree Group Practice

5,220

-

551

-

Dr Janet Bliss - Governing Body Member - Vice Chair/GP - Grey Road Surgery

2,932

-

125

-

Dr Maurice Smith - Governing Body Member - GP - Mather Ave Surgery
Dr Monica Khuraijam - Governing Body Member - GP - Oakvale Medical Centre
Dr Stephen Sutcliffe - Governing Body Member - GP - Dingle Practice
Dr Ian Pawson - Governing Body Member - GP - Brownlow Health
Dr Ian Pawson - Governing Body Member - GP - Brownlow Health @ Princes Park
Dr Ian Pawson - Governing Body Member - GP - Brownlow Health @ Kensington Park
Dr Ian Pawson - Governing Body Member - GP - Brownlow Health @ Marybone
Dr Paula Finnerty - Governing Body Member - GP - Ellergreen Medical Centre
Dr Simon Bowers - Governing Body Member - GP - Fulwood Green Medical Centre

2,921
4,171
1,811
8,471
2,391
1,529
1,438
4,540
-

-

303
443
180
652
206
148
93
447
-

-

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. In the financial year 2019-20 the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant number of material transactions with
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent, including:















NHS England
NHS Business Services Authority.
Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust
Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust
Liverpool Women’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust
North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust
St Helens and Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust
Liverpool Heart and Chest NHS Foundation Trust
Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust
NHS Midlands and Lancashire CSU
Community Health Partnership
NHS Property Services

In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of
these transactions have been with Liverpool City Council.

19 Events after the end of the reporting period
There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the Clinical Commissioning Group.

20 Losses & Special Payments
The Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any losses nor any special payments cases during 2019/20 (2018/19 – nil)
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